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KPls

22. |

VISITORS -67.0%
REVENUE

Reported growth -63.9%
Like for like growth -64.2%

GUEST SATISFACTION

This is based on guest satisfaction surveys: our target
is a score over 90%. Ve are proud that we maintained
the same high score of 94% as in 2019, despite having
o intreduce a number of measures in respect of social
distancing and other COVID-19 related safety
protocols, to help keep our guests safe. See more on
page 7.

ANMNUAL REPORT &40 ACCOJINTS 2020

How we report our results

Details on the pericd under review and the performance measures used are set out in the Financial and
Operating Review on page | 5. Terms used throughout this document are defined in the Glossary on pages
39 to 100.

During 2019 Merlin disposed of its Australian ski resorts, which have been accounted for as discontinued
" operations. Within this document the figures shown below for 2019 therefore reflect the continuing

operations of the Group excluding the ski fields. The Group also adepted IFRS 16 in that year, the new

accounting standard for leasing, adopting the ‘fully retrospective’ approach. Both years are therefore

" reported under IFRS $6.

£(319)m

UNDERLYING
OPERATING LOSS

Reported growth

. HEALTH AND SAFETY

In 2020 we helped lead the location based
entertainment indusery in implementing new
measures to enable us to trade safely during the
COVID-19 pandemic The Medical Trearment Case
(MTC) rate captures the rate of guest injuries
requiring external medical treatment relative to
{0,000 guest visitations. This key measure remained
constant with 2019 and is an improvement on 2018,
See more on pages 23 to 24,

-193.2%

£(426)n

TOTAL
OPERATING LOSS

£(648)r

LOSS BEFORE TAX

 EMPLOYEE ENGAGEMENT

We are proud of our global team of employees and
now, more than ever, employee engagement
contintes to be one of the key elements of our
business model, In 2020 we relaunched the
‘MyMerlin’ intranet and introduced a fortnightly
‘ company digital newsletter, which provide digital
 coneent including the latest reassuring health and
safety information. updates from senior leaders and
" celebratory content from our acecractions, to help
ensure our global teams continue to feel engaged
and connected with the business.

" In 2020, as a result of COVID-19 related closures,
many of our staff were on furlough and thercfore
we did not run our annual employee engagement
survey that for many years showed results
consistently above our target score of being over
80°: (2019: 87%, 2018: 86%) In 2021 we look
forward te new engagement and feedback tools
being launched. See mare on page 22,
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A GLOBAL LEADER IN LOCATION
BASED, FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT

MERLIN S EUROPE'S NUMBER ONE AND THE WORLD’S SECOND-LARGEST
VISITOR ATTRACTION OPERATOR AND OPERATES 129 ATTRACTIONS.
21 HOTELS AND SIX HOLIDAY VILLAGES IN 24 COUNTRIES AND ACROSS

FOUR CONTINENTS.

Qur vision
Qur purpose

Our strategy

Te be the global leader in location based enterminment by number of wisitors.
To deliver memorable experiences to our millions of visitors.

Merlin's strategy since its inception in 1999 has been w create a high growth, high return family entertainment company based on sirang

brands and a global portfolio that is naturally balanced against the impact of external factors.

Merlin operates two distinct types of visitor attraction, organised into three
Operating Groups.

Midway Attractions are high quality, branded. predominantly indoor
atzractions with a typical one to two hour dwell tme located in city centres,
shopping malls or resorts. ¥We have high quality, chainable brands and are the
only company to successfully operate the Midway model on a global scale.

Theme Parks are {arger multi-day outdoor destination venues, incorporating
on-site themed accommadation.

. LEGCLAND Parks are aimed at famities with younger children and have
LEGO as the central theme. Highly themed accommodation is central to
our strategy to develop the customer offering, Merlin holds the global,
exclusive rights to the LEGOLAND brand.

. Resort Theme Parks are national brands aimed at families, teenagers and
young adults, with themed accommeodation at all locations. They have high
brand and customer awareness in their local markets and include the
leading theme parks in the UK, Italy and Northern Germany.

Qur three Operating Groups are supported by our unique in-house business
development, creative, project management and production group, Merlin
Magic Making, which includes teams across Europe, North America and the
Asia Pacific region. Merlin Magic Maling is responsible for driving innovation
across our Group and creating compelling propositions forr our attractions;
developing new concepts into commercially viable attractions: prududing
compelling content such as LEGO models, wax figures and attraction theming;
and constructing new atractions and investment prejects, including new hotels
and rides.

Cur portfolio of assets and brands is highly diversified across geography,
attraction type, brand and customer demographic and well balanced between
indoor and outdoor attractions and internavonal and domestic visitation. We
also partner with third party intellectual property owners to create new
brands which complement the pertfolio and broaden cur appeal across all key
target demographics.

Qur footprint across 24 countries provides a high degree of diversity and a
strong platiorm to benefit from long term growth in leisure spending.

We have demonscrated the strength of this diversified business madel over
many years, where the drivers of our performance have been;

. investment in our existing estate to increase capacity, provide compelling
new propositions to guests, and improve customer satisfaction:
. rolling out new Midway attractions to drive revenue growth, often

with a ‘cluster' focus and in locations that continue our geographic
diversificacion;

. developing new LEGOLAND parks under a combination of operating
models. We have parks currently under construction in Asia and in
the USA:

+  ransforming our theme parks into destination resorts by adding a broad
range of themed accommodation and other second gate attracrions to
improve customer sausfaction and drive mulci-day visitation;

. leveraging strategic synergies by generating revenue from promotions and
marketing: improving our customers’ ontine 'digital journey’; operating
more efficiently; and securing procurement savings;

. acquisitions, ranging from large scale transformational transactions to
smaller add-on deals.
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AT A GLANCE
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A GLOBAL LEADER IN LOCATION
BASED, FAMILY ENTERTAINMENT

A GLOBAL PORTFOLIO OF ATTRACTIONS AND ACCOMMODATION, REACHING
ALL TARGET DEMOGRAPHICS

Continental Brand
UK Europe Americas Asia Pacific Total Demographics
MIDWAY ATTRACTIONS
Global brands
Famil d
SEA LIFE 10 8 a 10 46 amilies an:
ity cenure tourists
Madame Tussauds 2 4 7 9 22 Familes and
Ity centre tourises
Teenagers and
Dungeons 6 3 1 1 young adults and
ity centre tourists
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre 2 3 12 -] 23 Families
Eye 2 - - I 3 Ciry centre tourists
Peppa Pig World of Play - - 2 | 3 Pre-school families
Othey 2 1 - 4 7
Total 24 29 30 32 1S
LEGOLAND PARKS
Windsor. UK Billund, Denemark Calforrma, USA
Dubal, UAE
(209 rooms}) (578 rooms}) {500 rooms} uoal, U
Glinzburg, Germany Florda, USA Johor, Malaysia
(461 rooms} (468 rooms} (263 rooms)
Nagoya, Japan
{252 rooms)
8 parks .
Total 2,731 rooms Families
RESORT THEME
PARKS
Alton Towers Gardaland Resort,
Resort. LUK traly i
(694 rooms) (475 rooms) Families,
CCCNAgRrs
Haide Park Resort, and young aduls
Germany
{329 rooms)
Chessingron World
of Adventures
Resort, UK
{254 rooms) Famiies
Warwick Castle,
UK (67 rooms)
THCRPE PARK
Teenagers and
Resors, UK oung adults
{90 rooms) young
& paris
Total

1,909 rooms
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RESPONDING TO THE

CHALLENGE

2020 overview

We have all had to respond to the unprecedented challenge of the COVID-19
pandemic, and no one could have predicted the ways in which it has impacted
aur lives, | am particularty proud of Merlin's response to this difficult period and
rhe way cur teams have adapted to this new envirenment, whilst still ensuring
that we deliver the ‘magic’ we are known for.

Qur primary objective at Merlin throughout this period has been to protect the
wellbeing of our employees and guests, and as such, we have always followed
saientific and government advice, often going above and beyond these
requirements to ensure our actions have been safe and socially responsible.

Merfin's global footprint of 129 attractions in 24 countries around the world
meant we got expetience of the pandemic early, as it was emerging across Asia
in the latter part of 2019. We swiftly responded to protect the business by
taking multiple steps to safeguard our attractions and teams, minimise our cost
base and protect our operating cash flows.

¥when we were able to open our atoracticns, it became clear that there is still
demand for high quality days out with family and friends, despite the restrictions
imposed by social distancing. Our COVID-secure attractions, adopting Merlin's
bestin class health and safety protocols, have allowed the public to enjoy
quality time togethar, which after the stresses of the pandernic are so crucial o
people’s mental health and wellbeing. Now more than ever, we recognise we
have an important iole to play in the worldwide recovery from the

COVID- 9 pandemic.

2010 trading

Despite the impact of COVID-19 forcing attraction closures and reducing our
wrading days to far fewer than normal, we still welcomed 22 million visitors to

our attractions in 2020 (2019 67 milion} and reported revenue of £629 million
(2019 £1,740 million).

When the vast majority of our actractions closed early in 2020, swift acuen had
to be taken early in the crisis to protect the business in the medium term. This
included accessing employee furlough schemes and equivalents around the
waorld, managing our costs and cash flows, and promptly raising €500 million in
additional liquidity on the public markets to ensure we remained on a stable
financial footing.

As restrictions lifted, we were well prepared for opening, although there was
still a significant challenge in adapting to new operating procedures, both for staff
and our guests. As restrictions were relaxed, we opened swiftly and safely
where we were permitted 10 and flexed our operations with locat demand,

Although trading has varied significantly around our estate, since reopening we
have seen strong consumer demand from domestic visitors, with a clear
‘staycation’ benefit which has been evident in our short break and hotel
bookings. Cur hotels, Resort Theme Parks and {LEGOLAND parks have
benefited from the staycation impact, with those in Europe and the UK
performing particularly well. Our SEA LIFE Centres, especially in coastal areas,
alse saw strong demand.

Cur teams took every opportunity to engage with potential guests and we saw
a number of entrepreneurial developrments and new, creatve ideas across our
busmess. These included ‘Making Magic With Merln' digital activity created for
guests to enjoy virtually during lockdown, new online shops. retail-only
attraction openings and adaptations to focus on new markets to drive volume.

Unfortunately a small number of our most significant locations had to remain
closed for the majority of the year and some that had opened were forced 1o
close agam. Furthermore, towards the end of the year additional lockdowns and
restrictions were implemented in several key gecgraphies, in many cases
continuing into 2021,

Primarily because of these closures, the potential for continued social distancing
measures and restrictions on international travel, the corresponding reduction in
revenue in the near tern has resulted n accounting impairment charges totalling
£54 million {2019: £38 mulfion) within the financial statements.

We are currently complying with and expect to continue to comply with the
covenants containad within our debe facilities, which are monitored on a
regutar basis.

Outlool¢

Despite the many short term challenges presented by COVID-19, we remain
confident in the opportunities for the future that our diverse business has, As we
report we are pleased to see wading restrictions easing as vaccine roll outs
progress and virus transmission rates reduce, with approximately 60% of our
areractions currently open. The roll out of vaccines will, we hope, help people
stay safe and feel safe.

As restrictions are lifted, we expect the business to return to growth,
underpinned by a recovery in sales levels and an ongoing focus on efficient
operating practices. VWe look forward to providing more safe, nmagcal
experiences (o our guests, as well as much-needed Ifts to local economies.

Strategic developments

During 2020 we conrinued to monitor the situation around our current and
planned investments in new business development. As a result of the COVID- 19
outbreak, we decided to delay the grand opening of LEGOLAND New York

10 2021, albeit we completed a large part of the construction of the park by the
end of 2020. The construction of LEGCLAND Korea also continued through
the period.

We also maintained ongoing dialogue with 2 number of potential partrers to
develop new LEGOLAND parks in China, with 2 focus on developing and
operating these parks under management contracts, An important milestone was
reached in Novermnber 2020 when we anncunced that we had entered into a
farmal co-operation agreament o develop a LEGOLAND resort in the Jinshan
District of Shanghai, China. We also have two further projects where we have
signed development agreements; one in Sichuan and another in Guangdong
Prawinee in southern China, where design development is well progressed.

Although advancement on certin projects has been delayed by the events of
2020, both Merlin and our selected partners continue to pursue opportunities to
expand our global estate.

Health, safety and security

The health, safety and security of our guests and employees remains our number
one priority. Our industry leading team created enhanced hygiene and safety
measures that were rolled out acrass each of our geographical markets, to help
guests stay safe whilst sull enjoying a2 memorable day out.

These measures met, and in many cases exceeded, government guidelines and
duly received positive feedback from customers, local authorities, and health
agencies. Our swff also had rigorous training and we have been highlighted by
government and our industry as leading the way with our health and safety
procedures and guest communications.
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RESPONDING TO THE
CHALLENGE

Despite all the chalienges associated with COVID- |9, we were especilly proud
that to the best of our knowledge there were no on-site COVID wransmission
cases reported for any of the 22 million guests that visited our attractions in
2029, In addition, our key guest accident rate KPl also remained consistent with
2019, which was again very pleasing,

Guest satisfaction

Our guest satisfaction scores have remained strong and reflect our relentless
focus on delivering the very best experience to our guests despite the impact of
social distancing and other COVID-related measures. These efforts helped
maintain our guest satsfaction scores at 94%. Our ‘Top Box' scores increased
by 1%. We also implemented a programme to extend customers’ annual and
season passes. and to enable customers with advanced bookings to easily re-
book where our attractions were forced to close.

Employee engagement

During 2020 it was often not possible to get out and see cur fantastic teams
delivering memorable experiences to our guests, so to mainain regular contact
we relaunched our intranet and our company newsletter into easy-access digital
formars. The new, mobile-accassible 'MyMerlin intranet includes dynamic
creative content and news updates, and the Executive Committee and | keep
colleagues up 1o date via the relaunched fortnightly digital newslecter The
Wizard's News', which was previously a quarterly paper magazine. These digital
forums enable us to keep spirits and staff engagement high through regularly
showcasing the great work from our teams as they iook after our guests, care
for our animals and support wider local communities,

Cne consequence of the shorter trading period and reduced levels of activity in
2020 was the need to place staff members on furlough. While it was the right
thing to da. it was frustrating that for often extended periods, so many of our
team were unable to do the jobs they do so well, Furthermore, we were forced
to delay and reduce the recruitment of our teams of seasonal staff who work
for Merlin over the peak trading period, including many that have been part of
the business over several seasons. We hope that they will be able to re-join the
Merlin tearm as trading gets back more to normal.

| have a huge sense of pride when | reflect on our achievements over the last
12 months and how hard cur teams have worked under challenging
circumstances. I've seen so many of our people going above and beyond.
taking on responsibilities outside of their usual roles and showing a clear
dedication to get back to creating magical memories for our guests.

This level of dedication. the experience of our leadership team, and the ongoing
commitment of our shareholders all combine to ensure that Merlin is well
placed for future growth.

Nick Varney
Chief Executive Officer
15 April 2021

AMMNLUAL REPOR™ AND ACCOUNTS 2020
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BUSINESS MODEL
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS AND
A STRONG CULTURE

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS IN A LONG TERM
ATTRACTIVE MARKET ENVIRONMENT

A unique portfolio of strong brands and iconic assets

VWe operate a unijue globat portfolio of brands and iconic assets which are
widely recognised by consumers, enabling us to differentiate cur attractions
from unbranded operaters. Cur Midway atractions portfolio includes chainable
brands while the Resort Theme Parks attractions are typically number one or
two in their respective markets. Our LEGOLAND parks also benefit from a
mutually synergistic relationship with LEGQ, the world's feading toy brand.

Together, the strength and breadth of this portfolio enable us to offer
compelling propositions through a wide variety of visitor experiences across a
broad range of geographies. This allows us to attract target demographic groups
ranging from families with young children. teenagers, young adults to clder
adults, It also provides a degree of resilience to shore term trading shocks arising
from a particular geography, brand or demographic.

Intellectual Property (IP) partnerships

Merlin's global reach and mulu-format expertise means we are well placed to
benefit from the growing opportunities to partner with leading owners of
intellectual property {IP) content, enabling us to deliver memorable experiences
to our visitors and offer cur partners opportunities to increase engagement
with their customers.

Most significant is our core glebal, multi-product and exclusive relationship with
the LEGC Group, where we hold the global, exclusive rights to the
LEGOLAND brand under the licencing and co-cperation agreement with
KIRKBI. one of our major shareholders (see page 7).

WWe have multiple other IP agreements ranging from local refationships for
specific attractions, to global, mult-product relaticnships with some exdusivity
as we establish and continue o develop, global, regional and local IP
partnerships with brands such as Ghostbusters, The Gruffalo, Shrek, Kung Fu
Panda and CBecbies, the latter through our partnership with EBC Studios. We
continue to develap and strengthen new IP partnerships. most notably through
our relauonship with Hasbro, where we have a multi-territory exclusivicy
arrangement to develop a range of attractions based on the Peppa Pig brand,
one of the most well-known pre-school IP's in the world.

Unique portfolio of skills

Qur three Operating Groups are supported by other teams including our in-
house innovation and product delivery group, Merlin Magic Malang (MMM,
which includes teams across Europe, North America and the Asia Pacific region.
Together they capture a unique combination of skills, including research.
creative, production and project management. ¥We have resources dedicated to
researching future opportunities — dedicazed teams within the Operating
Groups search for locations for potential new attractions and negotiate with
local landlords, developers and civic bodies.

MMM create world class, compelling propositions and develop new concepts
into commercially viable attractions. Our in-house production capabilities
include bespcke content such as wax figures, actraction theming and LEGO
model production, thereby creating efficiencies and reducing costs. Qur
operating teams in Merlin have world class animal welfare expertise and ethical
animal husbandry skills.

YWe manage any scale of construction project ranging from individual rides and
attracrions ik our existing estate, new Midway atractions across the globe,
through to the development of full-scale LEGOLAND parks, the latter led by a
senior management team who pursue new locations for potential parks through
multiple ownership models,

Long term attractive market environment

Notwithstanding the severe short term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, we
continue to believe that Merlin operates in an attractive marketplace, benefiting
from underlying growth characteristics and favourable dynamics. At its heart are
long term increases in disposable income, including in emerging economies, for
axample such as China.

During 2020 we reacted swiftly to re-engineer haw we can operate flexibly in a
changing environment and under a number of challenges and restrictions. The
positive results we saw once our sites were able to trade gives us confidence that
this more dynamic operating model will support us operating successfully as the
external environment evolves. VWe continue to see long term growth
opportunities from tourism; this benefits our resorts and drives visitation to our
gateway city locations, where we operate our Midway attraction clusters.

We also expect to see the growth in domestic short brealc holidays to continue.
We are increasingly well-positioned to meet this demand through our offering of
thermed, an-site accommodation and second gate attractions that extend the
duration of our visitors' stay. Accemmaodation offerings also enable greater cross-
selling opportunities, drive improved levels of guest satisfaction. and lead to
increases in pre-bookings, revenue vistbility and positive working capital. Our
domestically focused resort positioning also provides a hedge against the impact
of macro-econemic volatility on tourist flows.

OUR CULTURE

Merlin's business model is underpinned by cur entrepreneurial culture, a focus on
strong and effective corporate governance, and how we operate as a responsible
business. ‘The Merlin VWay' sets cut these values which are embedded
throughout the business. We are proud of the inclusive environment we create
for all the people who wark at Merlin and focus significant effart in driving a
culture of accountability and fairness.

Corporate governance

Merlin believes that effective corporate governance is the foundation of a weil-
run company and maintains high standards of governance. We recognise thata
strong gavernance framework is fundamental te the execution of Merlin's
strategic objectives, underpinned by a clear purpose and well understood culture
and values. More details are set cut on pages 27 to 31.

Health, safety and security

Merln is dedicated to delivering best in class health, safety and security (HSS)
standards that are clearly understood and implemented across the Group. This
invalves adopting industry leading standards. reinforcing a rigorous safety culture
and demanding complete commitment from our teams.

These principles have underpinned cur response to the COVID-19 pandemic,
We have been instrumental in developing best practice enhanced hygiene and
safety measures for the hospitality and leisure industry, including in numerous
territories helping government agencies to develop secter specific COVID
guidance. Cur robust COVID safety protocols and procedures have been rolled
out across each of our geographical markets and have received positive feedback
from customers, local authorities and health agencies. More details on HSS are on
pages 23 to 24.
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COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS AND
A STRONG CULTURE

Business responsibility

Merlin has an ethical operating culture and high animal welfare standards, with a
commitment to managing environmental impacts. Our attractions operate
respansibly at the heart of thelr communities and contribute to the locat
economy. VWe partner with two charities. Merlin’s Magic Wand provides
rmernorable experiences wo ildien laved with the dhallernges of serivuy illness,
disability, and adversity, The SEA LIFE Trust works to protect the marine
environment. More details are set out on page 25.

DELIVERING FOR OUR STAKEHOLDERS

Customers

We constantly monitor the views of our guests and engage with them directly
and on social media to measure the quality of their experience and drive
improvements. YVe measure the results of this engagement through 2
combination of guest satisfaction and ‘Top Box’ scores from touchscreen data at
our attractions, and ‘Net Promoter’ scores that measure whether a guest would
recommend our arcractions. Ve are proud that we mantained the same high
guest satisfaction score as in 2019, again well ahead of our 90% benchmark, and
that the Top Box measure increased by 1%. The Group's average Net Promoter
score remained above the 50% level which is considered ‘world class’. These
results are despite introducing 2 number of measures to help keep our guests
safe in response to the operating restrictions required in 2020.

Employees

Our many thousands of employees are committed to delivering memorable
experiences, and now more than ever, employee engagement continues to be
one of the key elements of our business model. In 2020 we utilised several new
and existing resources to help ensure our global teams continue to feel engaged
and connected with the business. In a normal year we run our staff survey, ‘The
Wizard ¥ants to Know', which far many years has shown results consistently
above our target score of being over 80%. This was not completed in 2020
because of the COVID- 1% pandemic. See more on how we maintined
employee engagement through the pandemic on page 22.

Investors

Merlin was listed on the London Stock Exchange from November 2013 until
November 2019, when 2 consortium of three long term investors joined forces
to take Merlin back into private ownership, with the capability to suppert
Merlin's growth ambitions. The consortium work together in accordance with
the principles set out at the time of the transaction, Their investment is held in
Merlin's ultimate parent company, Motien J¥co Limited.

Details of the investor consortium are set out below and details of their
representation on Merlin's Board of Directors are set out on pages 30 to 3.

. KIRKE|— the private holding and investment company of the Kirk
Kristiansen family, founded to manage, protect and develop the LEGO
brand and its activities under long term family ownership. KIRKEBI's
strategic actwvities include a 75% ownership of the LEGO Group, a 100%
ownership of the LEGO and LEGOLAND trademarks, and investments in
renawable energy supporting che LEGQ Group's commitment to balance
global consumption of energy with renewable energy. KIRKBI manages an
internauonal. diversified investment portfolio with a long term investment
profile and 15 a responsible investor with high environmental, social and
govarnance standards. At the end of 2020, KIRKBI's investment activities
amounted to approximately EUR [0 billion. KIRKBI was a sorategic
investor in Merlin while the Group was listed, holding 29.6% of Merlin’s
listed equity. Following the transaction in 2019 KIRKBI's awnership in the
Group increased, now being held through their investment in Motion
J¥eo Limited.

. Blackstone - one of the world's leading investment firms, that seeks o
create positve economic impact and long term value for investors, the
companies in which it invests, and the communities in which it works,
Blackstone's asset management businasses had $619 bililon in assets under
management as at 3| December 2020 across a range of investment
yehicles. Blackstone has long-standing experience invesung in location based
entertainment businesses, like Merlin, as well as the wider hospitality. travel
and leisure sector, Blackstone's investment in Merlin has been made
through its long-dated Core Private Equity Strategy, which invests in high-
quality businesses for typically ten to 15 or more years.

. Canada Pension Plan Investment Board (CPP Investments) — a professional
investment management organisation that manages the CPP Fund in the
best interest of the more than 20 miliion contributors and beneficiaries of
the Canada Pension Plan. CPP Investments is governed and managed
independently of the Canada Pension Plan and at arm's length from
governments. At 3| December 2020, the Fund roulled C$476 billion,
including approxirmately C3$20 billion of assets invested in the Unired
Kingdom, and net investments of C$i20 bilhon in private equity, CPP
Investments’ private equity team is a committed long term investor with
permanent capitzl, a focus on sizeable investments alongside aligned
partners, the ability to invest across the full spectrum of ownership, and the
ability to shape the duration and underwriting approach of nvestments to
suppart longer-date returns on investment initiatives.

In May 2020, Merlin's ultimate parent company, Metion [Vco Limited, issued
shares to 2 new minority investor for proceeds of £150 million.
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GROWTH DRIVERS

HOW WE DRIVE
GROWTH

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

Existing estate

Part of Merlin's growth strategy is to make regular, targeted investments to
update and refresh the existing estate in order to grow visitation to artractions,
providing something new to market and a degree of pricing power.

Each attraction has a planned investment cycle with varying capex levels over a
number of years. These help to smooth overall expenditure across the portfolic
and ensure investments are funded from operating free cash flow. Midway
attractions require refatively lower capital expenditure due to the smaber scale
of the attractions and the higher proportion of first-time’ tourist visitors, while
our theme parks require relatively higher capital expenditure due to the scale
and nature of new rides and attractions and the drive to artract repeat visicors.

ARNNUAL REFORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

New business development

Qur growth strategy has historically involved the roll out of our chainable
Midway attractions in new locations and countries, often creating ‘clusters’,
where we develop multiple atractions in one location. We continue ta see the
opportunity to open new Midway attractions, especially using IP as a central
element of the attraction.

New business development capex also includes the expansion of our theme
parks into destination resorts, and the development of new LEGOLAND parks.
These are described in more detail below.

TRANSFORMATION OF THEME PARKS TO DESTINATION RESORTS

We contimue to transform our theme parks into destination resorts, extending
visitor market reach and enhancing revenues from a number of sales channels.
These include primary admissions (including mufei-day tickets and second gate
admission fees), and commercial spend such as the sale of food and beverages,
retail merchandise and souvenirs such as photos.

The themed accommeodation offerings in our hortels and holiday villages continue
1@ be very successful. They provide an integral contribution to the overall
customer experience, helping to drive pre-bogkings, increase mulfti-day ticket
sales and improve guest satisfaction.

There are also ongoing opportunities to add visitor attractions that are located
next to theme parks and for which additional admission fees are charged. These
attractions, such as waterparks, are referred to as second gate attracuions. This is
an increasing area of focus across the two theme park Cperating Groups.

LEGOLAND PARK DEVELOPMENTS

We have a proven track record of developing and operating LEGOLAND parks
globally, where we have three operating and investment models.

Firstly, in more proven locations, we follow an 'owned and operated’ model,
securing the land and developing the infrastructure ourselves, LEGOLAND
New York and LEGOLAND Korea are being develaped in this way, with
constrection contnuing during 2020 on both parks. As a result of the COVID-
19 outbreak, we decided to delay the grand opening of LEGOLAND New York
to 2021, albeit we completed a large part of the construction of the park by the
end of 2020.

Secondly, we might work with a local partner, marrying their capabilities and
expertise with our strengths and experience to both parties' mutual benefit.
Typically, the funding for the capital investment is provided by a third party and
we operate the park under a management contract

In November 2020 we announced that we had entered into a formal co-
operation agreement with the Shanghat Jinshan District Government, CMC Inc.
and KIRKBI to develop a LEGOLAND resort in the Jinshan District of Shanghai,
China. This followed the signing of a framework agreement in November 2019.
All parties will form a joint venture company and contribute funding to the
construction and development of LEGOLAND Shanghai.

In September 2019, we announced that we had entered into an agreement to
partner in the development of LEGOLAND Sichuan and operate it under a
management contract arrangement, with the resort scheduled to open by the
end of 2023.

Design development 1s well progressed on a third LEGOLAND park project in
Guangdong Province in southern China.

We maintain ongoing dialogue with a number of other potential parcners to
develop several LEGOLAND parks i Ching, with a focus on developing and
operating these parks under this model. ¥We currently operate LEGOLAND
Malaysia and LEGOLAND Dubal under this model.

Thirdly, we can operate parks under a ‘leased and operated' model, where the
acquisition of the park site, the development of the infrastructure and che basic
canstruction is funded by a third-party partner. Ve fund and build the rides and
the necessary theming, lease the site on a long term basis, and operate the
LEGOLAND park. LEGCLAND Japan, for example, was developed using this
approach, with a KIRKBI subsidiary as the lessor.
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LEVERAGING STRATEGIC SYNERGIES

We aim to simplify our cperations, maximise the synergies afforded by our scale
and feverage relationships with cur shareholders,

Strategic initiatives include:

. Operational efficiency — we continue to focus on operational excellence,
as we streamline how we work while still delivering memaorable
experiences for our guests. In 2020, in response to COVID-19, we have
made significant changes to how our attractions operate and continued
the transformation of our support functions through shared service centre
initatives. An example is our 'Finance 21" transformation project, that
continued its roll eut during the year, underpinned by a new cloud-based
finance system.

. Merlin Annual Pass and Merlin Pass Monthly Membership — where we
offer customers a pass that enables them to wisit all attractions within a
particular country,

ANMUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Accesso uckenng — the accesso® Passport’ ticketing system helps
improve the customer ‘digital journey’ to access our tickets and other
offerings, as the shift cowards advance booking continues.

Fromotions and marketing — where we apply flexible pricing and
promotional strategies to manage visitor numbers through periods of high
and low attendance volume, extend the length of stay, encourage repeat
visits and enhance overall revenue.

Procurement synergies — our scale combined with the support and
knowledge of our shareholders allows us to exploit procurement cost
efficiencies within a country or region, and where practical across clusters,
LEGO relationship —we continue to benefit from the mutually synergistic
relationship with LEGO, the world’s leading toy brand.

STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS

We continue to consider acquisitions of, or investments in, visitor attractions,
sites and brands that could strategically enhance our portfolio and enable us o
grow into new geographies, and believe that there remain further attractive
acquisition opportunities that would meet our investment criteria in the future.
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Total Underlying Underlying
52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended 52 weeks ended Underlying
26 December 26 December 28 December growth
2020 2020 2019 {actual
£m £m £m currency)
Revenue 629 629 1,740 (63.9)%
EBITDA (89) {76) 569 {113.3)%
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment {337) (243) (227) {7.00%
Operating (loss)/profit {426) 319 342 (193.2)%
Net finance costs {222) (222) (108) (106.7)%
{Loss)/profit before tax (648) (541) 234 (330.3)%
Taxation 124 96 (67) 242.9%
(Loss)/profit for the year {524) (445) 167 (366.3)%
Operating free cash flow (15%9) 406

See ‘How we report our resufts” on page 15 for derails of how we report our financial performance

Introduction

In 2020 Merlin, iike every business, has had to respond to the challenges
presented by the COVID-19 pandemic. Having started the year with strong
early trading, the geographic diversity of cur business alerted us to the potentia
impact of COVID-19 early in China and we started taking broader decisive
actions as the pandemic impacted across global marlets.

Ve acted swiftly to preserve cash flow while also creating a ground up cost
plan, restructuring our activities to maximise profitability once attractions were
able to open. We were encouraged by the Group's ability to trade in an
environment of social distancing and reduced customer demand.

We have actively engaged to access government support in a number of areas,
most notably in relation to the costs of furioughed staff in qualifying jurisdictions.
We temporarily reduced our planned capital expenditure programme and
actively engaged with our landlords to seek rent abatements.

Working together with the investor consortium, Merlin's parent companies
raised €500 million in senior notes on the public markets te provide
extra liquidity.

Qur new business development programme continued to make progress, with
construction ongoing at twe new LEGOLAND parks. We also progressed
further Midway attractions, developments in China, and other opportunities for
the future.

Presentation of results

As noted on page 7, Merlin Entertainments Limited (MEL} (formerly Merlin
Entertainments plc) was acquired by a consortium of investors in November
2019. The acquisition was financed through a combination of investor equity and
external debt finance arranged by new companies set up for that purpose and
which sit above MEL in the enfarged group structure.

Certain accounting related matters affect how our results are reported and

these are set out below.

. Australian skiresorts — during 2019 the Group disposed of its two
Australizn ski resorts, These have been accounted for as discontinued
operatons in that period and accordingly cur results refate to the
continuing operations of the Group excluding the ski resorts.

. Underlying results and exceptional items — in order to present the
underlying performance of the business more accurarely, the impacts of
certain activities are reported within exceptonal items. More details on
exceptional items can be found on page |3. Unless otherwise stated, the
commentary below refers to underlying results, chat is, before the impact
of exceptional items. The impact of COVID-19 on our trading has all
been reflected within our underlying results.

. Alternative performance measures — on page |5 we set out in more detail
explanations of how we adopt certain alternative performance measures
to help present our trading performance in the most helpful and
rmezningful way.

Performance summary

During March substantially ali of our attractions either closed or did not open for
the 2020 wrading season, which caused a severe decline in revenues compared to
2019. In the second half of Q2, attractions reopened where possible and by the
end of September, nearly 90% of our attractions, 19 of 21 hotels and five out of
six holiday villages were open. Unfortunately, a small number of our most
significant locations had to remain closed for the majority of the year and some
that had opened were forced to close again.

The performance of individual attractions has varied significantly depending on a
number of factors, including the nature of ongoing local restrictions and cheir
impact on both consumer demand and artraction capacity. In general, where an
attraction typically sources its visitors from local domestic markets, and the
perception of the risk of infection has been low, attendance has been
encouraging. with demand exceeding capacity in some attractions at points in
peak season.

Conversely, attractions with a higher proportion of tourist visitation have seen a
greater impact on demand, particularly where those attractions normally have a
significant element of international tourist visitation. This has affected both
Midway city centre clusters and resorts in more tourist-driven markets.
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Overall. revenues for the year reduced by £1.111 milhon from £1.74C mullion in
2019 to £629 milhon. Visitation and revenues both benefited to some extent
from the temporary reduction in VAT rates in the UK and Germany.

Cost of sales reduced by £185 million from £317 million because of the fall
in revenue.

Since the global COVID-19 pandemic began, we have implemented a number of
operating cost and cash control measures at various stages throughout the
crisis. These included initially delaying the hiring of seasonal staff; implementing
temporary voluntary salary reductions; reducing marketing and advertisernent
spend; and reducing other variable costs wherever possible, VWhere available, we
accessed government schemes to support employees placed on furlough.

Y¥e have aiso taleen steps to adjust how we operate in the future and reduce
our ongoing fixed cost base in line with our reduced revenues. The cost base at
our attractions has historicaily been relativety fixed, with increases and
decreases in revenue normally flowing through to the operating result. Qur
actions this year have created a more flexible cost base with a higher proportion
of costs that flex with visitor volumes.

These cost reduction activities augmented projects that were already underway
to improve our operating efficency against the backdrop of ongeing, significant
cost pressures. We have continued to rationalise 2 number of our central
functions and invest in our Shared Service Centre in Basingstoke. UK, changing
the way finance supports the business, underpinned by our new cloud-based
finance system.

Operating Group margins are also affected by the source and mix of revenue in
the existing estate and the dilutive effect of new attractions and accommaodation,
which typically have lower margins than the existing estate and incur costs in the
pre-opening period.

Staff expenses reduced by £170 million from £459 million to £28% million as
savings initiatives were implemented to respond to reduced trading. The
reported figure is stated net of government support in respect of furloughed
staff in qualifying jurisdictions. Marketing expenses reduced by £60 million from
£90 mullion o £30 million as marketing activities were scaled baclk. Cther
operating expenses reduced by £51 million from £305 million to £254 million.
This reflected lower spend on repairs and maintenance, where savings could be
made in a period of lower than normal ride usage while still ensuring that high
standards of guest and ride safety were maintained. Other costs such as
performance-based rental payments, rates and utilties were also lower than

in 2019.

The combined effect of the above factors was a decrease in EBITDA from
£565 million to negative £76 million.

Within our central functions, as in the Operating Groups, we reduced the level
of underlying ongoing expenditure. However, lower revenues in respect of
consultancy agreement contracts, the write off of certain project costs as a
result of COVID- 19, and other one-off expenses, meant that net central costs of
£55 mullion were £13 millien higher than in 2019,

Foreign exchange

Merlin 15 exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates on
transactions and the translation of our non Sterfing earnings. Retranslating 2020
performance at 2019 rates would result in a £2 miliion increase in revenue and a
£2 mithon increase in EBIT2A. Ve set this out in more detail by major currency
on page 101

Qperating profit/(loss)

Depreciation and amortisation increased by £16 million from £227 million to
£243 million. This increase was primarily due to the conunued investment in
our estate that took place up to the end of 2019. Operating earnings fell from a
profit of £342 million to a loss of £3 19 million.

Exceptional items relating to operating activities totailled £13 million (201 9:

£73 million) Together with a further £94 million of impairment related charges
(2019: £38 million), these resulted in a total operating loss of £426 million (2019:
profit of £231 million). More details on exceptional items can be found on page i3.

Profit/(foss) before tax
in 2019 there were exceptional net gains of £10 millon withia financing costs
relating to the sale to the investor consortium.

As a result of the factors noted above, underlying loss before tax was

£541 million {2019 profit of £234 million) while the total loss before tax was
£648 milion {7019 profit of £133 miflion).

Midway Attractions

Growth Like

{actual for like

2020 2019 currency) growth
Visitors (m) 127 40.2 (68.41%

Revenue (£m) 228 674 (66.2)% (66.5)%
Underlying EBITDA (£m) (8} 240 (103.3)%

EBITDA margin (%) (3.5} 357

Underlying operating (120} (37 (187.5%%

{fossi/profit (£m)

Substantially all of the actractions in the Midway Atractions Operating Group
closed before the end of March as the COVID- 19 pandemic developed across
the world. Attractions graduaily reopened following the local relaxation of
restrictions. Midway atiractions are generally indoors and therefore their ability
to reopen, and the restrictions impased once open, have varied significantly
depending on the differing local regulations. Towards the enc of the year
restrictions were reimposed in some locations, particularly in the UK and
continental Europe.

Midway Artractions contains a mix of brands and a wide geographic spread,
and therefore the impact of the pandemic has varied significantly across the
estate. The largest Midway attraction clusters are typically located in
international gateway cities, which have seen a significant decline in
international tourist visitation,

However, attraction brands that are primarily focused on resident markets (as is
the case for many loral SEA LIFE Centres for example) have performed
significantly better.

To offset the impact of lower revenues we made operating costs savings where
possible, particularly in staffing costs and marketing expenses. While for most of
the year, the proportion of closed atiractions meant EBITDA remained negative,
in Q3 maore ateractions could open. In that period we saw more positive
volumes, which, combined with the operational changes mn our attractions,
helped generate EBITDA of £11 million despite lower revenues compared to
Previous yoars.
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LEGOLAND Parks

Growth Like

{actual for like

2020 20§19 currency} growth
Visitors (m} 50 157 (682)%

Revenue {£m) 228 669 (65.9)% (66.5)%
Undertying EBITDA (£m) 21 243 (108.7)%

EBITDA margin (%) (3.3) 363

Underlying operating (85) 123 (146.2)%

(loss)profit (£m)

Resort Theme Parks

Growth Like
(Actual for like
2020 2019 currency) growth
Visitars {m) 44 N (60.5) %
Revenue (£m) 16% 388 (56.5)% {56.3)%
Underlying EBITDA (£m) 8 128 (94.1)%
EBITDA margin (%) 45 32.9
Underlying operating 46) 76 (164 3)%

(loss)iprofit (£m)

Merlin's two LEGOLAND parks in the US, and LEGOLAND Japan. are normally
open all year round. Of these, the parks in Florida and California closed in mid-
Mareh. LEGOLAND Florida reopened at the start of June. while LEGOLAND
California has remained closed. LEGOLAND [apan has been able to largely
remain open, Both LEGOLAND Florida and LEGOLAND Japan have seen
dermand impacted by local perceptions of COVID- |2 transmission rates.

Cur three seasonal European parks nermally trade from the spring onwards but
were closed in March, thareby missing the Easter holiday trading period and
certain May national holidays. The attractions in Germany and Denmark
reopened in late May and early June respectively, LEGOLAND Windsor
reopened in early July. Overall, the European resorts saw a steady increase in
consumer demand following reopening and enjoyed encouraging levels of
visitation over the peak summer season.

All resorts have lost a significant portion of their trading periods, especially
LEGOLAND California. The resorts that have reopened have been operating
with reduced capacities because of local regulations and sccial distancing
restrictions. These factors, combined with lower overall demand, have resulted
in very significantly lower revenues than would be typically expected.

The Operating Group has made operating costs savings where possible,
particularty in staffing costs and marketing expenses. These mitigated the impact
of the lower revenues. Underlying EBITDA was negative for the year as a whole,
albeit the improved visitation over the summer period together with operaucnal
changes in our attractions helped generate EBITDA of £24 million in Q3.

The main wrading period for the Resort Theme Parks attractions, all of which are
located in Europe, normally starts during the early spring, As a result of the
developing COVID- 19 pandemic the resorts either closed in March or did not
open as planned, They therefore missed the Easter holiday trading period and
certain May national holidays. The two parks in Germany and ltaly recpened in
late May and mid-June respectively, while the UK parks remained closed unal
early July.

Following reopening, the resorts saw an increasing level of consumer demand
into peak season, particularly in the UK. Several of the UK resorts traded close
to their new (reduced) capacities on multiple days over peak season and
benefited from higher admissions revenue per guest.

All attractions cperated with significantly reduced capacities because of local
regulations and social distancing restrictions. These restrictions, combined with
lower overall demand, particularly where exposed to international tourism, and
the limited operating season, have suppressed trading. This has resulted in
significantiy lower revenues than would be typically expected.

The Operating Group has made operating costs savings where possible,
particularly in staffing costs and marketing expenses. These. together with
operational changes in our attractions, mitigated the impact of the lower
revenues. Resort Theme Parks delivered a positive EBITDA in Q3 of £52 million
and a positive EBITDA of £8 million for the year.
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Financing and tax
Finance costs
MNet finance costs of £222 million were incurred n 2020 {2019 £108 millon).

The acquisition of the MEL Group in November 209 was financed through a
combination of investor equity and exrernal dehr financo arranged by rew
companies set up for that purpose and which sit 2bove MEL in the enlarged
group structure. These new companies made loans to the MEL Group partly to
enable repayment of certain elements of the MEL Group’s external debt.

The overall increase in finance costs in 2020 accordingly arises from a full year of
interest on those intra-group balances, which more than offset lower interest
charges on externzl debt, foilowing those repayments 1n late 2019.

The increased level of financing therefora means that interest charges are
consequentially higher than in previous periods.

Taxation
The total tax credic of £124 million represents an effecove tax rate (ETR) of
19.1% of loss before tax.

The difference between the reported ETR of 19,1% and the UK standard tax
rate of 19.0% is largely atrributable to the Group's geographic mix of profits and
the benefit derived from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security
(CARES) Act in the US, offset by the Graup’s inability to obtain relief for
interest expenses and the impact of non-deductible preference share dividends.
The Group's geographic mix of profits includes the effect of the excepticnal
impairment of assets held by overseas Group cormpanies. VWhen the effect of the
exceptional items 1s removed the underlying ETR is 17.7%.

The Group has benefited from certain reliefs available in the CARES Actin the
US. This allows operating losses generated in 2020 to be carried back five years.
As the US corporate tax rate was higher n the earlier years the Group has
abrained a parmanent benefit from the carry back.

Significant factors impacting the Group’s future ETR include the Group's
geographic mix of profits, the ability o obrain effective relief for interest
expenses and changes to local or internationai tax faws.

The impact of the European Commission’s finding relating to the UK's
Controlled Foreign Company rules is further detailed in note 5.4.

The Group has a tax policy that sets out our approach in the areas of
governance, risk management, tax planning and how we deal with tax

authorities. This is available on the Merlin website.

Further detail on taxation is provided in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Exceptional items

2020 2019

£m £m

Underlying {loss)/profit for the year (445) 167
Exceptional items:

W<thiﬁ operating expenses (13) (73)

Within depreciation, amortisation, and impairment (54} (38)

Within finance ncome and costs - 10

Income tax credit on exceptional items above 28 4

{Loss)iprofit for the year (524) 80

To present the underlying performance of the business more accurately, the
impact of certain activities is reported within exceptional items as set out below.

Exceptional items reported within operating expenses totalled £13 million before
tax credits (2019, £73 milion). This reflects pre-tax costs primarily associated with
restructuring activities as we take steps to reduce our ongoing fixed cost base,
offset by pre-tax credits of £2 million as final costs were calculated in respect of
the sale of the MEL Group to the investor consortiur in late 2019, In 2019
exceptional items within operating expenses included expenses incurred in
connection with the sale of the Group; certain staff related costs that primarily
related to employee share schemes that vested upon the sale; and producuvity
programme related expenses.

Exceptional items reported within depreciation, amortisation and impairment
totzlled £94 millicn before tax credits (2019, £38 mulion) These impairment
charges reflect the impact of COVID-19 on shert term trading, which is
therefore taken into account in the discounted cash flows that underpin our value
in use calculations. The charges relate to property, plant, and equipment

(£78 million, 2019 £32 mifiion) as well as right-of-use assets {£16 million, 2019:
£6 miffion).

In particular, these impairment charges include consideration of LEGOLAND
New York, where the opening has been delayed and where we are expecting
shorter term headwinds, limiting our ability to launch the attraction and build
momentum in an environment where social distancing may well be in operation
and an uncertain economic environment will prevail. VWe remain confident in the
longer term future of this third LEGOLAND park in North America, that will add
to the already successful parks in California and Florida.

Impairment charges in respect of certain of the Group's Midway attractions arise
from a review of market and economic conditions at those locations, also

reflecting the impact of COVID-19.

Excepticnal net gans of £10 million in 2019 within financing costs refated to the
sale to the investor consortium.

Further details can be found in note 2.2 of the financial statements.
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Cash flow
2020 2019 NBD capital expenditure investment is slightly higher in 2020 than in 2019,
£m £m primarily in respect of costs incurred developing the new LEGOLAND parks. It
] is, however, lower than planned. This is a result of delays to new Midway sites
derl EBITDA 76 569
Underlying 76y originally planned for 2020 and 202 | openings, and our decision to reschedule
Excepticnal items (13) (73) the LEGCLAND New York construction programme and defay the grand
VWorking capital and other movements 50 37 opening to 202|. The construction of LEGOLAND Korea has continued through
the year.
Tax paid {16) (73)
Net cash (outflow)inflow from Existing esgte capital expe.nditlture of £83 million for the year was lsigniﬂcantfy
operating activities (55) 460 lower than in 2019, reflecting site closures and the volume of trading.
Capital expenditure — existing estate (83) (163) During 2019 we received the second and final instalment of £41 million 1n respect
Cani ) . of grants relating to LEGOLAND Korea, where the local government has agreed
apital expenditure — new business 27 216 ” ) i i
deveiopment (NBD} (223) (216) to support direct funding for the project. Grants recerved total KRW 80 billion
(see note 3.4).
Grants received - 4
Disposal of subsidiaries ) 92 Disposal of subsidiaries totalled £92 million in respect of the Australian ski
resorts transaction that completed in April 2019.
Proceeds from share capital - 30
Interest paid, net of interest received and During 2019 the Company received £30 mihon in relation to the issue of
settlement of interest rate swaps (163) (97) 14.5 million new shares and the vesting of share awards.
Dividend paid - (56} A final dividend of 5.5 pence per share was paid in May 2019 in relation 1o the
Other | 7 year ended 29 December 2018,
Net cash (outflow)/inflow before (523) 98 Francing activities
proceeds from borrowings Interest on debt is greater than in 2019, This reflects the increased level of debt
within the MEL Group following the acquisition of the Group in lace 2019,
Proceeds from / (repayment of) ) ) )
borrowings (net) 7 (793) relating te borrowings from parent companies which are greater than the
£ external debt held while the MEL Group was listed. Higher interest payments on
Proceeds from parent company loans {net) 5|9 800 this debt are offset by lower payments to landkords for leases where rent
) : deferrals have been agreed (which is also reflected in the lower levels of capital
Capital repayment of leases (16) (48} repayments of leases).
Net cash (outflow)/inflow for the year (13) LY

Operating cash flow

Despite the activities referred te previously as we sought to maximise our

available hiquidity, net cash flow from operating activities for the year was
negative £55 million (2019 positive £460 million,.

Operating free cash flow (being underlying EBITDA less existing cstate capital
expenditure} was negative £ 59 million in 2020 (201 9: postive £406 million).

Investing activities

A total of £306 million was incurred on capital expenditure in 2020,

New business development (NBD) investment of £223 million represented
£175 million an the longer term investments of developing new LEGOLAND
parks, substantially all relating to LEGOLAND New York and LEGOLAND
Korea. A further £23 millien related to new accommodanon development

across our theme park estate, and €25 million was in respect of new

Midway attractions.

In February 2020, one of the new companies sitting above MEL in the new
enlarged group structure (following the acquisition of the Group in late 2019)
received £133 mullion ($173 million) under a delayed draw down term faciicy. In
April 2020 another of those companies completed the issue of a further
€500 million of 7.0% senior secured notes due 2025,

Both of these receipts were subsequently lent down to the MEL Group. The
receipt of the €500 million above enabled the repayment of £370 million
revolving credit facility (RCF) drawings that had been made in Q1 by the MEL
Group (within the enlarged group's financing faciliies) in response to the
COVID-19 pandemic. The cash flows in respect of the RCF have been offset in
the cash flow statement.

in 2019 the Group received loans of £800 million from the new companies set up
for the acquisition and used the proceeds to repay €700 million of bonds ssued
in 2015 and 2017, drawings from the Group’s £600 million RCF and transaction
costs. The MEL Group's £6G0 million RCF was subsequently cancelled. In
September 2019 MEL announced that its solicitation of consents from holders of
the $400 million 2026 notes issued by MEL in 2018 had been successful and as a
result the notes remain outstanding,
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Net assets
2020 2019 Property. plant, and equipment increased by £30 million, primarity reflecting the
£ £m capital additons referred to previcusly. offset by depreciation and impairment
charges, together with the retranslation of those assets at different foreign

Property. plant, and equipment 2353 2,263 exchange rates.
Right-of-use assets 950 976

. ) ) : The reduction in investments primarily relates to a negative adjustment to the
Goadwill and inzangible assets 1038 ) 1o12 Group's invesument in Big Bus Tours Group Holdings Limited, which was
Investments 19 63 reflected in other comprehensive income (see note 5.1).
Working capial (333) (265) Further analysis of the working capital movements of £68 mullion is provided in
Cash and cash equivalents 155 160 note 3.4 to the financial statements.
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (324) (312)

- Changes in capital resources
Amaunts owed to parent company {1,384) (774) Since 28 December 2019 the changes in net external debt, parent campany loans,
g P pany
Lease habiities (1,203) {1,158) and preference shares treated as liabilities reflect the financing activities described
above. Further details on movements in net debt are provided in note 4.1.
Corporate and deferred tax {6) {150}
Employee benefits {1y {7y Further details are provided in the consolidated statement of financial position an
N page 43 ang the notes to the financial statements on pages 46 to 91.
Other assets and liabilities (1) {109)
Net assets (excluding preference 144 1 699
shares treated as liabilities) ’ ' Summary
— 2020 has been an incredibly challenging year. ¥We have responded to the

Preference shares weated as liabilities (2,132) (2120) COVID- {9 pandemic by taking a number of swift and decisive actions to adjust
Met liabilities (988) (a21) how we operate in a challenging and uncertain environment, rmaintain liquidity,

and continue te invest in projects that we believe will support furure growth.

Alistair ¥Windybanl
Chief Financial Officer
15 April 2021

How we report our resufts

Financial KPis and Alternative Performance Measures (APMs) — we adopt certain APMSs that in our view help present our trading performance in the mest helpful and

meaningful way, and that we use consistently each year, These can be summarised as follows:

. We refer to EBITDA a5 it is a profit measure we use internally 1o measure the performance of our attractions. It is the KPI that we feel most appropriately caplures the ongomng
ability of eur attractions to generate operating cash flows. Reflecting IFRS 16, this megsure does not include the cost of meeting the oblgauons under our leases, with the
exception of performance-based rentals which contimue to be reported within EBITDA,

®  We refer to operating free cash flow, which is underlying EBITDA fess existing estate copital expenditure and which is then avalable to contribute to capite! reinvestment to
support further growth, meet the obligations under our leases, service the Group's debr facilities, settle our tax obligations and provide a relurn to our shareholders. We
therefore also refer to operating free cash flow conversion, which calculates operating free cash flow as a percentage of underlying EBITDA, thereby providing insight as to our
cash conversion perfermance,

. We refer to ‘underlyng’ results, which remove the impact of any exceptional tems and provide @ more direct comparnson of trading performance. Details of exceptional items
are provided in note 2.2 to the finandial statements.

. To provide a more direct comparison of trading performance in the existing estate, we refer to 'like for like’ performance This represents growth between two years at consiont
currency ond accounting standards, induding off businesses owned and operated before the start of the earlier year.

Period under review — in most years we report on @ ‘52 week’ period. I certain years an additional weel is included to ensure that the reporting date stays in fine with the end
of December,

Reference to financial statements — {urther information regarding the Group's segmental analysis, geographical revenues and assets; and certain operating costs are pravided in
note 2.1 to the finandial statements on pages 49 to 52. Those oreas requiring significant judgement in the preparagon of the finandial statements are summarised on page 48,
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PRINCIPAL RISKS
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Internal concrol and risk management

Merlin mainiins effective internal control and risk management systems, with
the Board sub-committees and executive management keeping them under
regular review, These activities are supported by ‘The Merlin Way', our
corporate values, which we believe should drive good behaviours and actions by
all employees.

In 2020, the changing patterns of business activity, and availability of rescurces, as
a result of governmental COVID restrictions, meant it was impractical to always
operate these internal control and risk management processes in the normal
way. Significant investment was made in ensuring that additional health and safecy
protocols and controls were put in place at all attractions that remained open to
keep all our staff and guests COVID safe; to protect corporate resources: and to
remain agile during the various lockdown occurrences.

Where required, we flexed our operational and finandial control framewaorks to
maintain adequate control effectiveness despite the restrictions in place, The
Audit Committee and Health, Safety and Security Committee kept the
effectiveness of these revised frameworls under regular review.

Should governmental responses to the impact of the virus in the conung months
continue to affect the ability of our attractions to operate normally, the Board
and the sub-committees will consider the resulting risks and the required
responses to ensure that internal control and risk management systems

remain effective.

Internal control frameworic

The creation of an effective internal control framework helps ensure:

. proper financial records are maintained:

s the Group's assets are safeguarded;

s compliance with laws, regufations, policies and procedures including those
relating to health and safery marters: and

. effective and efficient operation of business processes.

Merlin's internal contrel framework is designed to manage, rather than
eliminate, the risk of failure to achieve the Group's objectives and can only
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement
or loss.

The key elements of the internal control framework are described below:

. Management structure — clearly defined reporung lines, accountabilives,
and authority levels,

. Strategic planning, risk management and business petformance
maonitoring — reviewed by the Board annually, with our pipeline far the
delivery of new attracuons reviewed regularly to:

(i)  assess whether new compelling experiences and attractions in
development are progressing according to schedule.

(i}  identify new ideas and assess fit with cur brand portfolio; and

(i} assess the expected commercial returns.

Business objectives and performance measures are set annually together

with budgets and forecasts. Regular business performance reviews are

conducted at both Operating Group and individual attraction level.

. Policies and procedures — a portiolic of policies and procedures is in place
for all areas of the business. The appropriateness and application of these
is continuously menitored to ensure they are proportionate to the risk
and complied with. Assurance comes from several sources that include
HSS, financial and operational audit activities and self-cercfication.
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Qur key control activities include:

. Operational — there are 2 range of control measures and performance
indicators in place to ensure the effective and efficient operation of our
attractons and to give our guests safe and memarable visits.

. Health, safety and security — all our Sites vperate using a well-established
Safety Management System designed to ensure that they operate m
compliance with relevanc regulatory and legstative requirements. Regular
HSS internal audits are undertaken to confirm this is the case. ensuring that
any safety and security matters are understocd and dealt with prompty.

. Informanon technolagy — the Group has a wide range of IT technical,
security, and disaster recovery controls to ensure that it has a stable
infrascructure platform from which to operate.

. Financial - our controls are designed to prevent and detect financial
misstatement or fraud and operate at three lavels. Oversight controls are
typically performed by senior managers at Group and business unit level.
Month end and year end procedures are performed as part of our regular
financtal reporting. Transactional level controls operate on a day-to-day
basis. To specifically address potential fraud risks at a transactional level, a
group of profit protection prefessionals are employed to support
management in addressing these risks at an attraction level,

- Business continuity planning — disaster recovery plans and crisis
management protacols are in place to allow attractions to renstate
performance in the event of adverse events,

Risk management framework

The risk management framewaork sets out responsibilties together with the
oversight, manitoring, reporting and management processes that support thair
fulfilment. The framework looks at both ‘top down' and ‘bottom up’ approaches
to risk management whereby the Board retains overall responsibility for risk
management, while sites are responsible for identifying, assessing and mitigating
operational risks.

Risk oversight and monitoring is the responsibility of the following Committees:
. Health, Safety and Securiey {HSS) Committec — oversight and guidance on
management of HSS risks. Responsible for ensuring compliance with
legislation or industry standards in safeguarding guests, empioyees, visitors,

and contractors.

. Audit Committee — oversight and guidance on financial process risk
Responsible for assessing the effecuveness of the Group's overall approach
to risk management and mternal control.

. Commercial and Strategic Risk Management Committee — aversight and
guidance on management of commercial and strategic risk. Responsible for
the treatment of animals in our care.

Each Committee reviews on a regular basis the principal risks and considers
whether matertal changes in the external landscape or recent trading trends
require zlternative approaches to monitoring and managing risk, Committee
members regularly receive deep dive updates on topics related to significant
risks as well as regular reporting from internal and external assurance providers.



MERLIM ENTFRTAINMENTS LIMITED

PRINCIPAL RISKS
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Risl appetite

The Group's risl appetite falls into two distinet categories:

¢ Compliance nisk — the requirement 1o comply with legistative or
regulatory requirements in all rerritories where the Group operates. It
includes, but 1s not imited to, ride safety, accounting practices, fraud and
bribery. as well as ensuring compliance with the Group's values and ethical
principles. In these areas we are risk averse and do not countenance any
breaches in compliznce obligations.

. Commercial risk — commercial risks are taken to maximise profitable
growth and sustainable returns, without compromising the health, safety
and security of guests, employees, contractors, animals or other visitors.
They must be aligned with the Group's policies on sustainability and the
environment. The Group manages these commercial risks through an
appropriate analysis of threats and opportunities together with structured
review processes, independent expert opinions and decision making
authority levels. Factors such as the scale of possible commercizl upside,
the potential market size, the quantum of downside risk and timescakes
involved may all be relevant to commercial risk decisions.

Quantitative and qualitative measures ensure effective governance of the
Group's risk appetite, Quantitative measures include defined financial and non-
financial targets such as EBITDA, operating profit, and customer satisfaction
scares. Qualitative measures consider items such as reputational impact and
compliance with laws and regulations.

Brexit

While we are headquartered in the UK, many of our trading activities are in
other countes and Merlin's business model dees not require a significant level
of cross border trading. As such, our ability to provide services to our
customers in the countries in which we operate, inside or cutside the EU,
remains largely unaffected by Brexit,

Ahead of the conclusion of the Brexit negotiations, we acted to minimise risks in
the areas that could affect the Group’s operations. The actions taken looked to
mitigate risks relating to:

. Strucwural issues requiring bilateral or multilateral governmental agreement
on taxation, trade tariffs and restrictions on workforce migration of
potential employees; and

. Transitory 1ssues arising from administrative, process or market changes.
which wall unwind in the short term (for example delays in the movement,
or restrictions on the actual availability, of goods and products).

We continue to keep the consequences of the UK exit from the ELJ under
review in relation to the social and economic impacts it may have on our guests
travelling 1o the countries in which we operate and will act to address significant
futiire risks if they emerge.
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Effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems

Based on its review of risk management systems, bath throughout the year and

annually, the Board is satisfied that the risk management and internal controf

systems that were in place during 2020 were effective and cenfirms that

. there is an ongeing process for identifying, assessing, managing and
monitoring the Group's principal risks;

. management's assessment of the principal risks is appropriate and those
risks that have the patential to impact liquidity have been considered:

s the principal risks and internal control processes have been in place and
considered by management and the Board throughout the year and up
the date of approval of the Annual Report and Accounts; and

. no significant failings or weaknesses in internal control processes have
been identfied.

Plans for 2021

in 2021 we plan to simplify the risk management processes with focus applied te
the most significant issues. We will continue the existing focus on standardising
and automating transactional activities, to impreve the consistency of business
processes and strengthen the internal control framework
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Risl¢ factors
COVID-19 1mpacts
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Merlin has adapted its operating model to help protect guests and staff whilst at the same time re-shaping the overall customer experience through revised operating
procedures and the use of personal protectuive equipment (PPE). Where roles permitted, we supported our staff in worldng remotely so they could perform ther

roles in a sate, eHective, and efticient way.

COVID-19 has had a significant impact on all location based entertainment businesses. We responded quickly to protect the business as the pandemic unfolded by
ensuring there was enough liquidity and obtaining all available government support in the countries in which we operate. Global vaccination programmes offer cause
for optimism but we continue to be watchful and agile in our approach, reflecting the evalving nature of the virus and the variety of possible responses by authorities

in the event of further outbreaks,

Specific COVID-related risk factors and Merlin's response are set out below. The assessment of each continuing principal risk is set out on pages 19 to 21. After
careful consideraticn, the Board concluded that these ongeing principal risk categories would be retained as they accurately describe the risks that could impact the

longer term outlook for the business.

COViD-| 2 risk factor

. Withourt appropriate safety protocols and adherence to social distancing
guidetines, there 1s a risk f COVID-19 transmission at our atoractions.

2. The COVID- 12 pandemic has significantly impacted trading and for part
of the year required the closure of substantially all our auractions. This
caused reduced or negative operating cash flows, resulting in
lower liquidicy.

3. Operating visitor attractions under social distancing and COVID-related
restrictions could negatively impact the guest experience,

4. Many office based employees were asked to work from home, increasing
demands on security for IT systems and data.

Merlin response

-

The implementation of strong health and safety protocols to ensure a
‘COVID-secure’ environment for guests and staff, with active management
and monitoring by dedicated teams to encourage guest adherence.
Ensuring sufficient PPE was available and used appropriately.

The geographic spread of our attractions provided an eflement of mitigation.

Early and decisive action to minimise non-essential expenditure, negotiate
payment holidays and deferrals, obtain government support and delay or
cancel capital projects has supported cash flow and maximized available
liquidity during the periods of mandated closure.

VWe have made significant changes to how we operate our attractions and
the business more broadly to reduce both fixed and variable costs. These
changes have maximised the financial contribution made where attractions
have been permitted to open, in an environment of social distancing
restrictions and reduced demand.

Actraction staff worked orelessly to meet exacting health. safety and
security standards and to help guests understand how to safely enjoy their
visit whilst reminding them of their role in ensuring the overall safety of al!
guests and staff.

Acceleration in roll out of user applications with greater security features,
whilst ar the same time infrastructure changes were made to help manage
cyber security risks.
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Principat risks

Management has identfied Merlin's principai risks as set out below. The gross risk trend reflects the exposure before mitigation and is used to compare to the previous

ANSUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTE 2070

year as 1o whether significant risks are stable, increasing or decreasing and take no account of the impact of COVID-19 on the underlying risk.

Increasing rist

Risk

. Safery

2. Security

3. Commercial impact of
external threats to
location based
entertainment
operations

Dect easing risk Stable

Drescription

Serious incidents leading to guests, staff members or
contracters being harmed or becoming ill because of.

a failure to follow health and safety management
systems,

inadeguate maintenance and management of
buildings, infrastructure and vegetation; or
substandard build quality, asset degradarion, fire,
flood, storm or utility failure.

Reduction in guest confidence to visit the Group's
attractions because of sabotage or a terrorist attack on a
ride or attraction leading to a guest or staff member or
animal in our care being harmed.

Personal health and security concerns thar flow
from terrorist activity, public health pandemics or
climate change events, resulting in falling visitation
to a lacation in which the Group operates, with
displacement of both international and domestic
tourists,

In extremis, such events may lead to governmental
or other regulatory instructions to close our
ateractions, including over multiple geographies.
Exchange rate volatility can have a positive or
adverse impact on inbound tourism. If exchange
rates worlk aganst a country in which the Group
generates significant revenue, this can adversely
impact visitation.

How risks are managed

Regular performance reviews by Board Committee with a
specific mandate for this area.

Ownership of HSS risks by line management.

Competent operational and engineering staff monitor and
inspect fadlities in accordance with a planned programme,
backed up by professional HSS ceams.

Annual risk register review and action plarning processes.
Regular internal and independent external auditing and review
regimes.

Contractor selection, approval and monitoring by in-house
qualified project managers.

Detailed security protocols before individuals access an
attraction {e.g. bag searches).

Regular infrastructure reviews to reduce the opportunity for
physical threats to guests, stzff or animals.

Extensive use of CCTV.

Regularly tested major incident management plans.

Current events vigilanty monitored o identify emerging risks.
Co-operation with local and national security forces.
Appropriate insurance cover.

Board Committee established with specific mandate for this risk
area.

Increased geographical hedging as a result of further global
diversification.

Ability to reduce variable expenditure, for example in staffing,
property and marketing costs.

Ability to defer non-essential capital expenditure.

Crisis management procedures for each attraction that set out
the appropriate response.

Ability to direct marketing and promotional activity towards
domestic or internaticnal audiences depending on tourism
trends.

Ability to promote access to a wide portfolio of attractions
using annuat pass or cluster ticketing.
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Risk

4, Innovation, brand
development and
custonier satisfaction

5. People availabilicy and
expertise

6. Competition and
Intellectual Property (IP)

7. Avalabilicy and delivery
of new sites and
artrartions

8. Animal welfare

Description

Cur growth potentiai could be impacted if guests:

. consider our offerings are outdated. ne longer
relevant or enjoyable, or

. provide negative social media cormments that
adversely influence the hkelihood of a customer to
visIt an attracucn.

The challenge of attracting and retaining appropriately
experienced and well-motivated customer service
orientated staff, especialty in locations with significant
upwards wage pressures, This could impact:

»  guest satisfaction; or

. the successful delivery of planned future expansion.

+  Competition —for leisure time; from new or
existing providers of location based entertainment
and for P around which compelling propositions
are created,

. VWithdrawal of permission te use third party IP
content where contractual obligations are not met
or partner relationships are not managed
effecuvely.

The ability of the Group to grow in line with strategic
objectives could be irhibited by the lack of:

. economically viable sites ro lncare Midway
attracuons and LEGOLAND parks; and

s timely approval of planning consent required for

building new rides, attractions and accommodation.

Incidents or staff behaviours leading to animals in our

care being harmed as a resuft of:

. a failure to follow prescribed welfare protacols; or

- inadequate maintenance and management of
buildings, infrastructure and vegetation.
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How risks are managed

Customer feedback collected at every location and analysed
against challenging savsfaction targets. Actions then taken
accordingly.

Ongoing investment in our attractions to continually refresh
the customer experience.

Engagement with the public and on social media to take any
requisie action.

Driving greater productivity to ensure more motvated, better
rewarded employees.

Personal development plans across the business to encourage
long term employment stabilicy.

Proactively managed succession planning processes embedded
across the Group.

Annual employee survey to monitor employee engagement and
identify opportunities to develop HR palicies and processes.

Diversification of the portfoic.

Ongoing investment to ensure continued appeal to visitors.
Compeutor research and monitoring.

Dedicated in-house creative team to deliver new and innovative
compelling propositons and [P.

Proactive management of IP partnerships.

Experienced site search and business development teams,
working several years in advance to maintain a strong pipeline
of opportunities.

Sites regularly update development masterplans and work
closely on fostering links with local communities and planning
authorities.

Dedicated resources used to support the Group's roll out
strategy.

External zoo licence audits.

An internal ethics committee and the SEA LIFE Conservation,
Welfare and Engagement team monitor the treatment of
animals.

A comprehensive range of policies, standards, procedures and
guidelines,

Training programmes for all staff who interact with animals.
Flanned preventative maintenance programmes to ensure
buildings, infrastructure and vegetation remain suitable for
displaying the animals in cur care,
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Risk

9. IT robustness,
technological
developments and cyber
security

10. Anti-bribery and
corruption

11. Liguidity/cash flow risk

12. Foreign exchange
wanslation risk

Description

The Group operates various T systems and appfications,
the obsolescence or faiture of which could impede
trading or the ability to operate an attraction.

Without the techmical developments necessary to meet
consumer or business expectations, the Group may fail
1o deliver the growth required by the business strategy.

Failure to put in place adeguate preventative measures, if
attacked, could lead to data loss or inability to use the iT
systems for a prolonged period or loss of personal data
resulting in 2 GDPR comphance investigation.

While Merlin's business model is lower risk as the
majority of transactions are of low value and typically
from indwvidual customers, a number of the territores in
which Merlin is operating or considering entering have a
greater historic propensity for incidents of bribery and
corruption.

Any such intident could lead to criminal or civil
prosecution, fines and cause reputational damage to the
Group.

A lack of liquidity could inhibit the abilicy of the Group to

grow in line with the strategic objecuves if:

. insufficient cash is generated during peak trading
periods to cover fixed costs, interest and tax
payments and capital investments (including
strategic acquisitions, the roll cut of Midway
attractions, the development of new LEGOLAND
parks and new accommodation offerings): and

. changes in the globat credit market impact the
Group's long term ability to meet current growth
targets.

In extremis, adverse events may lead to a requirement
to seek extra sources of liquidity.

Merlin generates its main profits in Sterfing, Euros and
US Dollars and has debt in Euros and US Doifars.

Merlin reports its resuits in Sterling and is therefore
subject to transhation risk from exchange rate
fiuctuations when reporting its consolidated results.
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How risles are managed

Strategic focus to ensure the long term sability of operating
systems and darta security, whilst keeping pace with changing
consumer [T expectations.

Increasing resilience and stability of IT infrastructure and
security through an expanded use of secured hosting partners
and penetration testing regimes.

Further security measures to mitigate the increasing threat of
cyber security risk.

A number of data protection policies are in place o protect the
privacy rights of individuals in accordance with relevant data
protection legisfation.

Independent assessment of compliance arrangements.

A well-embedded corporate culture in which fraud and bribery
at any level are not tolerated.

Global fraud and bribery training programmes and a fraud policy
sign-off for all staff.

Effecave financial and contractual contrels with regard to
procurement actvities.

Internal audit monitors purchasing processes on a rotational
basis.

A separate profit protection team monitors for theft or other
criminal activity across the Group and ensures best practice for
protection 1s shared berween sites.

A whistleblowing policy is in place together with an
independently operated employee hotline.

A committed £400 million multi-currency revolving credit facility
assists with liquidity and seasonal cash flow requirements.
Review of weekly cash flow forecasts covering a pericd of 12
weeks assists planning for short term liquidity.

Strategic plans cover at least four future years and are reviewed
regularly to ensure sufficent financial headroom exists or
whether it needs to be created in the future. We also monitor
the impact of the plans en the covenant tests set out in the
Group’s banking facilities.

Merlin maintains strong relationships with a number of lenders
and keeps the debt markets under review in order ta ensure
that funding can be obtained at the right time and at the right
price to ensure the availability of funds to meet strategic growth
plans.

The Group presents constant currency figures where
appropriate to show underlying results excluding the impact of
translation differences.

Treasury policies in place and reviewed annually with regular
reviews of currency exposures.

Broad match of borrowings in the currencies of underlying
profits.

Currency exposures hedged where appropriate.
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A RESPONSIBLE
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Qur approach

Merlin's commitment and strong social conscience drives our approach to
business responsibility and ‘being a force for good'. This is reflected in how we
treat, and care about, our visitors, our people, our suppliers, our planet, the
anmimals we look after and the communities in which we operate. We have
rabust governance standards and practices that extend throughout the business.

We set out our approach below. including in respect of the five specific areas
required under the non-financial reporting requirements set out in the
Companies Act. Further information can alse be found on Merlin's website and
the websites of cur partner charities.

Employees

Employee engagement

We are proud of our global team of employees who are the driving force
behind our purpose — delivering memaorable experiences for our guests, Now
more than ever, employee engagement continues 10 be one of the key elernents
of our business madel.

‘The Merlin Way' is the set of values which embody everything we do, and
which provide the basis for cur goals and objectives. We advocate ‘The Merlin
Way' through many of our global engagement activities such as our STAR peer-
to-peel” recognition programme and via our staff wellbeing programme, with a
focus during the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and the available
resources and support for our global teams. In 2020 we continued with “Your
Voice Counts’ (YVC) forums at our attractions and central locations, albeit
remotely for the majority of the year, to discuss matters which affect
employees’ immediate working environments and to agree changes.

With the necessary changes in working practices over 202Q we have reviewed
the ways in which we communicate with our employees and how they feed back
to us. The fatest attraction news, company updates from the Executive
Committee and key business information was made more easily accessible via
the relaunched "MyMerlin’ intranet. We also launched a fortnightly company
digital newsletter ‘The Wizard's News', emailed to our employees and available
via SharePeint and on mobile via the SharePoint app. These two new platforms
provide access to engaging digiral content including the latest reassuring health
and safety information, video updates from senior leaders, podcasts and
celebratory content from our attractions as they suppert local focd banks and
testing Initiatives, to help ensure our global teams continue to feel engaged and
connected with the business.

In 2020, as a result of COVID- 19 related closures, many of our staff were on
furlough and therefore we did not run our annual employee engagement survey.
In 2021 we look forward to updated engagement and feedback tools being
launched. We intend te relaunch the employee survey through a digital

platform allowing instant feedback, personalisation and proactive points of
action for each individual.

Recrutment, craining and development

Merlin runs a range of training and development activity across all parts of the
business. This ranges from induction training and role specific learning (for
example in health and safery, and animal welfare), through a range of
management 2nd leadership programmes, and on to executive leadership
development. Cur Merfin Careers website shows available roles across the
business globally as well as providing information on the apprenticeships we
offer in areas such as hospitality, engineering, management, and marketing. In
2020 we responded to the COVID-|9 pandernic by creating even more online
content and self-led learning modules so that our teams could continue to
access learning opportunities remotely and whilst on furlough.
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Diversity and inclusivity

We are proud of the inclusive environment we create for all the pecple who
work at Merlin and focus significant effort in driving a culture of accountabifity and
fairness. It's part of who we are, and we adopt several approaches to attract and
retain a diverse talent base, representative of the communities in which

we operate.

In 2020 we undertook a detalled diversity and inclusion survey. From the results
we have identified three key focus areas for 2021: gender equality, ethnic
diversity and ‘inclusion for all. We have established four regional taskforces lead
by business ieaders and each spansored by an Executive Committee member.
Each taskforce is responsible for developing a regional plan to support our global
diversity and inclusion goals.

We make no differentiation between able bodied persons and persons with
disability in terms of recruitment, training, and career progression, and will make
every effort to continue the employment and training of those persons who
become disabled while employed by the Group.

At December 2020, two of our nine Directors were female, and one of our eight
Executive Committee members was female, Of our senior management positions
(being attraction General Managers up to and including the Executive
Committee) 134 (38%) are fermale and 2|7 (62%) are male. This is consistent with
2019. The percentage of female permanent employees is 50% (2019 5%}
totalling 4,010 (2019, 4,815). The overall number has reduced as a result of
changes made to our organisational structures in attractions and support
funcuons, primarily in response to the COVID-19 pandemic but the even split of
male versus female employees has been maintained.

We are actively encouraging and promoting more ferales into senicr roles,
Where possible, we encourage greater female participation in occupations such
as engineering where there are propartionally fewer female employees, and host
a number of initiatives to educate and inspire career progression within Merlin
ameng female staff.

Gender pay gap

Merlin continues to produce a gender pay gap report for UK employees under
the UK gender pay gap reporting rules which identify differences in pay between
men and women,

For the latest avalable reporting period 1o 5 April 2020, Mertin’s mean gender
pay gap (calculated as the difference between the average hourly pay of men and
women as a percentzge of the average hourly pay of men) was 4.7% (2019
{2.9%). The median gender pay gap (the difference beoween the hourly pay of an
employee in the middle of the range of male wages and an employee in the
middle of the range of female wages), was 3.5% (20! 9 2.4%). The figures differed
from the prior year due to the majority of our employees being on furlough at
reduced pay at the reporting date and therefore considered non-relevant full pay
employees for the purpose of the pay calculations, The key reasons behind cur
gender pay gap continue to be lower numbers of female representation in senior,
higher paid reles; relatively large populations of employees in traditionally male-
dominated roles {for example, engineering staff and electricians); and a large
proporucn of females taking up roles with greater flexibility in working hours.

Risk management
For detalls of how we manage the risks of people avallability and their expertise,
see page 20.
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Health, safety and security

Merlin is dedicated to delfivering best in class heaith, safety and security (HSS)
standards that are clearly understood and implemented across the Group and
ensure the safery and wellbeing of our guests, employees and contractors. To
support this mission, Merlin sets out its core HSS strategic initiatives and how
these must direct and focus all efforcs in a manner that is both systematic and
progressive. To help communicate these to our key internal and external
stakeholders, Merlin publishes an informative brochure called ‘Protecting the
Magic — a Guide to Health, Safety and Security ac Merlin Entertainments’. This
document is available via our corporate website and our dedicated H5S
‘Protectingthemagic.com’ website, Additional HSS news tems and features are
also published throughout the year on Merlin's '‘Backstage’ website.

COVID- 1%

In 2020 the world was significantly impacted by the emergence and rapid spread
of the COVID-19 pandemic. No country, or aspect of society within, was left
untouched by the Jevasting health and economic effects of this new coronavirus.
National governments and business leaders alike have had to battle the full
consequences of this disease and take decisive action to safeguard public health
and corporate operations. The global service sector in particular, including
hospitality and leisure businesses, have been severely impacted by the pandemic
and the associated response policies from governments, most notably their
imposition of societal and econcmic restrictions.

From an early stage, Merlin responded proactively and comprehensively to this
new threat, in order to protect hoth guest and employee safety. We have
developed and implemented robyst COVID- 19 safety protocols and procedures,
which have been enacred through comprehensive training and communications.
Regular and positive lizisons with health authorities, enforcement authorities and
sector associations have helped ro ensure we remain fully connected and able to
share, or learn about, best practice safety standards.

In numerous territories we have helped government agencies to develop sector
specific COVID-19 guidance. We are therefore proud of the fact that we safely
welcomed over 22 million guests to our attractions in 2020 - to the best of our
knowledge no on-site COVID-13 transmission cases were reported for any
guests that visited.

Strategic HSS inmatives

The following strategic initiatives form the cornerstones to Merlin's Protecting the

Magic programme:

. Leadership and engagement — requiring our leaders to exhibit visible,
proactive and unwavering leadership towards HSS, supported by our
people who are fully engaged with this shared responsibility. An example is
‘safety leadership walks' which are on-site walks, both in visitor areas and
‘back of house', by senior leaders in the business where dedicated time is
spent talking with staff about H3S matters and understanding what more
can be done.

*  Competency and cukture — fostering a positive and proactive safety cufture,
with comperent and talented people focused on the effective management
of HSS risks. Rigorous traning and instruction are fundamental to Merlin's
approach to M35 across the business, with mandatory new starter training
for all employees and safety leadership raining for managers.
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Assessment and control of risk — identifying, understanding and controling
HSS risks effectively. For example, in fire safety, fire engineering surveys of
our hotels have hetped ensure that we continue to uphold the highest
physical and procedural controls at all of our hotels. With regard to food
safety we adopt the best practice system of Hazard Analysis and Critical
Comrol Points (HACCP). We ensure traceability and assurance over food
produce sources and support our guests in their choice of products based
on their specific dietary and allergy requirements.

Standards and procedures — developing and rigorously implementing clear
and suitable standards and procedures for safe design, construction,
maintenance and operation of assets and equipment.

Assets and equipment — managing our assets and equipment 1o ensure
they are fit for purpose throughout their life-cycle and that no
uracceptable or uncontrolled HSS5 risl is created. Maintenance systems
and procedures comprise daily, weekly, monthly and annual maintenance
programmes acrass Merlin's rides, buildings, facilities and estates.
Manitoring and assurance - assessing and critically reviewing our
performance, in a balanced and objective manner, te understand, improve
and sustain our HSS performance. HSS performance, including near-miss
and incident reporting, is regularly reviewed by each atrraction, each
Operating Group's senior leadership team and the H55 Committee, with
best practice learning shared throughout the H5$ management community.
All arrractions undergo three types of routine health and safety reviews
{annual self-audits, independent internal audits and pericdic independent
external audits), in addition to pre-opemning assessments and tactical ad-hoc
audits. A comprehensive food safety audit programme 15 also undertaken
by third party specialists.

This process includes the use of two types of performance metric, being;

(i} Leading indicators — which monitor the activities we undertake as part
of our HSS governance and moritoring processes. Our approach
includes arrangements by attractions for near-missfunsafe condition
reporting, trend analysis and corrective action management. Due to
the impact of cross-border travel restrictions brought on by the
COVID- 12 pandemic, as well as extensive attraction temporary
closures, en-site food safety audits were not able to take place in
2020. Furthermore, because na employee survey tool place in
the year, the safety culture reporting normally incorporated in
that process was not captured.

(i) Logming indhcators — which capture incident rates for both guests
and employees.

Please see overleaf for the results of our monitoring and
assurance activities.
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Leading indicators 2020 2009
Safery Inspection Certificates — Rides'" 100%  100%
Safe Operating Procédures - Rides™ 100% 100%
Food Safery Audits® N/A 89%
Safety Culture Survey Results™ N/A 3%
HSS$ Committee Meetings”™ 100%  100%
Lagging indicators

Medical Treatment Case Rate (Guests)® 0.02 0.02
Medical Treatment Case Raté (Employeesy® 0.04 0.06

11 Safety Inspectivn Cerrficates are wssued aonually by mdependent ride exanuners follawing the thorough
nspection and testing of every theme purk ride i Merim Thes % score mdieates the precentage of ndes
that have a vadd armual Safety bistocion Caoficate ssued o a firmal extension granted to such
annual Inspection Certficate due to the \mpact of cross-berder traved resttenons brought on by the
COVID-1 9 pandemic

2} Eoch theme park nde ) oporation i Merhn must have Sofe Operating Procedures i place covering the
anguing wse of the ride These procedures must state what the necessary nsk controls are for each nde
This % scare indicotes the percentage of ndes tha have Safe Gperaung Frocedores in place

134 Merln commussions an independent spetialist to audrt atrrecrions for complance waf s Food Safety
Manual This % score represents the Gvelage comphance score Where ophorzunes for enprgrement 1o
Jocal pracuces ore wentfied these gre discussed sith locol menagement ang plans implemented to
oddress them

141 Merko s annual The Wieard wants (e Know' emplopee survey features o series of questions relatng to
heatth gnd safety and this % score represents the overall safely engagement score

15) Through the HSS Communters 1he Board prowdes sirategre diecron and performance scrutiny of HSS
mugtiers within the business Addinonally, each Operanng Groep hos s own 55 Szeenng Coninnttee
Thece forums are ntended to meet quaterly and rhns % score indicates compliance wath tis expectation

16 A Medical Treatment Case IMTC) s defined os an iy which requires external medical treatnent
fre embulance attendonce o the site or hospiral wisir anectly fiom the stey The rares referenced are the
sumber of MTCs refatwe 10 suher 10,000 guesr wsianons or 8 000 emplioyee hours worked

Environmental matters

We recognise that our operations impact upon the environmenc and that
effective management, in line wath our strategic business goals, is essential for
sustainable business success. YVe are committed to minimysing the potentially
narmful effects of such acrivity.

The Executive Committee is responsible for setting strategy, policy, principles,
and guidance with ultimate responsibility for our sustainability strategy resting
with the Chief Executive Officer, ensuring that strategic policy is implemented
and that our sites’ susminability objectives align to our corporate sustainability
objectives. We parucipate in the UK Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme and
other applicable environmental regulations globally. Specific budgets are made
avaiiable each year to test and implement environmentally focused initiatives.

Each attraction has a sustainability champion or manager who is responsible for
the defivery of our sustainability abjectives at a local tevel. More details can be
found on the policies and reports section of our website where our
environmental policy is published.
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Climate change

The Group has identified the following issues related to climare change, which are

set out below together with Merlin's approach in the relevant area.

. Energy use — the risk that using fossil fuel energy contributes to climate
change. Merlin is investing in on-site zero to low carbon technologies such
as solar photovolaic.

. Energy price — the risk of fluctuation in the global energy price. Merlin is
investing in energy efficient systems like LED lighting to reduce the amount
of energy we use.

s Weather — the risk of distortion in weather patterns. Merlin operates a
balance of cutdoor theme park resorts and Midway attractions which are
generally indoors.

. Waste, recycling, and the use of landfill - Merlin is diverting waste from
landfill where possible through recycling and generating energy from waste.
For example, our four largest UK theme parks recycle and recover all their
waste for energy generation.

Commicment to plastics reduction

Merlin is committed to being an environmentally responsible business and has
been a long term advocate for reducing plastic pellution. ¥e have already made
great strides in our retail stores by removing unnecessary packaging and plastic
on all our branded merchandise. Additionally, in our SEA LIFE acractions we have
switched 75% of plastic contained within our reail products to a type that is
recyclable, and we banned all plastic straws and retail plastic bags by the end of
2018. Orher initiatives already undertaken include the removal of plastic water
botdes from alt cur offices, replacing them with water coolers or similar
refreshment devices.

We promote marine conservation through our SEA LIFE brand, educating guests
on the dangers of plastic pefluuen in our oceans and actively contributing to
raising of awareness through our partner charity, the SEA LIFE Trust. Merhn’s
46 SEA LIFE Centres across the world have joined forces with over 200 other
aguariums, oceanographic museums and zoos to form a global coalidon zlf
pledging to raise public awareness about plastic pollution with the
HBeatPlasticsPollution campaign.

Ve will continue to work with our glebal supply chain to remove unnecessary
plastic packaging from our shops; we will provide opportunities for all our staff
and guests to become involved at cur attractions as well as helping them
consider behaviour change in their everyday fives, and; we will support the
SEA LIFE Trust in camipaigning for greater protection over our marine
environment and its creatures.
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Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

WWe set out in the table below our report on Merlin's carbon dioxide emissions and energy usage. Ve have followed the 2019 HM Government Environmental
Reporting Guidelines. We have also used the Greenhouse Gas Protocol — Corporate Standard and have used emissions factors from IEA CO; Emissions from Fuel
Combustion 2020 edition for elecuricity by countries and the 2020 11K (Snvernment's Conversion Factors for other carbon activities.

Qur carpon reporting period for 2020 is from September 2019 to August 2020, In 2020 our reported carbon intensity ratio that measures the usage of CO; equivalent
{CO.e) as compared to revenue increased significantly; there is a significant element of our energy usage that does not flex with visitor volumes and in our SEA LIFE
Centres for example, life support systems for the animals in our care continue 1o run regardless of whether the attraction is open.

In the period covered by the report, Merlin launched a series of energy efficiency initiatives, However, due to the disruption caused by COVID-19, we were only able
to complete ventilator and air conditioning optimisation projects at LEGOLAND Japan and LEGOLAND Billund which are expected to save 339,000 kWh annually,
and the installation of solar arrays at Chessington World of Adventures expected to generate approximately 44,000 kvWh each year.

in this period, we purchased 46,313 MWh of renewable energy attributes through our energy procurement contract. The attributes are backed by Renewable Energy
Guarantees of Origin (REGOs).

2020 2019

Glsbal Global

UK  ({excluding UK) UK (excluding UK)

Energy consumption used to calculate emissions {MvWh) 84,707 217316 118,266 251,142
Emissions from combustion of natural gas, cit and LPG in «COxe {Scope 1) 4,627 6,125 6936 7827
Ermissions from combustion of fuel for transport purposes n 1COe (Scope-l) 423 945 480 1,157
Emussions from use of CO, for food and beverage purposes in tCOze (Scope ) 17 38 28 77
Refrigerant emissioﬁs from refrigeration systems in tCOxe (Scope 1) 748 3290 716 3434
Emissions from purchased eléctricity and district heating (Scope 2, location-based) 12,837 70771 18778 83,144
Emissions after applying purchased green emissiérﬂts in tCOse (Scope 2, market-based) 1,168 70771 4,041 ) 83,144

Emissions from business travel in rental cars or employee-owned vehicles where company

- N ed -
15 responsible for purchasing the fuel in tCOqe (Scope 3) H Not reported o report Not reported

Total gross in tCOe 6,994 81,16% 12,201 95,639
Group total in tCOze 7 7 88,163 107,840
Group revenue (£m) 62% 1,740
Intensity ratio: Group gross in tCO:e £ million revenue 40 62
Table notes:

Scope | tefers to drect emissions (natural gas, LPG, heatng od, refrigerants, diesel, petrol)

Scope 2 sefers to indrect epussions (purchased efectndty, purchased heat ond steam)

Scope 2 market based indude REGOs for our UK operations

We recolculated and republished aur 2019 base year due ta o change m our reporeng period from December 2018 —~ November 2019 10 Seprember 2018 — August 2009

Our annual carbon reduction target s measured based on market-based emisstons
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Sacial matters

Our strong social conscience informs how the Group operates, including with
regard to both the people and crearures connected to our business. This is
exemplified by areas such as our ethical animal husbandry activities, our work
with children faced with the challenges of serious illness, disability and adversity,
and how we approach visitor accessibilicy.

Ammal conservation and welfzre

We operate to world class welfare standards through our animal care networlc
and support the work of our pioneering marine conservation charity partner, the
SEA LIFE Trust, in its mission to protect marine life and habitats across the
world. Qur global SEA LIFE teams continue to deliver world class animal welfare
throughout our animal care necwork. as well as developing new and exciting
guest experiences which will inspire future generations to care for cur oceans
and all marine life.

Whilst the door's of our attractions may have been closed for much of 2020 this
did not prevent our world class conservation and welfare activities continuing,
Teams across our welfare sites worked through various lockdewns to ensure
high standards of care were maintained and continued to drive engagement with
our guests. Hundreds of social-media films and live feeds reached millions across
the globe including live Q&A's, feeding times and a range of educational home-
schooling activities.

Merlin's strong welfare and conservation work also continued throughout 2020,
with aver 70 grey and harbour seals rescued across the SEA LIFE and SEA LIFE
Trust seal rescue facilities in northern Eurape and the UK, and over 50 turtles
and one Australian sand tiger shark rescued in Australia. The team at SEA LIFE
Sydney Aquarium alse launched the waorld's first Seahorse Hotel, part of an
important breeding and recovery project in collaboration with the NSW
Department of Primary Industries (DPI) Fisheries and the University of
Technology Sydney.

A real ‘world first’ was also seen in August 2020 when the SEA LIFE Trust and
Merlin's long held vision came to life as beluga whales Little White and Lirtle
Grey maved into their new home in Klettsvik Bay, Iceland, site to the world's
first Beluga Whale Sanctuary. We were delighted to have a documentary crew
following this monumental moment and the documentary, fronted by UK
celebrity John Bishop, aired on ITV in the UK in October 2020. it will be aired in
other countries across the world in 2021. In early 2021 john and Melanie Bishop
became the Trust's first ever patrons.

Woe support additional animal welfare initiatives that are not connected to the
marine environment. Chessington World of Adventures Resart in the UK and
WILD LIFE Sydney Zoo in Australia both maintained their iong-standing
commitment to animal breeding or managed species programmes.

For details of how we manage the risks regarding animal welfare, see page 20.
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Merlin's Magic VWand

Our dedicated children's charity partner, Merlin's Magic VWand (MMW}, 1s now in
its | 3th year of operation, Although varicus challenges were presented as a result
of the giobal pandemic in 2020, the charity was still able to deliver 21,560 Magical
Days Qut tickets to children and their families, who are facing challenges of
serious illness, disability and adversity. We alsc completed the 50th Merlin's
Magic Spaces project, ready for launch in 2021, in Goshen, New York, near o
the new LEGOLAND New York resort. The charity alse worked with our
actraction teams to reach over 5,300 children virtually through the Magic on
Tour programme.

In 2021, the charity aims to deliver on the remaining Magical Days Qut visits,
Magic Spaces project commitments, and virtual Magic on Tour offerings that it
committed to in 2020, as well as 'building back betrer’ so that more of our
beneficiaries and charity parters can look forward to a year full of magic in 2021,

Accessibility

We remain focused on ensuring guests with disabiliies can access the magic of
Merlin, including making necessary reasonable adjustments to our facilities for
guests with different requirements. We understand our obligations and we
care about continuously improving accessibilicy. In 2020 we were proud to
‘light up purple’ on 3 December at our attractions across the world to
celebrare International Day of Persans with Disabilicies, and Heide Fark
Resort were delighted to be the first theme park in Germany to open a
Changing Places facility.

We also kept our disabled guests in mind as we adapted to navigate the
requiremnents for social distancing and face coverings, ensuring guidance was
established to continue to provide suitable adjustments.

To support the ongoing commitment to accessibility and w drive systematic
improvements across our business we have established a steering group led by
an Executive Committee member and continue to worl alongside experts in
the field including the UK’s ‘Business Disabiliy Forum’ and *Valuable500" to
inform developments.

Ocher areas

Anti-corruption and ant-bribery matters

Merlin’s approach regarding the manzgement of anti-bribery and corruption risks
is set out on page 21. Merlin has a zero tolerance approach in this area, with
regular reports on whistleblowing being provided to the Audit Committee.

Ethical sourcing

We have a responsibilicy to the workers in our supply chain and seek ta ensure
our products are made in an appropriate environment and the products we
source are produced in accordance with international laws and legislaticn. More
details on this area are available on our website.

Human rights

Mertin has implemented 2 Human Rights Pohcy, guided by the International
Labour Organisation Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work
rogether with the OQECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises.

Further details and Merkin's Modern Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement can
be found on Merlin’s website.
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Overview

The Board contnues to believe that effective corporate governance is the
foundation of a well-run company and is committed to maintaining the highest
standards of governance throughout the Grewp The Bnard rerognises that a
strong governance framework is fundamental to the execution of Merlin's
strategic objectives, underpinned by a clear purpose and well understood
culture and values. Merlin’s overriding purpose is to create truly memorable
experiences for visitors and long term value for cur investors. Our corporate
governance framework has been designed to safeguard these. The Board is
committed to ensuring that the procedures, policies and practices of the
business continue to be effective.

Following the acquisition of Merlin Entertainments in November 2019 by the
investor consortium. the governance principles for the MEL Group are
consistent with those of the Group headed by the ultimate parent undertaking
{Motion |Vco Limited), which was incorporated in 2019 to act as the top
company in the enfarged Group steucture, These principles are set out in a
shareholder investor agreement between the investor cansortium members. The
independent Chairman and the Directors that represent the investor consortium
are the same for both companies. The Group Chief Executive Cfficer and the
Group Chief Financial Officer are executive roles. They are Directors of the
Cormpany {but do not have voting rights at Board meetings), and actend Board
meetings of Mation |Veo Limited in their 1oles as executive management.

2020 priorities

During 2020 the main areas of focus for the Board was ro oversee Merlin's
response to the COVID-19 pandemic. This required constant dialogue between
Board members and with executive management, together with an increase in
the frequency of Board meetings from the eight required by the shareholder
investor agreement to holding fortnightly meetings throughout the

summer period.

When the pandemic started to take hold and attractions were closed, these
discussions focused on ensuring the Group had sufficient liquidity, including the
raising of new debt in the form of naw senior notes, and reviewing the
Company’s actions to manage costs and liquidity. The Board oversaw the
reopening of attractions following lockdown periods, including new protocols
that ensured the safety of guests and stalf, They approved restructuring
programmes that re-engineered how the business operates in an environment
of social distancing, and projects to reduce the ongoing fixed cost base of the
business. They monitcred the trading performance of atuactions and towards
the end of the year the Board reviewed and approved the Company's medium
term strategic plan. This included considering the wider macro risks as to how
the Company anticipates further recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic, for
example from the risk of future virus varianes or the impact of potentially slower
vaccme roll outs.

Corporate governance framework

Merlin applied the provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code up to the
date of delisting from the Landon Stock Exchange in late 2019. Followng that
dehsting, the new Board concluded the appropriate approach to corporate
governance should be to adopt the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for
Large Private Companies, which in many respects follow similar principles to the
Code. Merlin's approach to and standard of governance therefore remains
essentially unchanged.

During 2021, the Board will continue to maintain the sorong corporate
governance environment with particular focus around stakeholder engagement,
diversity and inclusion, and remuneration, The Wates Principles and details of
how the Group approaches them are set cut below.
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Principle One - Purpose and Leadership
An effective hoord develops ond promates the burpose of a compary, and ensures that
its walues, strategy and cuiture align with that purpose

Since 1999, Merlin's strategy has been to create a high growth, high return
family entertainment company. The business is based on strong brands and a
global portfolio which is naturally balanced against the impact of external factors.
This strategy is aligned with our purpose of delivering memorable experiences
to our millions of visitors and our vision of being the global leader in location
based entertainment.

The Board continues to review and challenge Merlin’s strategy, performance,
responsibility, and accountability so that every decision made is of the highest
quaiity, and in line with the Company's culture, as set cut in “The Merlin Way'
values which are embedded throughout the business from day-to-day
management to Board reviews. The business model and the growth drivers of
the Group are outlined in pages 6 10 9.

Whilst the Board holds overall responsibility for developing and promotmg the
purpose of the Group, the Executive Committee ensure that the values, strategy
and culture continue to be distilled down into every aspect of the Group on their
behalf. The Board's Audit Commiteee reviews the effectiveness of our
whistleblowing and fraud policies.

Principle Two - Board Composition

Effectve board composition requires an effecuvs chaw and g balance of skiffs,
backgrounds, experience and knowledge, with individual directars having enough
capacty to make o voluable contnbutien The size of a board should be guided by the
scaie ond complexity of the company.

The Board of Directors of the Company are appointed in accordance with the
sharehalder investment agreement. This sets out that the Board should include
shareholder representatives, an independent Chairman {who was appointed on
7 April 2020), the Chief Executive Cficer and the Chief Financial Officer.

Each investor has nominated suitably qualified representatives to sit on the Board.
The Directors possess a wide range of skills, backgrounds, experience, and
knowledge across a broad range of businesses. The composition of the Board is
considered appropriate for the size and complexity of the Company. The Board
has established an Audit Committee and Health, Safety and Security Committee
that have both been in operation throughout the year. Due consideration has
been given in appointing the Chair of each Committee, with the Audit
Committee being chaired by an individual with recent and refevant financial
experience and the Health, Safety and Security Commictee being chaired by an
independent health and safety expert. In 2021 the Remuneration Committee has
been established. The respensibiliues of the Board and these Committees are
cutlined on page 28 to 29.

The Board and Executive Commitcee together comprise 12 men and three
women. Details of the gender mix of the Group and its senior management are
set out on page 22, together with details of our actions in the area of diversity

and inclusivity,

Details of the Board members can be found on pages 30 to 31.
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Principle Three - Directors Responsibilities

Tite board and mdwidual directors should have g dear understanding of thes
accourtabdity and responsibifiies The board's pofices and procedures should support
wifective dedsion-making anrt independenr chalienge.

The Board is responsible for directing the affairs of the Company to best

promete the success of the Company for the benefit of shareholders and with
consideration of its stakenclders. This is done in a way which is consistent with
its ethical, legal, and regulatory responsibilities and the Company's constitution.

Fallowing the Merlin acquisition in late 2019, the shareholder investment
agreement and respective terms of reference of the Board and its Committees
were formally approved during the year. These give clear guidance on matters
which require Board or Committee approval. The Board meet at least eight
times a year, either in-person or by video conference calls, although the
frequency was much higher in 2020 in response to the COVID-19 pandemic.
The Board are provided with appropriate board packs in advance of the
meetings, including trading updates, financial performance. employee
engagement and welfare, and management of key business risks. VWWhen making
decisions, only the shareholder representatives have voting rights.

The Board delegates authority for the day-to-day management of the Company
to the Executive Committee which meets at least eight times each year. Details
of each Committee can be found on pages 28 to 29.

Principle Four — Opportunity and Risk

A boord should promote the long ternt sustainable success of the company by
identifying apportunities (¢ create and freserve value and establishing oversight for the
wertification and mitigation of 1sks

QOwersight of nsk management is performed on an ongoing basis through the
Board's interaction with management and by risk being a regular item on Board
agendas. As set out below, two Board Committees have specific responsibiiities
1n the key areas of health, safety and security and wider risk management and
internal controls activities. Commercial risks are considered by Committees
chaired by executive management and are reported back to the Board.

The Board retains overall responsibilty for risk management and approves the
risk management framework which sets out the responsibilities, oversight,
monitoring, reporting and management processes, Further demails regarding the
approach to risk management are set out on pages 16 to 21.

Long term strategic opportuninies are highlighted through the Group's strategic
planning processes that the Board oversees, Dedicated strategy review sessions
that were performed in previous years did not take place during 2020 as the
Board oversaw the Group's response to the COVID-19 pandemic, but are
planned for 2021. Other opportunities are brought to the attenuan of the
Board when they arise.
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Principle Five - Remuneration

A board should promote executive remuneration strucures aligned to the fong term
sistainable suceess of @ compony, considering pay and conditians elsewhere m the
company

Remunerztion matters during the year were considered directly by the Board,
pending the creation of the Remuneration Committee at the start of 202(. All
future matters relating to remuneration will be considered by that body and
recommended ta the Board for approval. in line with the Committee's terms of
reference that are set out below.

Principle Six — Stakeholder Relationships and Engagement
Directors should foster effective stakeholder 1elationships aligned to the company’s
purpose, The board is responsible for overseeng meaningful engagement with
stakefiolders, includging the warkforce, and hoving regard to thewr vews when
toking decisions

The Board are aware of the importance of fostering effective stakeholder
relationships to enable the long term success of the Group. Details of how Merlin
engages with stakeholders, including employees, 15 provided in the Section 172
statement below. The Group’s business model also focuses on our interactions
with customers, employees and investors; more information can be found on
page 7.

Board and Comimittee responsibilities
The Board
The responsibilities of the Board are detaled below:;
» overseaing strategy, management and approval of major policies
*  determining the capital structure
. maintaining the system of internal contrels and risk management
. approval of the annual capital expenditure budget. major capital projects
and strategic transactions
s  effective engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders
s reviewing recommendations from Commictees including:
- Board membership
- Board and senior management remuneration
- succession planning
- diversity
- financial reports

Board Committees
The following Board Committees have been in operation during the year and
unless otherwise stated, remain.

Heaith, Safety and Securiny Cotmmities

This Committee ensures that health, safety and secuiity {HSS) marters are
managed effectively and proactively throughout the Group, by overseeing our
policies and procedures for HSS, monitaring our processes for identifying and
managing risks and monitoring the skills, effectiveness and levels of resource
within our HSS teams.

The Committee membership comprises an independent chair and
representatives from each member of the investar consortium. Meetings are also
attended by the Group CEC and CFO, together with the Group Safety,
Engineering and Security Director, the Chief Operating Officer of the Midway
Acxtractions Operating Group and the Managing Director of the Resort Theme
Parks Operating Group.
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Audit Committee

This Committee assists the Board in discharging its responsibitities regarding
financial reporting by menitoring the integrity of our financial statements including
cansidering whether the financial statements are “air, balanced and
understandable’. It assists the Board in relation to exrernal and internal audits,
including monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the internal audit function
and overseeing the performance and independence of external auditors. It also
assists the Board in matters of risk management and internal controls, including
monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of cur whistieblowing and fraud
policies and our internal control and risk management.

The Committee membership comprises representatives from two members of
the investor consortium, one of which is a Board member.

Remuneration Cornmittee
The Remuneration Committee was created in early 2021 and the first meeting
was held in March 2021,

The Remuneration Coemmittee assists the Board in determining its responsibilities
in relation to remuneration, including malung recommendations on the policy on
executive remuneration, determining the individual remuneration and benefits
package of each of the Executive Directors and recommending and monitoring the
remuneration of senior management below Board level,

The Committee will consider all material elements of Merlin's remuneration
policy, remuneration and incentives of Executive Diractors and senior
management with reference to independent remuneration research and
professional advice and make recommendations on the framework for executive
remuneration. The Committee will also be responsible for making
recommendations for the grants of awards under any future share incentive plans,

The Remuneration Committee’s membership comprises the independent
Chatrman and representatives of each of the consertium of investors.

Other Committees

In addition te the Board Commitrees, there are three non-Board Committees:

. Executive Committee — chaired by the Chief Executive Officer, this
Committee s responsible for managing the Group's day-to-day operations
and the development of strategic plans for consideration by the Board,

Two operational Committees have specific areas of responsibility zs follows:

. Cormnmercal ond Stiategic Risk Managenmient Committee — maintaing oversight
and guidance on management of commercial and strategic risk.

. Development Board — appraises sigaificant capital expenditure and
development projects.

Section |72 statement

The Board have remained consistent in their approach to stakeholder engagement
and acknowledging the need to maintain high standards of business conduct.
During the decision-making process the Board centinues to have regard for the
impact of their decisions on the Company's stakeholders as required in section
172 of the Companies Act 2006, taking into account the likely consequences of
any decision in the long term, As is normal for large companies, authority for day-
to-day management in these areas is delegated to the Execuuve Committee, with
the Board providing oversight. The Board takes their responsibility to understand
the views of stakeholders sericusly and strives 1o build producove business
reladionships with them. Merlin has engaged with stakeholders throughout the
year and the Board will look to further the inclusion of stakeholders’ interests
within the Board decision-making processes.
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Employces

In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Board considered how atwraction and
office closures would impacr employees. Accessing government support packages
meant that the Company was able to minimise the impact on employees.
Throughout the year, lines of communicanon with our employees were maintained.
ensuring that all employees, whether furloughed or working, were kept fully
updated on the business operations on a regular basis. Additional occupaticnal
support was made available to all employees. Focus on employee welfare has always
been a key consideration for the Board and in response to the pandemic the Board
ensured that ahead of reopening the attractions, extensive training, using a variety
of mediums. was given to all employees.

The Board receives regular HR updates at Board meetings. More details on
employee engagement are set out on page 22.

Business partners

Merlin believes a collaborative approach with business parters enables the most
mutually beneficial relaticnship, allowing us to engage on matters that affect both
Merlin’s and our business partners’ key strategies.

Examples of such collaboration are set out below;

. Extensive discussions with the business partner of LEGGLAND Dubai to
ensure the conunued success of the operation of the park and the hotel that
has been under constructicn in 2020.

. Consideration of ride suppliers as part of the new themed land at
LEGOLAND Windsor, The final choice of supplier was made based on
previous experience and ride supply at other LEGOLAND parlks.

. Censideration was given to our long term relationships with multiple
landlords where detailed negotiations took place.

Guests

We receive constant feedback from our guests through sausfaction surveys and
social media. The results of these are monitored by management and reported
back to the Board.

In 2020, consrderation was given to how customers might feel about returning o
our attractions once pandemic restrictions were lifted and the Board approved the
management proposal for new propositions throughout the business to encourage
customers back. Cansumer studies were conducted to assess customer attitudes
to our proposed health and safety regimes and the instructive responses helped to
shape the implementation of appropriate measures to meet those expectations.

Following extensive consumer research which identified twe potentiatly strong
performing concepts, the Board approved the creation of a new land at
LEGOLANL Windsor — ‘LEGO MYTHICA'. Aimed at the core family market,
further research with parents and children was conducted to refine the proposition
before development commenced. Accessibility and sustainabilicy were also
censidered as part of the project to ensure that improvemnent and maintenance of
our accessibility standards were met.

Communities and the environmenc
Merlin's attractions operate responsibly at the heart of their communities,
contributing to the local economy.

Merlin continues to support the work of our partner charities Merlin's Magic
Wand, that provides children around the world with memorable experences, and
the SEA LIFE Trust, that works to protect the marine environment. More detaifs
are set out on page 26.
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Merlin recognises that owr operations impact upon the environment and we are
committed te minimising the potentially harmful effects of our activicies, We are
committed to being an environmentally responsible business and have been a
long term advocate for reducing plastic pollution. Further detalls are set out on
pages 24 to 25.

Lenders

The Group maintains ongoing relationships with the institutions that provide
financing facilities. More details on our financing arrangements and how these
are structured are set out in the financial and operating review on pages |10
to I5.

In 2020, working together with the investor consorttum, Merhn's parent
comparies raised €500 million in senior notes an the public markets to provide
extra liquidity.

Board membership
The members of the Board during the year and at the date of this report are set
out below.

The Group Chief Executive Officer and the Group Chief Financial Officer are
executive roles and these positions do not have voting rights at Board meetings.
The other Directors currently serving are the independent Chairman and the
members of the investor consortium, who also have the right to appomt
observers to Board and Committee meetings. Each Director from the
consartium of investors has one vote at the Board.

Nick Varney, Group Chief Executive Officer
Nick has 30 years’ experience in the visitor attractions industry and was
appomted Chief Executive Officer of Merlin Entertainments in 1999,

Nick started his career in FMCG marketing, first with Rowntree and then with
Reckitt Colman. He went on to hold semor positions within The Tussauds
Group (Pearson PLC), including Marketing Director of Alton Towers and Head
of Group Marketing, before becoming Managing Director of Varden Attractions
and a main Beard Director of Vardon ple, In 1999 Nick led the management
buyout of Yarden Attractions te form Merlin Entertainments and, in 2005,
initiated the process which led to its acquisition by Blackstone.

Nick is a Board member of UK Hospitality, the trade body representing the
UK's hospitality and tourism industry with a membership of over
45,000 companies.

Ahstair Windybank, Group Chief Financial Officer

Alistair was appointed Chief Financial Officer in November 2020, including
responsibiity for Merlin Group IT and Procurement. He was appointed a
Crirector of the Company on { July 2020.

Alistair joined Merlin in 2008 and has held various senior finance roles. including
Head of Corporate Finance, Group Investor Relations Director. Senior Finance

Director — Capital Projects and most recently, Deputy CFO.

Prior ta Merlin, Alistair worked for Deloitte in Audit & Assurance,
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Roland Hernandez Independent Chairman

Roland was appointed as a Director and independent Chairman on 7 April 2020.
He is the Founding Principat and Chief Executive Officer of Hernandez Media
Ventures, a privately held company engaged in the acquistion and management of
media assets. He has served in this capacity since January 2001.

Before founding Hernandez Media Ventures, Roland served as Chairman of
Telemundo Group, Inc., a Spanish-language television and entertainment
company, from {998 to 2000 and as President and Chief Executive Officer from
1995 to 2000. He serves as a member of the Boards of US Bancorp, Fox
Corporation, MGM Resorts International, and Take-Two interactive Software,
Inc, He serves on the advisory board of Harvard Law School and previously
served on the Board of Directors of Belmond Ltd. Sony Corporation, Yvalmart
inc, and Vail Resorts, Inc.

Roland received an AB. in economics frem Harvard College and a .0, from
Harvard Law School.

Soren Thorup Sorensen, KIRKBI Shareholder Representative

Soren was appointed as a Non-executive Director of Merlin in 2013, prior to
Mertin's IPO, representing KIRKBI. Seren has aver 25 years’ experience in finance
and is currently the Chief Executive Officer of KIRKB} A/S and Director of
various entities in the KIRKBI Group.

Seren is currently Chairran of the Board of Boston Helding A/5, Deputy
Chairman of LEGO AJS and a Non-executive Director of 1SS A/S, Landis+Gyr
AG, Qle Kirk's Foundarion, ATTA Foundation and Koldingve] 2, Billund ASS.
Soren was formerly a Partner, Chief Financial Officer of A.P. Moller — Maersk
Group and Managing Partner of KPMG Denmarlc

Sidsel Mane Knstensen, KIRKBI Shareholder Representative

Sidsel was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019. Sidsel has almost 20
years' experience as a lawyer. Sidsel joined KIRKBI A/S in 2016 and is currently
Executive Vice President and General Counsel at KIRKBI A/S and Director of
various entities in the KIRKBI Group.

Sidsel was formerly a Partner of the Danish law firm Bech-Bruun.

Jorgen Vig Knudstorp, KIRKEBI Shareholder Representative

Jorgen was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019, having previcusly been
a Board observer while Merlin was listed. Jorgen has been a member of the
LEGO A/S Board since 2017 and has previously served as Chairman from May
2017 to February 2020.

He is the Executive Chairman of LEGO Brand Group and Deputy Chairman of
LEGO Foundation. Jargen is also a member of the Board of Starbucks. Jargen
joined the LEGC Group in 2001, where he served as President and CEQ from
2004 to 2016,
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Joseph Baratta, Blackstone Shareholder Representative

Joseph was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019, Joseph Baratta is
Global Head of Private Equity at Blackstone and a member of the firm's
Management Committee. He also serves on many of the firm's

investment committees,

Mr Baratta joined Blackstone in 1998 and in 2001 he moved to London to help
establish Blackstone's corporate private equity business in Europe, Since 2012,
Mr Baratta has served as the firm's Global Head of Private Equity and is located
in New York,

Mr Baratta has served on the Boards of many past Blackstone portfolio
companies and currently serves as a member or observer on the Boards of First
Eagle Investrment Management, Refinitiv, and SESAC. He is also a member of the
Board of Trustees of Georgetown University; is a trustee of the Tate
Foundation; serves on the Board of Year Up, an organisation focused on youth
emplayment; and serves on the Board of Trustees of Trinity School in New
York City.

Before joining Blackstone, Mr Baratta was with Tinicum Incorporated and
McCown De Leeuw & Company. Mr Baratta aiso worked at Morgan Stanley in
its mergers angd acquisitions department. Mr Baratta graduated magna cum laude
from Georgetown University.

Peter Wallace, Blackstone Shareholder Representative

Peter was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019. Mr Wallace is a Senior
Managing Director and serves as co-head of WS, Acquisitions for Blackstone's
Prwate Equity Group. Mr VWallace leads Blackstone's private equity investments
in the business services, leisure and consumerfretall sectors.

Since joining Blackstone in 1997, Mr Wallace has led or been involved in
Blackstone's investments in Alight Sclutions, AlliedBarton Security Services.
Allied ¥YVaste, American Axde & Manufacturing, Centennial Communications,
Centerplate {formerly Volurne Services America), Michaels Stores, New Skies
Satellites, Quterstuff, Ltd., Pinnacle Foods/Birds Eye Foods, PSAY, PSS,
SeaWoarld Parks & Entertainment (formerly Busch Entertainment Corporation),
Service King, Servpro, Sirius Satellite Radio, Tradesmen International, Universal
Orfando, Vivint, Vivint Solar and The Weather Channel Companies. He
currently serves on the Board of Directors of Alight Solutions, Merlin
Entertainments, PSAV, PSS! Service King, ServPro_ Tradesmen International, and
Vivint. He is a trustee of Children's Aid Socie[y, one of America's oldest and
largest children’s non-profit organisations. Mr Wallace received a BA from
Harvard Coliege, where he graduated magna cum laude,
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Lori Hall-Kimm, CPPIB Sharcholder Representative

Lori was appointed as a Director on 4 November 2019. Lori is a Managing
Director in Direct Private Equity at CPPIB, and has been leading the Consumer
Retail team since 2018. Lori inicially joined CPP tnvestments i 2016 and was
previously a Senior Principal leading Co-investments within the Secondaries and
Co-lnvestments group,

Prior to CPPIB, Lori was a Director in Private Capitaf at Ontarioc Teachers'
Pension Plan from 2005 to 2015. where she established their | ondon office, and
lead numerous European fund and co-investments from 2007 to 2015, Lori
previously worked in the Consumer Retart Investment Banlung team at
Goldman Sachs. Lori currently serves on the Board of Nord Anglia Education,
and was previously on the Board of 92 Cents Only Stores, Gruppo Coin, and
Alexander Forbes Pty. Lori has a BBA from York University (Schulich School of
Business} and an MBA from Columbia University.

Anne-Francaise Nesmes, Group Chief Financial Officer
Anne-Francoise resigned on 30 June 2020.
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The Cirectors have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financal
statements for the 52 week period ended 26 December 2020, Comparative
figures relate to the 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019.

In order to make our Annual Report and Accounts more accessible, we have set
out below where certain required disclosures can be found in other areas of this
Annual Report.

Strategic Report

Non-financial reporting

Information regarding Merlin's approach to the five topics required by the
Companies Act is set out in the Responsible Business section on pages 22 ta 25,

Other informanion

Crther information is set out as follows:

. Business review and future developments — see pages | o 26.

. Resaarch and development — details about Merlin Magic Making are
located on page 6.

. Directors - details are on pages 30 to 31.

. Employees — details on how we communicate with employees are on
page 21,

. Directors’ responsibilities statement — see page 34,

Governance

Wates Principles

The Board has adopted the Wates Corporate Governance Principles for Large
Private Companies. Details of the Waces Principles framework can be viewed
on the website of the Financial Reporting Council {(www.frc.org.uk). For
more details see pages 27 to 28.

Other informaton

Other information is set out as follows:

. Corporate governance — see pages 27 to 3},
. Section |72 statement — see pages 29 to 30.

Financial statements

The financial statements contain information in the following areas:
. Capitalised interest — see note 2.3.

. Financial instruments — see note 4.3.

. Financial risk management — see note 4.3.

. Related parties — see note 5.3,

. Subsidiaries and joint ventures — see note 5.7,
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Directors' Report
The Directors’ Report itself contains the sections detailed below.

Share capitat and related matters

The Articles of Association do not contain any restrictions on the rransfer of
shares in the Company other than customary restrictions applicable where any
amount is unpaid on a share (all the 1ssued share capital of the Company as of the
date of this Annual Report and Accounts is fully paid). Each ordinary share in the
capital of the Company ranks equally in all respects. No shareholder halds shares
carrying special rights relating to the control of the Company.,

Amendment to the Company’s Articles of Associaton
The Company’s Articles of Association may only be amended by a special
resolution of its shareholders passed at a general meeting of its shareholders.

Appointment and removal of Directors

The Company is governed by its Articles of Associanon and the Companies
Act and related legislation, with regard to the appointment and replacement
of Directors.

Power of Directors in respect of share capual
The Directors may exercise all the powers of the Company.

Eirectors” indemnities and insurance

The Articles of Association of the Company permit it to indemnify the Directers
of the Company or any Group company against liabilities arising from or in
connection with the execution of their duties or powers to the extent permicted
by law.

The Company has not given any specific indemnity in favour of the Directors
during the year, but the Company has purchased Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilicy
Insurance, which provides cover for liabilities incurred by Directors in the
performance of thew duties or powers. No amount was paid under any
Director's indemnity or the Directors” and Officers’ Liabilty tnsurance during the
year other than the applicable insurance premiums,
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Significant contracrs

There were no contracts of significance during the year to which the Compary,
or any of its subsidiary undertakings, is a party and in which a Director is or was
materially interested.

Branches outside the UK
Merlin Entertainments Limited has ne branches outside the UK,

Diwvidend
No dividends were paid during the year. A final dividend for the year ended
29 Decembper 2018 of 5.5 pence per share was paid on [6 May 2019,

Going cencern
The Directors consider that it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

In making this statement the Directors have sausfied themselves that based on
its current base case projections, the Group has access to sufficient cash funds
and borrowing facilities and can reasonably expect those facilives to be available
to meet the Group’s foreseeable cash requirements.

This assessment also takes into account an assessment of the impact of the
CCOVID-19 pandemic. which results in a material uncertainty to going concern.
For further detals see note |.1 to the financial statements.

Politicai donations
Ne political donations were made during the year.

Auditors

As recommended by the Audit Committee, a resolution fer the re-appeintment
of KPMG LLP as auditors to the Company will be proposed. 5o far as the
Directors are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
auditors are unaware. The Directors have taken all reasonable steps to
ascertain any relevant audic information and ensure the auditors are aware

of such information.

AMTIUAL RFPOR™ AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Approval of Annual Report
The Strategic Report, Corporate Governance Report and the Directors’ Report
were approved by the Board on |5 April 2021,

For and on behalf of the Board

Matthew Jowett

Chief Corporate Officer and Company Secretary
15 April 2021

Merlin Entertainments Limited
Registered number 08700412
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RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the Group
and parent Company financiat statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Group and parent Company
financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors have
elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with
international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of
the Companies Act 2006 and applicable law and they have elected to
prepare the parent Company financial smtements in accordance with

UK accounting standards and applicable faw, including FRS 101 ‘Reduced
Disclosure Framework'.

Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements
unless they are satisfied that they give a wrue and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and parent Company and of the Group's profit or loss for that
period. In preparing each of the Group and parent Company financial
statements, the Direcrors are required to:

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

. make judgements anc estimates that are reasonable, relevant, reliable
and prudent;

*  for the Group financial statements, state whether they have been
prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

e for the parent Company financial statements, state whether applicable
UK accounting standards have been followed. subject to any material
deparwres disclosed and explained in the financial statements;

. assess the Group and parent Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern; and

. use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to
liquidate the Group or the parent Company or tc cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that
are sufficient ta show and explain the parent Company’s transactions and
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the parent
Company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with
the Companies Act 2006, They are responsible for such internal control as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have
general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and

ather irregularigies.

Under applicable law and regulations, the Directors are also responsible for
preparing a Strategic Report and a Directors’ Report that complies with that
law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and regrity of the
corporate and financial information included on the company's website.
Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.
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AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of Mertin Entertainments Limited

| Our opinion is unmadified

We have audited the financial statements of Merlin Entertainments Limited (the
Company) for the 52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 which comprise the
consolidated income smtement. consolidared statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of financial position, conselidated statement of
changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows, Company statement of
financial position, Cempany statement of changes in equity, and the related notes,
including the accounting policies in note 1.1

In our opinien:

. the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 26 December 2020
and of the Group's loss for the year then ended;

. the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with internatonal accounting standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006;

e the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS |01 Reduced
Disclosure Framework; and

s the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companes Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Internationa! Standards on Auditing
(UK (I5As {UK)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities are described below.
We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the
Group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical
Standard as applied to listed entties, We believe that the audit evidence we have
obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion.

2 Material uncertainty related to going concern

We draw attenticn to note .} to the financial statements which indicates thar
the challenges posed by the COVID-19 pandemic mean that the Group's and the
parent Company's ability to continnue as 4 going concern in a severe but plausible
downside scenario may be dependent an cash injections from the consortium of
investors in the parent Company's ultimate parent company (Motion |Vco
Limited), the confirmation (already received) that Motion |Vco Limited will not
seek the repayment of preference shares held as debt and parent company loans
and/ar the extension of further bank facilides. These events and conditions, along
with the other matters explained in note .1, constitute a material uncertainty
that may cast significant doubt on the Group's and the parent Company's abiity
to continue as a goINg concern.

Our opinten is not modified in respect of this matter.

The risk: disclosure quality

The financial statements explain how the Board has formed a judgement that it is
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of preparation for the Group and
parent Company.

That judgement is based on an evaluation of the inherent risks to the Group's
and parent Company’s business madel and how those risks might affect the
Group's and parent Company's financral resources or ability to continue
operations over 2 period of at least a year from the date of approval of the
financial statements.

There is little jJudgement involved in the Directors’ conclusion that risks and
circumstances described in note |.1 to the financial statements represent a
material uncertainty over the ability of the Group and parent Company to
continue as a going concern for a period of at least a year from the date of
approval of the financial statements.

However, clear and full disclosure of the facts and the Directors’ rationale for
the use of the going concern basis of preparation, including that there is a related
material uncertaingy, is a key financal sarement disclosure and so was the focus
of our audit in this area. Auditing standards require that to be reported as a key
audit matter.

Our response:
Qur procedures included:

Assessing transparency. assessing the completeness and accuracy of the matters

covered in the going concern disclosure by:

. Evaluating the processes and models used by management in its
assessment;

. Evaluating whether the assumptions are realistic and achievable and
consistent with the external and/or internal environment and other
matters identified in the audit;

. Evaluating management's assessment of the entity’s compliance with debt
covenants; and

. Assessing the reasonableness of management’s budgetsfforecasts including
cormparisons to past performance and the evaluation of downside
SensItivitles.

Qur resules
Ve found the going concern disclosure in note 1.1 with a material uncertainty
to be appropriate {20/ 9: appropriate).
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3 Other key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements and include the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud} identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on; the overall audit
strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. Going concern is a significant kay audit matter and is described in
section 2 of our report. We summarise below the other key audit matters, in decreasing order of significance, in arriving at our audit opinion abave, together with cur
key audit procedures to address those matters and our findings {our resuits) from those procedures in order that the Group's members, as a body, may better
understand the process by which we arrived at our audic opinion. These matters were addressed. and our results are based on procedures undertaken, in the context
of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion therean, and consequently are incidental to that opirion,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these maters.

The risk Our response

Carrying value of goodwill Forecast hased valuation: Qur procedures included:
A history of business combinations has resulted in

£816 mullion (201 £800 million) significant goodwill balances. Subjectivity over Historical comparisons:
recoverable amounts has increased since we signed the . assessing five years' historical accuracy of the

Refer 1o pages 63 1o 64 (accounting policy)  prior year financial statements given the impact of the Group's forecasting and building comparable

and pages 64 to 65 {financial disclosures) COVID-19 pandemic on the esumate of forecast cash variations in forecasting accuracy into our own
flows. The effect of these matters is that, as part of our models that were used to re-perform the

Risk vs. 2019: increasing risk assessment, we determined that the forecast future valuation;
cash flows used in calculating the value in use of each . evaluating expected changes i site-level cash flows
Operating Group have a high degree of estimarion {from activities such as new promotions, customer
uncertainty, with a potential range of reasonable experience improvements and trends from
outcomes greater than our materiality for the financial previous post-lockdown apenings) and the planned
statements as a whole, and possibly many times that cost base, in light of the past results of similar
amount. The financial statements (note 3.3) disclose the activities carried out by the Group as well as
sensitivities estimated by the Group. recovery of the sites post-clasure;

Sensitivity analysis: assessing the reasonableness of
management's sensitivity analysis. including calculating the
impact of changes in key assumptions, performing
breakeven analysis of the forecast cash flows, and
modelling the cash flows of a base case scenario:

Comparing valuations: comparing the sum of the
discounted cash flows across the Group to an adjusted
expected purchase price of the Group, driven by the
previous acquisition price of the Group adjusted for
changes in market vzlue of industry competitors: and

Assessing wransparency: assessing whether the Group's
sensinvity disclosures regarding the impairment testing
adequately reflect the risks inherent in the valuation of
goodwill.

Our results
We found the resulting estimate of the recoverable
amount of goodwill to be acceprble (2019 acceptatie).
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Visitor and accomimodation revenue
recognition

£593 million 12019 £1,672 mullion)
Deferred income £18% million (201%:
£183 million)

Refer to page 50 (accounting poticy) and
pages 49 to 50 (financial disciosures).

Risk vs 2019 stable

The risk

Processing error:

Merlin's revenues come from a number of different
channels, locations and systems, sometimes featuring
manual processes to match past purchases to
redempuions or to transfer data to the finance systems.

The low value of individual transactions means individual
errors would be insignificant, however the high volume
of transactions mean systemic fatlure could lead to
difficulty in detecting errors that, in aggregate, may have
a marterial impact.

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCCINTS 2020

OQur response

Cur procedures included:

Conurol design and operation: testing the design,
implementation and operating effectiveness of manual
controls supporting revenue recognition, including
reconciliations of till records to cash banked and to
revenue journal entries in the accounting records;

IT controls: at certain sites, where we anticipated being
able to rely on such systems, testing of the general IT
control environment of the systems used to record
revenue and evaluating controls over the revenua
process including their operating effectiveness;

Expectation vs outcome: forming an expectation for
revenue by analysing total cash received per bank
statements as adjusted for non-revenue transactions,
sales taxes collected and balance sheet movements and
comparing this expectation 1o revenue recognised; and

Tests of detaik:

’ agreeing a sample of revenue transacoens to bank
statements or other supporting docementation.

. testing deferred revenue balances through
agreement to ticketing system records and re-
performing specific manual calculations. The extent
of this testing reflected the outcome of cur
controls testing at each location.

Qur results
We found the revenue amounts recognised 1o be
acceptable (201 9: accepiable).

Recoverability of the parent Company's
nvestment 10 and amounts owed by Group
undertakings

Investments in subsidiaries £3.160 million
(2019 £3,160 mitlian),

Amounts owed by Group undertakings
£114 million current, £3,866 million nen-
current [2019. £46 million current,

£3,843 miflion non-current)

Refer to pages 94 to 96 (accounung policy
and financial disclosures),

Risk vs 2019 stable

Low risk, high value:

The carrying amount of the parent Company’s
investment 1n and amounts owed by Group undertakings
represents 99.9% (201 9: { 00%} of the parent Company's
total assets. Their recoverability does not lead to a high
risk of significant misstatement, nor is it subject to
significant jJudgement. However, due to their materiality
in the context of the parent Company financial
statements, this is considered to be the area that has had
the greatest effect on our overall parent Company audic.

We performed the tests below rather than seeking to
rely on any of the Company's controls because the
nature of the balance is such that we would expect to
obtain audit evidence primarily through the detailed
procedures described:

Companing valuatons: comparing the cariying amount of
the investment with the expected value of the business
based on a recently observable sale of the Group.
adjusted for market trends.

Assessing component audits: the work performed by the
compenent team on those components and considering
the results of that work on those components’ profits
and net assets.

Our results

We found the Group’s assessment of the recaverabilicy
of the investment in and amounts owed by Group
undertakings to be acceptable (2019 acceptable).
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4 Qur application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our
audit

Materiality for the Group financial statements as a whole was set at £10,400,000
{2019: £12,250,000), determined with reference to a benchmark of Total Group
revenues averaged over a four year periad, of which it represents 1.7% (2019

5 2% of Group underlying profit before tax). This is a change in the benchmark from
previous years to reflect the business in a private market. Materiality for the
parent Company financial statements as a whole was set at £2,000,000 (2019
£2,500,000). determined by reference to component materiality. This is lower
than the materality we would otherwise have determined by reference to total
assets, and represents 0.02% of the parent Company's total assets (2019: 0.04%/.

We agreed to report to the Audit Committee any corrected or uncorrected
identified misstatements affecting profit exceeding £520,000 (201 9: £600,000) or
otherwise exceeding £2,000,000 {2019 £2,000,000), in addiwen to other
identified misstatements that warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

The components within the scope of our work accounted for the percentages
illustrated opposite. Total profits and losses coverage is caleulated by considering
absolute profits and losses before tax, after eliminating inter-group interest
mncome and expense, foreign exchange movements on inter-group loans and
inter-group dividends. This also includes procedures on finance costs and assets
established on consolidation; the total of these balances were audited at Group
level. Full scope audits for Group reporting purposes were performed at 30
{2019 31) components in the following countries: Australia, China {including
Hang Kong), Denmark, Germany. Italy, Japan. Thailand. UK, South Korea

and USA.

The 22 (20/9: 21) components for which we performed specified risk-focused
audit procedures or analysis at an aggregated Group level were not individually
significant but were included in the scope of our Group reporting work to
provide further coverage. We select these components on a rotational basis,
setring a financial threshold on each of the Group loss before tax, Group revenue
and Group property, plant and equipment and using our assessment of risk to
select a sample of sites from those that meet at least one of these thresholds,

The remaining 10% (2019 8% of total Group loss before tax, 20% (20! 9: 1 5%}
of Group revenue and 15% {2019 | 5%} of Group property, plant and equipment
is represented by a large number of smaller reporting components, none of
which individually represented more than 0.3% (20/%: 2.7%) of any of the total
profits or losses that made up Group ioss before tax, total Group revenue or
total Group property, plant and equipment. For these residual components, we
performed analysis at an aggregated Group level to re-examine our assessment
that there were no significant risks of material misstatement within these.

The Group team instructed component auditors as to the significant areas to be
covered, including the relevant risks detaled above and the information to be
reported back. The Group team approved each component materiality. which
ranged from £225,000 to £3,600,000 (2019: £500,000 to £6,000,000}, having
regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the sub-group across the
compenents. The Group audit team carried out audits for Group reporting
purposes of the financial information of components covering 35% 12019, 41%)
of the total profits and losses that made up total loss before tax. The Group
audit team also undertook all audit procedures of certain total Group account
balances as mentioned zbove, covering a further 1% (201 9: %) of toral profits
and losses that made up sub-group loss before tax.

We performed inspection of the worlk covering the key audit matters at all
component audit teams performing audits for Group reporting purposes. Video
conference meetings were held with all compeonent auditors. At these meetings,
the Group audit team provided further input into audit rislc and strategy, and the
findings reported to the Group team were discussed in more detail. Any

further work required by the Group team was then performed by the
component auditor.

The Group audit team had planned to visit component locations; howevyer, these
visits were prevented by movement restrictions relating to the COVID- 19
pandemic. {nstead, the Group audit team conducted remote file reviews by
senior members of the zudit team to evaluate whether work performed over
significant risk areas was sufficient. In addition, the Group audit team attended
local final audit closing meetings via conference call. Due to regulatory
restrictions, a remote file review was not possible for the Chinese component;
therefore, the Group audit team had obtained extended reporting and held an
expanded closing meeting with the Chinese component audit team to
understand, assess and challenge the audic approach and findings.
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5 Going concern basis of preparation

The Directors have prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis
as they do not intend to liquidate the Group or the Company, or to cease their
operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the Company's
financial position means that this is realistic for at least  year from the dare of
approval of the financia statements (the going concern period). As stated in
section 2 of our report, they have also concluded that there is a material
uncertainty related to going concern.

An explanaton of how we evaluated management’s assessment of going concern
15 5et out section 2 of our report.

Qur conclusions based on this work:
*  we consider that the Directors’ use of the going concern basis of
accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

6 Fraud and breaches of laws and regutations - ability to detect

Identifying and responding te risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (fraud risks’) we assessed

events or conditions that could indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud

or provide an opportunity to cemmit fraud. Our risk assessment procedures
included:;

. enquiring of management, those charged with governance, internal audit
and the Audic Commictee as to the Group's high-level pelicies and
procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit
function, and the Group's channe! for ‘whistleblowing', as well as
whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or aileged fraud.

. reading Board/Audit Committee/Health, Safety and Security Committee,
Executive Committee, Commercial and Strategic Risk Management
Committee and Development Board nminutes.

. considering the remuneration incentive schemes and performance
argets for management and Directors.

. using analytical procedures to identify any usual or unexpected
relationships.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained
alert to any indicaticns of fraud throughout the audit. This included
communication from the Greup to component audit teams of relevant fraud
risks identified at the Group levet and request to full scope component audit
teams to report to the Group audit team any instances of fraud thar could give
rise to a material misstatement at Group,

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures o
meet profit targets and our overzll knowledge of the contro! environment, we
perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls, in
particular the risk that Group and component management may be in a position
to make inappropriate accounting entries. On this audit we do not believe there
is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition because based on the disaggregated
nature of revenue transactions as described in section 3 of our report, we do not
consider fraudulent revenue recognition could accumulate into material errors in
the Group financial staterments.

We did not idenufy any additional fraud risks.

We performed procedures including:

. identifying journal entries and other adjustments to test for all full scope
components based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries
o supporting documentation. These included unusual postings to
revenue and unusual postings to related cash accounts.

Idenufying and responding to risks of material misstatement due 1o non-
coinpliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to
have a material effect on the financial statements from our general commercial
and sector experience ang through discussion with the Directors and other
management (as required by auditing standards), and discussed with management
the policies and procedures regarding complance with laws and regulations.

Ve communicated identified lzws and regulations throughout cur team and
remained alert to any indications of non-compliance throughout the audit. This
included communication fram the Group to component audit teams of relevant
laws and regulations identified at the Group level, and a request for full scope
component auditors to report to the Group team any instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that could gve rise to a material
misstatement at Group.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements
varies considerabty.

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations thac directly affect the
financial staterments including financial reporting legislation (including related
companies legislation), distributable profits legislation, taxation legislation and
pension legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with these laws and
regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.

Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the
consequences of non-compliance could have a materiai effect on amounts or
disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of
fines or litgation. We identified the following areas as those most likely to have
such an effect: health and safety, recognising the nature of the Group's activities.
Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures to identify non-
compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the Directors and
other management and inspection of regutatory and legal correspondence, if any.
Therefore, if a breach of operational regulanions s not disclosed to us or evident
from relevant correspondence, an audit will next detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or
regulation

(Cwing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that
we may not have detected same material misstatements in the financial
statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in
accordance with auditing standards, For example, the further removed non-
compliance with laws and regulations is from the events and transactions
reflacted in the financial statements, the less likely the inherenty limited
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of
fraud, as these may involve collusicn, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit procedures
are designed to detect material misstazement. We are not responsible for
preventing non-compliance or fraud and cannot be expected to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations.
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7 We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual
Report and Accounts

The Directors are responsible for the other information presented in the Annual
Report together with the financial statements. Our opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the ather infarmation and, accordingly, we do not
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether, based on cur financial statements audit werk, the information therein is
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit
lknowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements in the other information.

Strategic Repart and Directors’ Report

Based solely on our work on the other information:

e we have not identified material misstatements in the Strategic Report
and the Directors' Report

. in cur opinien the information given in those reports for the financial
year 1§ consistent with the financial statements; and

. in our gpinion thase reports have been prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006.

8 We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are

required to report by exception

Under the Cempanies Act 2006, we are required to report to you if, in our

opinion;

. adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

. the parent Company financiat statements are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns; or

s cerain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not
made; or

. we have not received all the information and explanations we require
for our audit.

We have nothing to report in these respects.

9 Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set cut on page 34, the Directors are
responsible for: the preparation of the financial statements including being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal controt as they
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the
Group and parent Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going cancern basis of
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the parent
Caompany or to cease operations, ot have no realistic afternadve but o 4o so.

Auditor’s responsibiinies

Our objectives are 1o obtain reasenabie assurance about whether the financiai
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or errer, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit
conducted in accordance with 15As (UK) will always detect a material
misscatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the econemic decisions of users taken on the basis of the
financial statements,

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.

10 The purpose of our audit work and to whem we owe our
responsibilities

This repart is made salely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance
with Chapter 3 of Part }6 of the Companies Act 2006 and the terms of our
engagement by the Company. Cur audit waork has been undertaken so that we
might state to the Company’s members those matters we are required to state
to them in an auditor’s report, and the further matters we are required to state
them in accordance with the terms agreed with the Company, and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's
members, as 2 body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions

we have formed.

Andrew Campbell-Orde (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Audicor
Chartered Accountants

Gareway House

Tollgate

Chandlers Ford

Southampton

SO53 3TG

15 April 2021
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2020 2019
Underlying  Exceptional Underlying  Exceptional )
rading iwams Total trading irems i otal
Note £m m im m £m £m
Continuing cperations
Revenue 21 629 . 629 740 - 1.740
Cast of sales 2.1 {132) - (132) (317} - (317)
Graoss profit 497 - 497 1423 - 1,423
Staff expenses 2.1 (289) {14) (303) (459) (23 (482)
Marketing (30) - (30) (90) - {90)
Other operating expenses {254) | (253} (305) {(50) (355)
EBITDA™" 2.0 (76) {13) (89) 549 (73) 496
Depreciation. amortisation and impairment 34,32, 44 {243) {94) (337} (227) {38) (265)
Operating (loss)/profit {319 {107) (426) 342 (L 231
Finance incorme 23 4 - 4 5 47 52
Finance costs 23 (226) - (226) (§13) (37 (150)
{Loss)/profit before tax (541) {107 (648} 234 {101 133
Taxation 24 96 28 24 (67} 14 {53)
(Loss)/profit for the year froam continuing operations {4435) {79) (524} 167 (87) 80
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 2.5 - - - - 42 42
{Loss)/profit for the year'? (445) (4] (524) 167 (45) 122

EBITDA — this 15 defined as profit before finance income and costs, taxation, deprecation, amortisaten and impairment and s after toking account of ottebuzable profit after tax of joint

controfied entities
{LossHprofit for the yeor for 2020 ond 2019 is wholly attributable to the owners of the Cempany
Detals of exceprionsi items are provided in note 22
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2020 2019
Note £m m
(Loss)profit for the year (524) ta2
Other comprehensive income
Items that cannot be reclassified to the consolidated income statement
Equity investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value 5.1 (42) 3
Defined benefit plan remeasurement losses 52 {4 (2)
Income tax on items reiating to cempenents of ather comprehensive income 24 8 f
(38) p
ltems that may be reclassified to the consolidated income statement 4
Exchange differences on the retranslation of net assets of foreigh operations (5) 8n
Exchange differences relating to the net investment in foreign aperations - 20
Cash flow hedges - reclassified to profit and loss 23 - (2)
(3) (63)
Other comprehensive income for the year net of income tax (43) (61
Total comprehensive income for the year!" (567) 6l
Total comprehensive income attributable to owners of the Company arising from:
Continuing operations {567) 18
Discontinued operations - 43
(567) L]

Totol comprehensive mcome for the year for 2020 and 28319 is wholly attributable to the owners of the Company
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2020 2019
MNeore fm £m
Property, plant and equipment 3.t 2,353 2,263
Right-of-use assets 44 250 976
Goodwill and intangible assets 32 1,038 1ai2
Investments 5.1 19 63
Other receivables A |5 12
Deferred tax assets 24 103 60
Non-current assets 4,478 4386
Inventories 34 54 54
Trade and cther receivables 34 84 £24
Derivative financial assets 4 2
Tax receivable 26 -
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 155 160
Current assets 323 340
Total assets 4801 4726
Interest-bearing loans and boirowings 4.2 20 2
Lease liabilities 44 69 39
Amounts owed to parent undertaking 4.2 73 &
Derivative financial fiabilities i 2
Trade and other payables 34 471 443
Tax payable - 53
Provisions 35 9 5
Current liabilities 643 S6Q
Interest-bearing loans and bomowings 4.2 304 3!0w
Lease lmbilities 4.4 1,134 1,19
Parent company loans 42 1,311 758
Preference shares issued to parent company treated as liabilities 42 1,132 2120
Other payables 34 24 24
Provisians 35 95 92
Employee benefits 52 It 7
Deferred tax iizbifities 24 135 157
Non-current liabilities 5148 4,587
Total liabilities 5799 5,147
Net liabilities {988) 420
Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company o _7935) o T:ES—
Non-contralling interest 4 4
Totaf equity 45 (988)  (42D)
The financiaf statements ware approved by the Board of Directors on 15 Apnl 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:
MNicl Yarney Allrcalr Wing toanl
Chief Executive’ fﬁye / Chief Financial Officer
A i<
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For the 52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (201 9: 57 weeks ended 28 Decermber 2019}

Torat Naon-
Share Share Translation Hedging Retained parent  contrelling Totat
capital premim reserve reserve carmings equity interest eqLicy
Note £m £m im £m £m £m im £m
At 30 December 2018 ic 16 {12) 2 1618 1.634 5 i.639
Profit for the year - - - - 122 122 - 122
Other comprehensive income for
the year net of inceme tax - - 61) () 2 {61} - (61
Total comprehensive income for the year - - {61) ) 124 61 - 61
Shares issued - 30 - - - 30 - 30
Bonus issue of preference shares - - - - (2.117) (2117 - {2.117)
Equicy dividends 45 - - - - (56) (56) - (56)
Equity-settled share-based payments 46 - - - - 23 23 - 13
Dividends to non-controlling interest - - - - - - {1 (n
At 28 December 2019 10 46 (73) . {408) {425) 4 (421)
Loss for the year - - - - {524) (524) - (524)
Other comprehensive income for
the year net of income tax - - (5) - (38) (43) . (43)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (5) - {562) (567) - (567)
At 26 December 2020 45 10 46  (79) ; (970) (992) 4 (988)
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2020 2019
Note im £m
Cash flows from opcerating activitics
(Loss)fprofic for the year (524) 122
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment 3.1.32,44 337 265
Finance incoine 23 Q)] {(52)
Finance costs 23 226 F50
Taxation 2.4 (124) 53
Profit for the year from discontinued operations, net of tax 25 - {42)
(89) 436
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 2 -
Movements in working capital 45 22
Changes in provisions and other nen-current liabilities 3 5
(39 533
Tax paid (16) (73)
Net cash (outflow)inflow from operating activities (55) 460
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 2 t
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (308) (379)
Dsposal of discontinued operations, net of cash disposed of 25 - 92
Disposal of property, plant and equipment I 8
Grants received 53 " 41
Net cash autflow from investing activities {303) (237)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital - 30
Equity dividends paid 4.5 - (56)
Proceeds from borrowings 4.2 7 -
Repayment of borrowings - (791)
Proceeds from parent company loans 519 800
Capital repayment of lease fiabilities (16) (48}
Interest paid (165) (105)
Financing costs - {2
Settlement of interest rate swaps - 7
Dividends paid to non-cantrofiing interest - {1
Net cash inflow/{outflow) from financing activities ) 345
MNet {decrease)lincrease in cash and cash equivalenrgMmmwmwmm o (13)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4.1 160 o
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 8 (7)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4 155 160
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SECTION |
BASIS OF PREPARATION

52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (201 9 527 weeaks anded 28 Decembar 2019

1.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

Merlin Entertainments Limited (the Company) 1s a private company limited by shares which is incorporated in the United Kingdam and its registered office is Link
House, 25 West Street, Poole, Dorset, BHI5 |LD.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and approved by the Directors in accordance with international accounung standards in conformity with
the requirements of the Comparies Act 2006.

The Company continues to prepare its parent Company financial statements in accordance with Financial Reporung Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework
(FRS 101).

This section sets out the Group's accounting policies that relate to the financial statements as a whole. Where an accounting pelicy is specific to one note, the policy
is described in the note to which it relates. The accounting palicias have. unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these
consclidated financial statements and have been applied consistently by all subsidiaries and joint ventures,

The Group prepares its annual consolidated financial statements on a 52 or 53 week basis, These consolidared financial statements have been prepared for the
52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2619 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019). The consolidared financial statements are prepared con the historical cost basis except
for derivative financial instruments and certain investments which are measured at their fair value.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling.
All values are stated in £ million {£m) except where otherwise indicated.

Going concern

The Group reported a loss for the year of £524 million (20! 9: profit of £122 million) and generated operating cash outflows of £55 million {2019 inflows of

£460 miltionj. Notwithstanding net liabilities of £988 million as at 26 December 2020, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis. The Directors consider this to be appropriate for the reasons as set out below.

Caronavirus « COVID-19) pandemic
As at the date of approving these financial statements, the impact of COVID-19 on the Group's trading is continually being assessed and subject to rapid changes
outside of our control.

Currently approximately 60% of our attractions are open reflecting the gradual easing of governmentat restrictions as vaccine roll outs progress and virus transmission
rates reduce. While regional variations are anticipated, our ‘base case’ forecast is based on what we believe is a balanced approach that anticipates a gradual recovery
te more normalised trading conditions.

In this base case, extending up to the end of Q3 2022, we have made certain key assumptions. We have assumed that the roll out of coronavirus vaccines will not
eliminate the need for social distancing to remain for a substantial part of the review period, thereby reducing the capacity of same of our attractions during peak
periods. While we assume there are no further global lockdowns, we expect the ability of people to travel across borders will remain restricted.

In this situation ongoing Group revenues are projected to recover to approximately 80% of normal tevels by the end of 2021, and 85-90% of normal levels by mid
2022. As a result of the restructuring and business re-engineering activities undertaken in 2020, the impact of reduced revenues on Merlin's EBITDA and cash
generation is less marked, with a greater ability to adjust the cost base in line with the level of trading. YWe continue to take appropriate measures to maximise
available liquidity, for example by accessing government support where itis availlable.

Cur New Business Development capital expenditure plans include the completion of LEGOLAND New York and LEGOLAND Korea. Capital projects in respect of
new Midway attractions and new features at existing ateractions had been progressing towards completion when the COVID-19 pandemic caused our artractions to
close or not reopen at the start of the 2020 trading season. These projects are now substantially complete and accordingly we expect to see the commarcial benefic
of these as the atrracnons open. Essential capital expenditure to ensure the health and safety of our guests and staff at exisung attractions will continue.

The Directors have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period from the date of approval of these financial statements up to the end of Q3 2022 which indicate that,
under the base case, the Group will have sufficient funds to meet its liabilities as they fall due. The Group continues to have access to a revolving credic facility (RCF)
under the Mation J¥co Limited Group's financing facilities (see below). We have seen cash outflows since the end of 2020 reflecting the normal seasonality of trading
combined with ongoing capital investment and the impact of certain attractions being closed as a result of COVID-19.

In this base case, there would be no breach of lending facilities taking into account the terms of the covenant calculations. There are no significant restrictions on the

ability of the Company to move cash around the Group, and no material capital repayments of debt falling due within the farecast period, with the next maturity of
facilities being in respect of €500 million of 7.0% senior secured notes (issued by a Mouon [Veo Limited Group company) due 2025,
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i.f BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Dewnside scenario
it remains very difficult to assess how the COVID-19 situation will evalve. The Directors believe the base case scenaric above is reasonable, assuming as it does the
continuation of certain restrictions in the near term, both on the ability of citizens to move freely and aiso on the capacity of our attractions.

However, it is possible that exisung site closures may continue for a longer period, that attracuons currently open may be forced to close again, and/or that the
recovery profile is slower than in the base case.

The Directors have therefore prepared a more severe downside scenario that madels all attractions in the UIC and Europe being closed throughout April and May
2021 and an even slower recovery is experienced in the London division of the Midway Attractons Operating Group. In this sicuation, although the Group's
currently available hquidity would remain positive throughout the review period, the Group’s liquidity headroom would be significantly reduced. Were the Group to
then require access to further liquidity, this could be sought through cash injections from the consortium of investors in the Company’s ultmate parent company
Mation JVco Limited, and/or the extension of further lending facilities. Given Merlin's history of cash generation and the successful issue of debt securities during the
CCVID- 19 pandemic, we would expect to be able to raise such funds as were necessary. However, there is no guarantee that such funds will be available.

Consistent with the base case, under this scenario there would be no breach of lending facilities taking into account the terms of the covenant calculations.

As noted above. the situaton is constantly changing and subject to unforeseeable developments, Therefore, it remains possible that further significant negative
developments may arise. over and above the scenarios that have been modelled.

Access to wider Group facilives

The base case forecasts and downside sensitivities noted above partly depend on the ultimate parent company, Motion [Veo Limited, not seeking repayment of the
preference shares held as debt and parent company loans, which at 26 December 2020 amounted to £2.132 million and £1.3!1 million respectively. and making
available £150 million of cash currently invested in its name. Motion JVco Limited has indicated its intention not wo seek repayment of the amounts due at the balance
sheet date for the period cavered by the forecasts, and if needed make available £150 million of cash. Motion |Veo Limited has also indicated that the £400 million
RCF noted above is solely available for the Group and will not be used for any other purpose. As with any company piacing reliance on other group entities for
financial support, the Directors acknowledge that there can be no certainty thac this support will continue although, at the date of approval of these financial
statements, they have no reason to believe that it will not do so. Reflecting the possibility of further significant negative developments as nated above, Motion |Vco
Limited itself also discloses a material uncertainty in relation te geing concern in its consolidated 2020 financial stacements,

Based on these indications the Directors believe that it remains appropriate to prepare the financial staternents on a going concern basis.

However, the circumstances surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic represent a continuing material uncertaincy that may cast significant doubt on the Group and
Company's ability to continue as a going cancern and, therefore, to conunue realising its assets and discharging ics liabilities in the normal course of business. The
financial statements do not include any adjustments that would result from the basis of preparation being inappropriate.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of Merkn Entertainments Limited and its subsidiaries at the end of each reporting period and
include its share of its joint ventures’ results using the equity method.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns through its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control comrmences until the date that control ceases.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions, have been eliminated.

Where subsidiaries enter inte financial guarantee contracts to guarantee the indebtedness of other companies within the Group. these are considered to be
insurance arrangements and accounted for as such, In this respect, the subsidiary concerned treats the guarantee centract as a contingent hability untl such time as it
becomes probable that it will be required to make a payment under the guarantee.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the
setttement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in equity as qualfying ner investment hedges.

The results and financial position of those Group companies that do not have a Sterling functional currency are translated into Sterling as follows:
*  Assets and liabilities are translated at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period.
* Income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates during the period.

* Al resulting exchange differences are recognised in equity in the translation reserve.
The reporting date foreign exchange rates by major currency are provided in note 4.3.
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I.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The
accounting policy for each type of financial instrument is included within the relevant note.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, unless otherwise noted, and are subsequentiy measured at amorused cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset 1s derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or the Group
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity,

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, plus. in the case of other financial liabilities, directly attributable transaction costs. Other financial liabilities,
primarily the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings and parent company loans and preference shares, are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are
measured at fair value through profit or loss and are held on the statement of financial position at fair value. A financial liability is derecognised when the Group's
obligations are discharged, expire or are cancelied. Finance payments associated with financial Habilities are dealt with as part of finance costs.

An equity instrument is any contract that has a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilies. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly in equity.

Where financial instruments censist of 2 combination of debt and equity, the Group will assess the substance of the arrangement in place and decide how to attribute
values to each taking into consideration the policy definitions above,

Judgements and estimates
The preparation of financial statements requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of estimares
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabllities, ncome and expenses, Actual results may differ from these estmates.

Judgements

Management considers the following areas to be the judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. They are

explained in more detail in the related notes:

* sefud e of frangs fhote 2 2) - where brands have been recognised as part of an acquisivon. they have been assessed as having indefinite useful lives and
management have considered rhat this judgement remains appropriate.

* Dacdacllan

it rewews pacie 3 3t - the level at which goodwill is initially allocated and thereafter monitored.

* loase clhgancios note 445 - IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with the options to extend or terminate a fease, if
the lessee were reasonably certain to exercise that option. Where a lease includes the option for the Group te extend the lease term, the Group makes a
judgement as to whether it is reasonably certain that the option will be taken.

Estimates
Management considers the following areas to invoive a degree of estimation uncertainty:

. th.‘lL-‘\VJE\;.}‘P‘ Fe

and inparment incte 3 3¢ - estimation of discounted cash flows when calculating the value in use of assets.

* Taxgion incie 2 4) - recognition of deferred tax balances and accounting for tax risks.
* Provmans inte 350 - estimated outflow to settle the obligation and, where relevant, the appropriate discount and inflation rates o apply.

* nterest-becn nute 5 7, - expected period of berrowings when calculating the effective interest rate on those borrowings.

* o feise ol ; 44, - estimation of the discount rate used in the calculation of certain lease liabilities.

: - earmings multiple whan calculating the farr value of investments.
s fncte 3 21 - assumed discount rate, inflation rate and mortality when valuing defined benefit liabilities.

While these areas do not present a significant risk resulting in a material adjustment. they are areas of focus for management.
New standards and interpretations

A full fist of new accounting standards and interpretations that have been implemented in the year, including those which have had no significant impact, can be found
in note 5.5,

48



MERLIN ENTERTAINIENTS (IMITED

NOTES TO THE ACCCUNTS

SECTION 2

RESULTS FOR THE YEAR

52 weels ended 26 December 2020 (2019: 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2019

2.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Segmental information

ANNUAL REFOR™ AND ACCOUNTS 2020

An operating segment, as defined by IFRS 8 'Cperating segments’. is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues
and incur expenses. The Group is managed through its three Operating Groups, which form the operating segments on which the information shown below 1s
prepared. The Group determines and presents operating segments based on the information that is provided internally to the Chief Executive Officer (CEC), who is
the Group's chief operating decision maker, and the Board. An operating segment’s cperating results are reviewed regularly by the CEO to make decisions about
resources to be allocated ro the segment and assess its performance.

Resort
Midway  LEGOLAND Theme Segment Other Exceptional

Attractions Parks Parks resufcs items jtems Total
Continuing aperations '’ fm £m £m £m £m im fm
2020
Visitor revenue 216 149 128 493 - - 493
Accommadation revenue - 62 38 100 - - 100
Other revenue 12 17 3 32 4 - 36
Revenue(? 228 228 149 625 4 . 629
EBITDA® (8) an 8 21 (55) (13 (89)
Depreciation and amortisation {112) (64) (54 (230) (13) - (243)
Impairment - - - - - {94) (94)
Operating loss™ (120) (85) (46) (251) (68) {107 (426)
2019
Visitar revenue 452 479 304 1,435 - - 1435
Accommodation revenue - | 64 73 237 - - 237
Other revenue 22 26 Il 59 9 - 68
Revenue' 474 649 388 1,736 9 - 1,740
EBITDA® 240 243 128 &It {42) (73) 496
Depreciation and amortisation (103) (60) {52) (215 {12) - (227)
Impairment - - - - - (38) (38)
Operating profit’®! 137 183 76 396 {54) (o 231

The segmental nfermouon excludes the ocmities of the Austrolion ski reserts which have been dossified as discorbrued operations fnote 2 5)

2 Revenue is disnggregated inta the three cotegones described below

Other items indlude Merlin Magic Making, head offiece costs and varous other costs, which cannot be directly attributed to the reportable segments

Details of excephional itemns are provided in pote 2 2

Performance 15 measiured based on segment EBITDA, as included ininternal management reports Segment operating profitf{loss) is included for information purposes,
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2.1 FROFIT BEFORE TAX (conTiNUED)

Geographical areas
While each Operating Group is managed on a worldwide basis, part of our strategy is to diversify geographically across the four regions shown below. The
information presented is based on the geographical locations of the visitor attractions concerned.

Cecgraphical informauon

Non-current Nonw«current

Ravenues assets Revenues assers

2020 2020 2019 2019
£m £m fm £m

United Kingdom 222 t410 560 1,450
Continental Europe 169 1,095 429 1,062
North America 129 i.031 479 974
Asia Pacific 109 820 272 777
629 4356 1,740 4263

Deferred tax (note 24) 103 60
Investments (note 5.1) 19 63
4478 4,386

Revenug

Revenue represents the amounts received {excluding VAT and similar taxes) in the areas set out below and which have been disaggregated in the segmental
information presented above. VWhen accounung for revenue, Merlin makes an assessment, considering the control principles of IFRS |5, as to whether parties
involved in providing goods or services to a customer are acting as a principal (if they control delivery to the customer) or, if they are arranging for those goods or
services 1o be provided by the other party, as an agent.

*  Visitor revenue - represents admissions tickets, retall, food and beverage sales and other commercial offerings such as photos and games experiences inside a
Mertin attraction. Tickets, annual passes and other services can be bought in advance, generally online, in which case these advanced revenues are held in
deferred revenue until the visitor uses those tickets or services. Visitor revenue is therefore recognised when the visitor enters the artraction. Revernue from
annual passes and other tickets that entitle a customer to continued visits over a period of ime is deferred and then recognised over the pericd that the pass s
valid. Retail and food and beverage revenue. along with other similar commercial offerings, is recognised at point of sale.

*  Accommodation revenue - represents overnight stay and corference room revenue along with food and beverage revenue earned within our hotels and other
accommeodation offerings. Accommodation revenue s recagnised at the time when a customer stays at Merlin accommodation.

*  Other revenue - represents sponsorship, function, management and service contract revenue along with other sundry items. Sponsorship revenue is recognised
over the relevant contract term, Function revenue is recognised at the time of the event. From time to time, the Group also enters into contracts for attraction
development, which 1s recognised as performance obligations under the contract are met. Service contract revenue in 2020 and 2019 is not material.

Cost of sales
Cost of sales of £132 mullion (2019: £317 milfion) represents variable expenses (excluding VAT and similar taxes) incurred from revenue generating activities. Retail
inventory, food and beverage consumables and costs associated with the delivery of accommodation are the principal expenses included within this category.

Operating expenses
Staff numbers and costsy
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including Directors) during the year, analysed by category, was as follows;

Contiruing operations 2020 019

Operations 11,509 19,106

Attraction management and cencral administration 2,090 2,196
o 13596 21302
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2.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUED)

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

ANNUAL RFPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

2020 2019

Centinuing cperations fm £m
Woages and salaries 304 393
Share-based payments {note 4.6} - 23
Social security costs 37 53
Other pension costs I 13
Government support (49) -
303 482

The Group has accessed government support measures in the geographies in which it operates, including employee furlough schemes. This funding meets the

definition of a government grant and the income recognised in the period in relation to these schemes was £4% million, primarily in the UK. Austraha, and Germany.
The grants are recognised at fair value when the Group has reasonable assurance that it will comply with any conditions attached to the grant and that the grant will
be received. The funding received 15 included within the cash flows from operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Directors’ ramuneranon

In 2020 the employment costs of the Directors of the Company have been borne by Mouon Acquisinion Linted {the parent company) and Merlin Entertainments

Greup Limited for their services to the Group as a whole (2019 Merlin Entertainments Group Limited).

2020 019

£m im

Directors' remuneration 1.1 23
Amounts recevable under long term incentive schemes - 52
Conuibutions to money purchase pension schemes 0.2 0.2
Compensation for loss of office - 02
1.3 79

The aggregate of remuneration and amounts recewvable under long term incentive schemes of the highest paid Director was £0.6 millicn (2019 £4.4 million), and

Company pension contributions of £0.1 million (204 9: £0.1 mullion).

2020 2019
Number of Directors with retirement benefits accruing in respect of money purchase schemes | |
Number of Directors who exerased share options - 2
Number of Directors in respect of whose qualifying services were received or recaivable under
long term incentive schemes - 2
Relaied party transacuchs with key management parsonnel
The remuneration of key management, comprising the members of the Executive Committee, was as folfows:
2020 2019
£m £m
Key management ermnoluments including social security costs 54 226
Conuibutions to meney purchase pension schemes 0.2 02
Share-based payments and other related payments - 68
- ” ™
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2.1 PROFIT BEFORE TAX (CONTINUEL)
ALI('\[O! ‘S PnAnSrATon
2020 2019
£m m
Audit of these financia statements 17 I5
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries 04 04
Orther assurance services 0. 03
Services relating to corparate finance transactions 02 0.2
24 2.4

Orthier operating expanscs

In addition 1o the employee furlough schemes noted above, governments worldwide introduced a number of other support measures that the Group accessed.
These totalled £8 million and were offset against other operating expenses in the income statement. The largest of these, totaling £4 million, related to arrangements
whereby the government funding provided suppert for an element of the fixed costs of the refevant business. The funding received 1s included within the cash flows

from operaring activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows,

2,2 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Accounting policy

Due to their nature, certain one-off and non-trading items can be classified separately as exceptional items in order to draw them to the attention of the reader, In

the judgement of the Directors this presentation shows the underlying performance of the Group more accurately.

Exceptional items
The following items are exceptional and have been shown separately on the face of the consolidated income statement.

2020 2819
£m £m

Within staff expenses:
Productivity and efficiency activities' 14 -
Transaction costs' - 23
Within other operating expenses:
Productivity and efficiency activicies''! | 7
Transaction costs™ {2) 43
Exceptional items included within EBITDA T T 13 73
Within depreciation, amortisation and impairment: T
Impairment charges”’ 44 38
Exceptional items included within operating (loss)/profit 107 I
Within finance income an;:‘f_;;s[s o o
Foreign exchange gam”" - (47}
Charges incurred on the transaction in respect of the €780/$400 million notes®’ - 7
Exceptio nal items before income tax o - o 107 ol
Income tax credit on exceptional items abave T {(28) B (14)
Exceptional items included within continuing operations o 79 87
Exceptionaf items included within discontinued aperations (note 2.5) o . - (42)
Exceptional items for the year o o T 79 45
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2.2 EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS (CONTINUED)

v Certam one-off operatronal costs have been incurred in respect of productivty and efficiency related actvives They mainly relote to changes made 10 our organisational structures (1 dtractions
and support funchons, primardy m response to the COVID-1 9 pandemic n 2020, together with the completion of long term productivty initatives commenced m previous years They are
separately presented as they ore not port of the Group’s underlymg operating expenses

= Transaction tosts withn staff expenses in 2019 represented share-based bayment and bonus costs thot were ether accelerated or otherwise specifically incurred i connection with the sale of the
Company to the investor consorbum in November 2019 Within other operating expenses the costs relote to the sale of the MEL Group to the investor consornum in late 2019 in 2020 @ net
credit of £2 mullion has been recognised os final casts were calculated

imparment chorges have been made in the year of £78 milhon (2019, £32 millhan) in property, plant and equipment and £16 million (2019 £6 nullon) i nght-of-use ossers, in respect of certan
of the Group's attractions. The discounted cash flows that underpm our value in use calculanons reflect our current busmess plans which hove been updated for factors wcuding the short tern
mpoct of COVID-19 in particular, this includes consideravon of LEGOLAND New York where the opeming has been deloyed and where we are expecting shorter term headwinds, hmiting our
obility ta faunch the attraction and build momenium in an environment where social distancing may well be in operetion and an uncertein econermic environment will preval They are separately
presented as they are not part of the Group's underlying depreciation charge

v Excebtional foreign exchange gans m 2019 resulted from forergn exchange exposures on certain finandng orrangements with parent companies entered into s a result of the tronsaction in
November 2019, untl such fareign exchonge exposures could be hedged Ordinanty the Group's structure 15 set-up 10 mnimise foreign exchange exposures and therefore there would not be
similar exposures in the future that could result in such movements. They were therefore separately presented as they were not part of the Group’s underlying finance costs

S Chatges incurred in 2019 primanly related to o one-off charge of £36 millken i order 1o repay the €700 milion seven year notes shortly after the transaction in November 2019 As o resuit of
the transaction the Gronp was required 1o repdy bonds that were otherwise expected to be lung tern finanong and therefore eary settlement of this bond was o one-off marter relating 7o the
ransaction. The Group does not have a trock 1ecord of incurnng material costs ossociated with early serdement of bands as part of its normal finanang orrangements Tins charge was terefore
separately presented as it was not port of the Group's underling finance costs

2.3 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Accounting policies

income and costs

Finance income comprises interest income fram financial assets and investments, applicable foreign exchange gains and gamns on hedging instruments that are
recognised in the income statement. Finance costs comprise interest expense, finance charges on finance leases, applicable foreign exchange losses and losses
on hedging instruments that are recognised in the income statement. Interest income and interest expense are recognised as they accrue, using the effective
interest method.

Capimalisatien of borrowing costs
Where assers take a substantial time to complete, the Group capitalises borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of

those assets.

Finance income

2020 2019
Continuing aperations im £m
Underlying trading
In respect of assets not held at fair value
Interest income 4
In respect of ossets held at fair vaiue
Cash flow hedges ~ reclassified to profit and loss"! - 2
Other
MNet foreign exchange gain - 2
4 s
Exceptional items T
Gther
Net foreign exchange gan (note 2.2) - 47
4 52

As part of the refinancing uadertaken during 2018, the Group restructured 1s mterest rote swaps and was pard o net £5 mithon to cash-settle certamn swops The swaps hod previously been hedge
accounted through equity and £2 milkon was recycled through the mcome statement w the perod to 28 December 2019
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2.3 FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS (CONTINUED)

Finance costs

2020 2019
Contimuing operations £m £m
Underlying trading
In respect of liabilities not held at fair value
Interest expense on lease liablities 61 51
Interest expense on financial Fabities measured at amortised cost 22 42
Interest expense on parent company loans &G 3
Interest expense on preference shares treared as debe 25 13
Capiralsed borrowing costs (18) (%)
Other interest expense 2 3
Other
Net foreign exchange loss 4 -
224 113
Exceptional items
In respect of liabilites not held at fair value
Charges incurred on the transaction in respect of the €700/$400 mdfion notes (note 2.2) - 37
226 150

Capitalised borrowing costs amounted to £ 18 million in 2020 (201 9: £9 million), with a capitalisation rate of 4.4% (201 9 3.8%). Tax relief on capitalised borrowing
costs amounted to £5 mitlion in 2020 (201 9. £2 nulticn)

2.4 TAXATION

Accounting policies
The tax charge for the year is recognised in the income statement and the statement of comprehensive income, according to the accounting treatment of the related
transaction. The tax charge comprises both current and deferred rax.

Current tax Is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates substantively enacted at the end of the reperting period, and any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided on certain temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financ:al reporting purposes and taxation purposes
respectively. The following temporary differences are not provided for: the initial recogninon of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they will
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tx provided is based on the expected manner of realisaton or settlement of the carrying amount
of assets and liabsfities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

After considering forecast future profits. deferred tax assets are recognised where it s probable that future taxable profits will be available against which those assets
can be utilised. This assessment is made after considering a number of factors, including the Group's future trading expectations.

Provisions for uncertain tax positions are recognised when the Group has a present obfigation as a result of a past event and management. judge that it is probable that
there will be a furure outflow of economic benefits to settle that obligation. Uncertain tax positions are assessed and measured on an issue by 1ssue basis within the
jurisdictions that we operate using management’s estimate of the most likely outcome. A combination of in-house tax experts, previous experience and professional firms
is used when assessing uncertain tax positions.
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2.4 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Recognised in rhe infome sratement

2020 2019

Continuing operations fm fm
Current tox
Current year (56) 62
Adjustment for prior periods (1) 2
Total current income ta::% (68) 64
Deferred tax
Qngination and reversal of temporary differences (56) (19)
Changes in tax rate (2) ()
Adjustment for prior periods - |
Teral deferred rax (58) fhh
Total tax (credit)fexpense in income statement (124} 53
Reconchanon of effecuve tax rate

2020 2020 2019 2019
Continuing oberations % £m % im
{Loss)/profit before tax (648) 133
Income tax using the UK domestic corporation tax rate 19.0% (123)  190% 25
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (30) 4
Non-deductible expenses [ 21
Income not subject to tax (2) {12)
Effact of changes in tax rate (2) {2)
Unrecognised temporary differences 37 |4
Adjustment for prior petiods (o) 3
Total tax (credit)/expense in income statement 19.1% (124) 398% 53

The effective tax rate {ETR) reflects updates to the headline UK rate, including the effect on the measurement of deferred tax.

The difference between the reparted ETR of 19.1% and the UK standard tax rate of 13.0% is largely attributable to the Group's geographic mix of profits and the
benefit derived from the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security {CARES) Act in the USA, offset by the Group's inability to abtain relief for interest
expenses and the impact of non-deductible preference share dividends. The Group’s geographic mix of profits includes the effect of the exceptional impairment of
assets held by overseas Group companies. VWhen the effect of the exceptional items is removed the underlying ETR is 17.7%.

The Group has benefited from certain reliefs available in the CARES Act in the US. This allows cperating losses generated in 2020 to be carried back five years. As
the corporate tax rate was higher in the earlier years the Group has obtained a permanent benefit from the carry back

Significant factors impacting the Group's futire ETR include the Group's geographic mix of profits, the ability to obtain effective relief for the interest expense and
changes to local or interngronal tax laws. Revisions to the allocation of taxing rights, as envisaged in the QECD's propesals in relation to Pillar One and Pillar Twa

coutd have a matenal impact on the Group's ETR.

The impact of the European Commission's finding relating to the UK's Conwrelled Foreign Company rules is further detaded in note 5.4.
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2.4 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Recegnised directly in equity throngh the statement of other comprehensive income

ARMUAL REPQR™T AND ACCOUNTS 2020

2020 2019
im £m
Equity investments at FVOCT « net change in fair value 7 -
Remeasurement losses an defined benefit plans (1} (1)
Total tax credit in statement of other comprehensive income (8) (1)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recogrised delerred wax assets and liabil:bies
Deferred tax assets and liabiiies are attribuwable to the following:
Assets Liabilicies Net
2020 2019 2020 2019 2000 2019
£m £m £m £m fm £m
Property, plant and equipment 45 214 (133) (131 {88) {107)
Right-of-use assets / lease abilities 31 31l (3 (3) 18 28
Orther short term temporary differences 34 27 {2 (2) 32 25
Intangible assets - - {49) {46) (49} {486)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 45 3 - - 45 3
Tax assers/{Jiabilities) 155 85 (187) (182) 32) (57)
Set-off tax (52) (25) 52 25 - -
Net tax assets/{liabilities) 103 60 (135) {157) (32) {37)

Gther short term temporary differences primarily relate to financial assets and liabilities and various accruals and prepayments.

Set-off tax is separately presented to show deferred tax assets and habilities by category before the effect of offsetting these amounts in the statement of financral

position where the Group has the right and intention to offset these amounts.

Movement in deferred tax during the current year

Recognised Effect of

29 Disposal of in other movements 26
[December subsidiary Recognised  comprehensive in foreign December

2019 undertakings in income income exchange 2020

£m £m £m £m £m fm

Property. plant and equipment (187) - 19 - - {88)
Right-of-use assets / lease liahifities 28 - - - B 28
Other short term temporary differences 25 - 7 - - 32
Intangible assets (46} - (2) . (] (49)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 3 - 34 8 - 45
Net tax assets/(liabilities) o 97) : 58 8 TR

{n 2020 movements recognised in the income statement were princpally due to the exceptional impairment of assets held by overseas group companies and an

increase in losses recognised for deferred tax,
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14 TAXATION (CONTINUED)

Movament in detorod wwx cunng dhe provous yoar

ANM AL REZPORT AND ACTCQUMTE 2020

Recognised Effect of
30 Disposal of in other movements 28
December subsidiary Recognised  comprehensive in foreign Decamber
2018  undertakings in income incame aexchange 2019
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment {3 | i8 - 5 {107)
Right-of-use assets / lease liakilivies 4} B (13) - - 28
Other short term temporary differences 23 - 4 | (&)} 25
{ntangible assets (49 - | - H {46)
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 2 “ i - - 3
Net tax assets/(liabilities) {FE4) | i | 4 {97)

In 2019 movements recognised in the income statement were principally due 10 deprediation in the UK and the USA exceeding tax allowances utilised. This was

partilly offset by a reduction in the iease liabilities recogmised for deferred tax.

Unrecognised deferred tax assets

2020 2019
£m £m
Property, plant and eguipment 2 2
Right-of-use assets / lease liabilities 19 -
Other short term temporary differences 40 31
Tax value of loss carry-forwards 82 66
143 99

Net unrecognised tax assets

The unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to loss carry-forwards include £5 miltion (2019 £2 mdkon} expiring in G-5 years and £20 million (2019 £2 nuthon)
expiring in 6-10 years. The remaining losses and other timing differences do not expire under current tax legislation.

The nature and location of the tax losses carried forward are such that there is currently no expectation that the majority of the losses will be utilised.
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2.5 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

At the start of 2019 the Company progressed negotiations to seli its Austradian ski resorts at Muunt Hutham and Falls Creek to Vail Resorts Inc. (Vail).
Cn 21 February 2319 the Company entered into an agreement to sell the resorts to Vail for a cash consideration of A$174 milfion. The transaction was subject
to the compietion of relevant regulatory filings and completed on 5 April 2019.

The tables below show the results of the discontinued operations which are included in the Group income statement and Group cash flow statement respectively.

Income statement

2019
£m
Costs to sell (1))
Profit after tax on disposal of Australiar ski resorts 43
Total profit after tax of discontinued operations 42
The profit after tax on disposal of the Group's Australian sk resorts is made up as follows:
£
Net book value of assets disposed (29}
Consideration received in cash 93
Taxatwon {21}
Profit after tax on disposal of Australian ski resorts 43
Cash flow statement
2019
im
Net cash flow from investing activities 92
92
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3.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Accounting policies
Property, plant and equipment (PPE) are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment {osses.

Where components of an item of PPE have different useful lives, they are accounted for separately.

The initial cost of PPE includes all costs incurred in bringing the asset into use and includes external costs for the acquisition, construction and commissioning of
the asset, internal project costs {primarily scaff expenses) and capitalised borrowing costs.

Assets acquired through tusiness combinations

At the time of a business combination PPE is separately recognised and valued. Given the specialised nature of the PPE acquired, fair values are calculated on a
depreciated replacement cost basis. The key estimates are the replacement cost, where industry specific indices are used to restate original historic cost; and
depreciation, where the total and remaining economic useful lives are considered, together with the residual value of each asset. The total estimated lives apphed
are cansistent with chose set out below. Residual values are based on industry specific indices.

Mew sites
Capital expenditure on new attractions includes all the costs of bringing the items of PPE within that attraction into use ready for the opening of the attraction.
Pre-opening costs are only capitalised to the extent they are required to bring PPE into its working condition. Other pre-opening costs are expensed as incurred.

Existng sites

Subsequent expenditure on items of PPE in our existing estate can be broadly split into two categories:

*  Capital expenditure which adds new items of PPE to an attraction or which extends the operational life, or enhances existing irems, of PPE is accounted for as
2n addition to PPE, Examples of such expenditure include new rides or displays and enhancements to rides or displays. which increase che appeal of our
attractions to visitors,

*  Expenditure which is incurred to mainein the items of PPE in a safe and useable state and to maintain the usefui life of items of PPE is charged to the income
statement as incurred. Examples of such expenditure include regular servicing and maintenance of buildings, rides and displays 2nd ongoing repairs to items
of PPE,

Deprecation

Land is not depreciated. Assets under constructien are not depreciated until they come into use, when they are transferred to buildings or plant and equipment as
appropriate. Depreciation is then charged to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of PPE. Asset lives
for plant and equipment vary depending on the nature of the asset, from short life assets such as IT assets, up to long term infrastructure assets. No residual values
are typically considered.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Asset class Depreciation policy

Freeholdflong leasehold buildings 50 years

Leaseheld buildings 20 — 50 years {dependent on life of lease)
Plant and equipment 5 — 30 years
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3.1 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT | CONTINUED)}

Property, plant and equipment

AMMNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUMNTS 2020

land and Plant and Under
buildings equipment  construction Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 30 December 2018 1421 f.6l1l 225 3257
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings {16y {3%) (1) (52)
Additions 25 24 362 4§l
Disposals (i {43) (1) (55)
Transfers 71 106 (177) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchange {48} (43) (13) {104}
Balance at 28 December 2019 442 1,620 395 3457
Additions - i3 328 34}
Disposals (17} {75) (2) (94}
Transfers 31 44 (75) -
Effect of movements in foreign exchangs 13 i4 (12) 15
Balance at 26 December 2020 F469 166 634 379
Depreciaton
At 30 December 2018 334 754 - 1,088
Disposai of subsidiary undertakings (3 (L4} - (I
Depreciation for the year 48 121 - 169
Impairment 13 13 & 32
Disposals (1N (36) - (47)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange (19 (21 - (31)
Balance at 28 December 2019 371 817 6 1194
Depreciation for the year 49 129 - 178
Impairment 12 I 55 78
Disposals {16) (75) - (g1
Effect of movements in fereign exchange - 7 - 7
Balance at 26 December 2020 416 889 &l 1,366
Carrying amounts
At 29 December 2018 | 087 857 225 2,169
Ar 28 December 2019 1,071 803 389 2263
At 26 December 2020 - 1053 727 573 2353

Substantially all of the disposals in 2020 relate to the arigmal cost of property, plant and equipment that was no jonger in use.

Depreciation is calcutated in line with the policy stated previously.

During the year the Group reviews useful economic lives and tests PPE for impairment in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, as referred to in note 3.3.
Impairment charges have been made in the year of £78 million (2019, £32 million). The discounted cash flows chat underpin our value in use calculations reflect our
current business plans which have been updated for factors including the short term impact of COVID-15. In particular, this includes consideration of LEGOLAND

New York where the opening has been delayed and where we are expecting shorter term headwinds, limiting our ability to launch the attraction and buiid
momentum n an environment where social distancing may well be in operation and an uncertain econamic enviranment will prevail.
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kN PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (cONTINUED;

Capitat comrmitments

At the year end the Group has a number of outstanding capital commitments in respect of capital expenditure at its existing attractions (including accommaodation),
as well as for Midway attractions and LEGOLAND parks that are under construction. These commitments are expected to be settled within two financial years of
the reporting date. These amount to £143 million (2019 £220 milifon} for which no provision has been made.

3.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Accounting policies

Goodwl! represents the difference between the cost of an acquisition and the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired less any contingent Kabiities

assumed. Goodwill 15 stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwilt is allocated to groups of cash-generating units and is not amortised but is
tested annually for impairment. la respect of joint ventures, the carrying amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the jeint venture.

Where they arise on acquisition, brands have been valued based on discounted future cash flows using the relief from royalty method, including amounts into
perpetuity. Currently all such brands held are assessed as having indefinite useful economic lives. This assessment is based upon the strong historical performance of
the brands over a number of economic cycles, the ability to roll out our brands, and the Directors’ intentions regarding the future use of brands. The Directors feel
this is a suitable policy for a brands business which invests in 2nd maintains the brands, zand foresee no technological developments or competitor actions which
would put a finite life on the brands. The brands are tested annually for impairment.

Expenditure on internally generated goodwill and brands is recognised in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Other intangble assets comprise software licences, sponsorship rights and other contract based intangible assets. They are amortised on a straight-line basis from the
date they are available for use. They are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment |osses.

The estimated useful lives of other intangible assets are as follows:

Asset class Estimated useful life
Licences Life of licence (up to 15 years)
Ozher intangible assets Relevant contractual peried (up to 30 years)
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3.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Goodwill 2nd intangible asscts

ANMUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Intangible assets

Goodwil Brands Gther Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost
At 30 December 2018 1,002 200 37 1239
Disposal of subsidiary undertakings (1) - - ()
Additions - - 14 4
Disposals - - (h (h
Effact of movements in foreign exchange {25) (5) (n [ERD)
Balance at 28 December 2019 976 195 49 1220
Additions - - g 9
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 18 4 - 22
Balance at 26 December 2020 994 199 58 1,251
Amortsation ) .
At 30 December 2018 £79 13 1% 21
Amortisation for the year - . 2 2
Disposals - - h (1)
Effects of movements in foreign exchange {3) - (1 (4}
‘Balance at 28 December 2019 176 E 19 208
Amartisation for the year - - 4 4
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 2 - (h t
Balance at 26 December 2020 178 13 22 213
Cattying amounts
At 29 December 2018 823 187 18 1028
At 28 December 2019 800 182 30 1,012
At 26 December 2020 8lé 186 36 1,038

Intangible assets are tested for impairment in accordance with the Group's accounting policy, as referred ta in note 3.3. As a result of these tests, no impairment

charges have been rade in the year (2019, £nif).

Goodwaiil

Goodwill is allocated to the Group's operating segments which represent the lowest level at which it s monitored and tested for impairment. It s denominated in

the retevant local currencies and therefore the carrying value is subject to movements in foreign exchange rates.

2020 2019

£m £m

Midway Attractions 562 557
LEGOLAND Parks 42 414
Resort Theme Parks 212 202
h 816 200
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3.2 GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Brands
The Group has vatlued the following brands at the time of those brands being acquired. They all have indefinite useful economic lives. They are ali denominated in
their relevant lecal currencies and therefore the carrying value is subject to movements in foreign exchange rates.

2020 2019
im £m
Midway Attractions

Madame Tussauds 28 28
SEA LIFE 17 té
Lenden Eye 10 10
Other 8 8
63 62

Resort Theme Parks o
Gardaland Resort 52 49
Alton Towers Resor 32 32
THORPE PARK 15 5
Heide Park 12 12
Other 12 12
123 120
£:1.3 182

The Madame Tussauds brand value is predominantly related to the London attraction but includes value identified with the other Madame Tussauds attractions chat
existed when the brand was acquired. Similarly the SEA LIFE brand relates to the portfolio of SEA LIFE attractions that existed when the brand was acquired. The
London Eye, Gardaland Resort, Alton Towers Resart, THORPE PARK and Heide Park brands all arise from those specific visitor attractions.

33 IMPAIRMENT TESTING

Accounting policies
The carying amounts of the Group’s goodwill, intangible assets, PPE and right-of-use (ROU) assets are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to determine whether
there is any indication of impawrment. If any such indication exists or if the asset has an indefinite life, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated.

The process of impairment tesung is 1o estimate the recoverable amount of the assets concerned, and recognise an impairment loss whenever the carrying amount
of those assets exceeds the recoverable amouns. Impairment testing is performed first at the individual CGU fevel without goodwill, with any impairment loss

recognised as required. Impairment testing for goodwill is then applied to the collection of CGUs to which the goodwill relates.

The level at which the assets concerned are reviewed varies as follows:

Asset

Goodwill Goadwill is reviewed at an Operating Group level. being the relevant grouping of cash-generating units (CGUs) at which the benefir of such
goodwill arises. A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that generates largely independent cash inflows, being the Group's
individual attractions.

Brands Brands are reviewed at an individual CGU level.

PPE PPE is reviewed at an individual CGU level, being the Group's individual attractions.

ROU assets ROU assets are reviewed at an individual CGU level, being the Group's individuat attractions. In doing so, the associaced lease liability is

considerad against the value of the RGU asset as a sale of a CGU would necessitate that a buyer takes on the lease fliabilicy.
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3.3 IMPAIRMENT TESTING (CONTINUED)

ANNUAL REPORT AMND ACCOUMNTS 2020

For assets that are in continuing usc but do not generate largely mdependent cash inflows, the recoverable amount 1s determined tor the CGU to which the

assets belong.

Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement. They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of goodwill. and then to reduce the carrying
zmount of other intangible assets and other assets on a pro rata basis.

Calculatien aof recoverable amount

In accordance with accounting standards the recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. To assess value in use,
esnmated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using an appropriate pre-tax discount rate, derwved fram a post-tax weighted average cost of
capital. The Group uses a multiple of EBITDA to estimate fair value which is based on the Group’s average market capitalisation as a multiple of the Group's
underlying EBITDA. The Group's internally approved five year business plans, being the current year and four future years, are used as the basis for these

calculations, with cash flows beyond the four year outlook period then extrapolated using a long term growth rate.

Commaon assumptions have been adopted for the purpaose of testing goodwill across the business and for testing brand values where thew risk profiles are similar.
The key assumpuions and estimates used when calculating the net present value of future cash flows from the Group’s businesses are as follows:

Estimate

Future cash flows

Growth in EBITDA

Timing and quantum of future
capital and maintenance
expenditure

Long term growth rate

Discount rates to reflect the risks
involved

Assumed to be equivalent to the operating cash flows of the businesses less the cash flows in respect of capital expenditure
and repayments of lease liabilities. The Group uses EBITDA less an allocation of central costs, in line with other reckarges
which occur in the business, as a proxy for the operating cash flows of its attractions as they are not significantly impacted

by movements in working capital.

ERBITDA is forecast by an analysis of both projected revenues and costs. Visiter numbers and revenue projections are
based on market analysis, including the total available market, historic trends, competition and site development activity,

both in terms of capital expenditure on rides and attractions as well as marketing activiry.

Projections of operating costs are based on historical data, adjusted for varauons in visitcor numbers and planned expansion

of site activities as well as general market conditions.

Projections are based on the attractions’ long term development plans, taking inte account the capital investment necessary

te maintain and sustain the perfarmance of the attractions’ assets.

A growth rate of 2.5% {2019, 2 5% was determined based on management's long term expectations, taking agcount of
historical averages and future expected trends in both market development and market share growth.

Based on the estimated weighted average cost of capital of a ‘market participant” within the main geographical ragions
where the Group operates, these are drawn from market data and businesses in similar sectors, and adjusted for asset
specific risks. The key assumptions of the ‘market participant’ include the ratio of debst to equity financing, risk free rates
and the medium term risks associated with equity investments, Net present values are calculated using pre-tax discount

rates derived from this post-tax weighted average cost of capital.

When considering the impact of IFRS |8, there was insufficient observable market data to determine a market participant
discount rate that included leases. Therefore the Group used discount rates and cash flows on an unadjusted pre-IFRS 16
basis, then adjusting for the market movement in lease discount races since inception by adjusting for the difference in the

carrying value and fair value of the lease liability,

2020

Midway Attractions 8.8%
LEGOLAND Parks 8.9%
Resort Theme Parles 9.4%

Pre-tax discount rates

2019
8.5%
8.6%
9.1%

Post-tax discount rates

2020 2019
7.4% 7.0%
7.0% 6.9%
7.7% 7.4%
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3.3 IMPAIRMENT TESTING (CONTINUED,

Sensitivicy analysis

impairment reviews are often sensitive to changes in key assumptions. At the reporting date the Directors consider that the forecasts used reflect the best estimare
of future trading. It is noted, however, that the calculations are inherently sensitive to the level of growth as the business recovers from the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic. As set out in note |.1, this can depend on a number of factors. These can include when attractions can open, the level of any social distancing or other
governmental restrictions, customer demand, people’s ability to travel across borders, the pace and coverage of vaccine roll cuts, and the wider economic wrading
environment. Other more normal factors such as weather patterns can also affece trading. While in the short term slower growth would be highly uniikely to affect
valuations by a substantial amount, longer term shortfalls that affect the outlook for the fourth year of the plan (which drives the terminal value) would have a more
significant impact.

The goodwill artributed to the Midway Atcractions, LEGOLAND Parks and Resort Theme Parks Cperating Groups, as well as individual brands, show considerable
headroom and are not sensitive to even significant changes in any of the key assumptions.

Individual site assets could have different cutcomes for their impairment reviews i future periods, though the only site with impairment triggers identified this year
where this could be material to the Group would be LEGOLAND New York. VWhile the current environment with COVID-19 places greater uncertainty over the
short term trading performance of LEGOLAND New York with regard to consumer confidence, the wider economic environment, and the potential impact of social
distancing measures, the Directors do not envisage these having an impact on the longer term prospects for the park, which would be the only factor that could give
rise to material future impairment.

314 WORKING CAPITAL

Accounting policies

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, Cost is measured using the first-in firse-out principle and includes expenditure incurred in
acquiring the inventories and bringing them te their present location and condition.

Trazde and other reccivables

Trade and other recevables are recognised ang carried at the original invcice amount less 2 loss allowance calculated using the simplified expected credit loss {ECL)
modei approach. Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasenable expectation of recovery. Other receivables are stated at their amortised cost less any
impairment losses. Estimated ECLs are calculated using both actual credit loss experience and forward looking projections.

inventories

2020 2019
£m im
Maintenance inventory £3 14
Goods for resale 41 40
o 54 54
Trade and other receivables
Current assets Nen-current assets
2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m £m {m
Trade receivables 20 37 - -
Other receivables 38 42 5 2
Prepayments and contract assets 26 45 10 10
o 84 124 Is 12
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3.4 WORKING CAPITAL (conminueD)

Agoirg of trade receivables

The ageing analysis of trade receivables, ner of allowance for nen-recoverable amounts, is as follows:

2020 2049

£m £m
Neither past due nor impaired I 20
Up to 30 days averdue 2 5
Between 30 and 60 days overdue | 4
Berween 60 and 90 days overdue | 2
Over 30 days overdue 5 &

20 7

Information about the Group's exposure to credit risk is included in note 4.3,

Trade and other payables

Current liabilities

Non-currenc liabilicies

2020 2019 2020 019

£m £m im £m
Trade payables IF 73 - -
Accruals 154 i64 B -
Deferred income 189 i83 - -
Other payables 20 23 24 24
471 443 24 24

Accruals

Aceruals comprise balances in relation to both operating and capital costs incurred at the reporting date but for which an invoice has not been received and payment

has not yet been made.

Ceferred income

Deferred income comprises revenues received or mvoiced at the reporting date which relate to future periods. The main components of deferred income relate w0
advanced ticket revenues i respect of onfine bookings and annual pass purchases; pre-booked accommodation; and certain sponsorship and similar arrangements. In
2020, at year end exchange rates, this also includes £54 million (201 8. £52 miflion) received in respect of the development of LEGOLAND Korea, which is described

further in note 5.3.
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57 wasks ended 26 December 2020 (201§ 52 weeks ended 28 December 201 7]

3.5 PROVISIONS

Accountng palicy

Provisions are recognised when the Group has legal or constructive obligations as a result of past events and it is probable that expenditure will be required to settle
those obligations. They are measured at the Directors’ best estimates, after taking account of information available and different possible outcomes.

If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate thac reflects current market assessments of the

time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

Provisions
Asser
retirement
pravisions Crher Total
im im im
Balance at 29 December 2019 79 18 57
Provisions made during the year 2 18 20
Utilised during the year - (i1} L
Unused ameunts reversed - {4} {4)
Unwinding of discount 2 - 2
Balance at 26 December 2020 - 83 2l 104
2020
Current - 9 9
Non-current 83 12 95
a3 21 104
019
Current - 3 5
Non-current 79 i3 92
79 18 97

ASSE‘t refirement PIrGYislGns

Certain attractions operate on leasehold sites and these provisions relate to the anticipated costs of removing assets and restoring the sites concerned at the end of

the lease term. These leases are typically of a duration of between |10 and 60 years.

They are established on inception and reviewed annually. The provisions are discounted back to present value with the discounc then being unwound threugh the
income statement as part of finance costs. The cost of establishing these provisions together with the impact of any changes in the discount rate is capitalised within

the cost of the related asset.

Other

Other provisions largely relate to the esumated cost arising from open insurance claims, tax mateers and legal issues.

There are no anticipated future events that would be expected 1o cause a material change in the timing or amount of outflows associated with the provisions.
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52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2019: 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019

4.1 NET DEBT

Analysis of ner debt

Net debt is the total amount of cash and cash equivalents less interest-bearing loans and borrowings, lease liabilities and amounts owed to the Company’s parent
undertaking. Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and other short term liquid investments such as money market funds which are subject
to an insignificant risk of a change in value.

Effect of

219 Net movemenes 26
December cash Non-cash in foreign December

2019 fiows "' maovements @ exchange 2020

£m £m £m fm £m

Cash and cash equivalents 160 (13) - 8 |55
[nterest-bearing ioans and borrowings (312) 15 (37) ) {324)
Lease liahilities (£.158) 57 (93) (9 (1.203)
Net debt (excluding amounts owed to parent company) {1310y [X:3 {130 -] (1372)
Amounts owed to parent company a (2.894) {417) (157) (48) (3.516)
Net debt (including amounts owed to parent company) (4.204) {358) (287) (39) (4.888)

Met cash flows indude the drowdown dnd repayment of loons and borrowngs, interest pard relating to loans and borrowings and interest pard and coprtal repayments reloting to leases
e Naon~cash mavements mnelude the finonce costs relaung to loans and bortewings and leases from the income statement, together with lease addrions and disposals
! A substantial proporton of the Group's net debt 15 denominated in non Sterling currencies

4.2 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Accounting policy

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are inicially recognised at fair value less attributable fees. These fees are then amortised through the income statement on an
effective interest rate basis over the expected life of the ivan (or over the contracrual term where there is no dear indication that a shorter life 1s appropriate). if the
Group's estimate of the expected life based on repayment subsequently changes. the resulting adjustment to the effective mnterest rate calculation is recognised as a
gain or loss on re-measurement and presented separately in the income statement, in accordance with IFRS 9.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Current liabilities Nen-current labilities Total
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m m £m m £m
$400C million fixed rate notes due 2028 - - 299 310 299 310
Other loans 17 - 5 - 22 -
Interest payable 3 2 - - 3 2
20 2 304 3i0 324 3i2
Parent company loans - - F;!I— 758 1,314 758
Preference shares treated as liabilities - - 2,132 2120 2,132 3,120
Interest payable to parent company 73 16 - - 73 16
T 73 o IM6 ?;4 3 2878 3516 -EBBT
93 18 3,747 3,188 3,840 3206
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4.2 INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The Group's facilities are:

*  Abond in the form of $400 million eight year notes with a coupon rate of 5.75% to mature in June 2026,
*  Access to a £400 million revolving credit facility to mature in May 2026,

*  Loans from the Company's parent company, being Mouon Acquisition Limited.

*  Preference shares issued to the Company’s parent company, bemg Motion Acquisition Limited.

Qther loans include £15 million refating to funding from KIRKB! Invest AJS for the deferral of certain payments which is being repaid during 2021, together with
£7 million of other borrowings taken out in respect of specific capital projects.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are instally recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is amortised through the income statement over the pericd of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fixed rate borrowings, which have been hedged to floating rates, are measured at amortised cost adjusted for changes in the value
atributable to the hedged risk arising from the changes in underlying market interest rates.

The $400 million notes are unsecured but guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Group is required to comply wath certain non-financial
covenants in these notes, All covenant requirements were satisfied throughout the year.

4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Liguidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group would not have sufficient funds to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s Treasury department produces
short term and long term cash forecasts to identify liquidity requirements and headroom, which are reviewed by the Group’s Chief Financial Officer. Surplus cash is
actively managed across Group bank accounts to cover local shortfalls or invested in bank deposits or other short term hiquid investments such as money market
funds. In some countries bank cash pooling arrangements are in place to optimise the use of cash.

As at the reporting date the Group had £155 million of cash and cash equivalents (2019 £160 milhion), access to a £400 million revolving credit facility, of which £nil
was drawn down (2079 £nil} in order to meet its obligations and commitments that wifl fall due.

The following table sets out the contractual maturities of financizl lrabilites, including interest payments. This analysis assumes that interest rates prevailing at the
reporting date remain constant.

Oto<l 1o<2 2ra <5 5 years  Conmractual
year years years and over cash flows
£m £m im £m £m

2020
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 {17y (17} {52) (304) (390}
Other loans {19) (2) {n - (22)
lease liabilivies (128) (101) {291} (1.589} (2,039)
Parent company foans {59 (59) (611 {895} {1.624)
Preference shares treated as labilities {85) (85) (255) (2,257) (2.682)
Trade payables (1 - - - (rn
- (119) (264) (1210) (4975) (6.868)
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4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (cONTINUED)

0o <l | to <2 2 to <5 5 years Contractual
year years years and over cash flows
£m £m £m £m £m

2009
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 (18} (18) (54) (332) (422}
Lease fabilities (98) (101} (267} {1,573} {2,039)
Parent company loans (27) (27) (80Q) (812) {946)
Preference shares treated as liabilities (100) (99} (296) (2,352} {2.847)
Trade payables (73) - - - {73)
{416} (445) (697} {5,069} {6.327)

Interest rate risk
The Group 1s exposed to interest rate risk on both interest-bearing assets and habilities. The Group has a policy of actively managing its interest rate risk exposure
using a combination of fixed rate debt and interest rate swaps.

At 26 December 2020 the Group had £1,379 million of fixed rate debt comprising:
*  $400 million of 5,75% notes to mature in 2026;
¢ $410 million and €370 million of preference shares:

* €500 milhon of parent company lcans;

In aggregate 37% (2019 48%) of the year end interest-bearing loans and borrowings 1s at a fixed rate for a weighted average period of 6 years {2019 7 years). To
achieve the desired balance of fixed and floating interest rates across currencies, the Group uses both floating to fixed interest rate swaps (which are part of cash
flow hedging relztionships) and fixed 1o floatng interest rate swaps (which are part of fair value hedging relationships).

Interest rate swaps are recognised at fair value which 15 determined by reference to market rates, The fair value is the estimated amount that the Group would
receive or pay to exit the swap, taking into account current interest rates, credit risks and bid/ask spreads. Following initial recognition. changes in fair value are
recognised immediately in profit or loss, except where the Group adopts hedge accounting.

When hedge accounting, the Group formally documents the relationship between the hedging instruments and hedged items. It makes an assessment, at inception
and on an ongoing bass, as to whether the hedging instruments are expected to be "highly effective’ in offsetting the changes in the fair value or cash flows of the
respective hedged items during the life of the hedge.

Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in
the hedging reserve in equity. Any ineffective portion of changes in fair value 1s recogmised immediately in profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses would remain
in equity unti! either the hedged transaction is no fonger expected to occur, or until the hedged transaction occurs, at which peint they will be reclassified to profic
or loss.

Changes in the fair value of interest rate swaps that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recognised in profit or loss immediately, together with any
changes i the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are ateributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge no langer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the
fair value adjustment to the carrying value of the hedged item arising from the hedged risk is amortised to profit and loss from that date.

At 26 December 2020 the Group had no fair value interest rates swaps (2019 nil).
Sensitivity analysts
Based on the net debt position as at 26 December 2020 a |00 basis points rise in market interest rates would result in an increase in net interest paid of £22 million

{2019 £15 millicn} and a 100 basis points fall in market interest rates would result in a decrease in net interest paid of £1 million (2019 £12 million). This has been
calculated by applying the interest rate change to the Group’s variable rate cash, borrowings and derivatives.
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4.3 FINANCIAL RIS MANAGEMENT {CONTINUED:

Foreign currency risk
As the Group operates internationally the performance of the business is sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates. The Group's potential currency
exposures comprise transaction and translation exposures.

The Group ensures that its net exposure to foreign currency balances is kept to a mimmal level by using foreign currency swaps to exchange balances back into
Sterling or by buying and selling foreign currencies at spot rates when necessary, The fair value of foreign exchange contracrs is the present value of future cash flows
and is determined by reference to marker rates.

At 26 December 2020 the fair value of foreign currency swap assets was £4 million (20! 9" £2 miflion) and of foreign currency swap liabilities was £1 million (20/9:
£2 milfion), none of which are hedge accounted,

Transaction exposures
The revenue and costs of the Group’s operations are denominated primarily in the currencies of the relevant local territories. Any significant cross-border trading
exposurcs would be hedged by the use of forward foreign exchange contracts.

Trarslaton exposures

The Group's resuits, as presented in Sterling. are subject to fluctuations as a result of exchange rate movements. The Group does not hedge this translation
exposure to its earnings but, where material, may carry out net asset hedging by borrowing in the same currencies as the currencies of its operating units or by using
forward foreign exchange contracts. The Group's debt (excluding lease liabilities) is therefore denominated in Euros, US Dollars and Sterling and at 25 December
2020 consisted of €2,360 million and $2,193 million and there are forward foreign exchange contracts in place in respect of |PY 15,835 million.

Gains or losses arise on the retranslation of the net assets of foreign operations at different reporting dates and are recognised within the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income. They will predominantly relate to the retranslation of opening net assets at closing foreign exchange rates, together with the retranslation of
retained foreign profits for the year (that have been accounted for in the consolidated income statement at average rates) at closing rates. Exchange rates for major
currencies are set out below.,

Gains or losses also arise on the retranstation of foreign currency denominated borrowings designated as effective net investment hedges of overseas net assets.
These are offset in equity by corresponding gains or losses arising on the retranslation of the related hedged foreign currency net assets. The Group also treats
specific intercompany loan balances, which are not intended to be repaid in the foreseeable future, as part of its net investment. In the event of a foreign entity being
sold or a hedging item being extinguished, such exchange differences would be recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or loss on sale.

The following exchange rates have been used n the translation of the results of foreign operaticns:

Weighted Weighted
Closing average Closing average Closing
rate for rate for rate for rate for rate for
018 2019 2019 2020 2020
US Dollar 1.27 1.28 131 129 136
Eura 111 .13 117 111 [N
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4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT [CONTINUED)

The Sterling equivalents of financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies were:

AMNMUAL REPORT AND ACCQOUNTS 2020

Carrying value

Sterling Eure s Dollar Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m

2020
Cash and cash equivalents 90 8 17 40 155
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 - - (299) - (299)
Orther leans - (A - - (22)
Lease liabilities (693) (127 (79) (304) (1.203)
Parent company loans - {1.080) {(231) - (1L.3Eh)
Preference shares treated as liabilicies - (1,041} {108 - (2,132)
(603) (2262 (1,683) (264) (4812)

2019
Cash and cash equivalents 49 12 13 86 160
$400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 - - (310) - (310}
Lease [abilicies (671) (113 {82) (292) (1.158)
Parent company loans (49) (601 (108) - {758)
Preference shares treated as liabilities - (989) (h131) - {2,120}
T 671 (1691 (1618) (206) (4,186)

Sensitvity analys's on foreign currency rick

A 10% strengthening of all currencies against Sterling would increase net debt by £37% mullion (2019, £313 miffion). As described above, gamns or losses in the income

statement and equity are offset by the retranslation of the related foreign currency net assets or specific intercompany loan balances.

A 10% screngthening of all currencies against Sterling would reduce the fair value of foreign exchange contracts and result in a charge to the income statement of

£21 million (2019; £9 milfien).

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractuzl obligations. Credit risk is
limited to the carrying value of the Group's monetary assets. The Group has limited credit risk with its customers, the vast majority of whom pay in advance or at
the time of their visit. There are credit policies in place with regard to its trade receivables with credit evaluations performed on customers requiring credit over a

certain amount.

The Group manages credit exposures in connection with financing and treasury activities incfuding exposures arising from bank deposits, cash held at banles and
derivative transactions, by appraisal, formal approval and ongoing monitoring of the credit position of counterparties. Counterparty exposures are measured agamst a

formal transaction hmit appropriate to that counterparty’s credit position.

The Group robustly appraises investments before they are made to ensure the associated credit risk is acceptable. Performance of investments are closefy

monitored, in some cases through Board participation, to ensure returns are in fine with expectations and credit risk remains acceptable. There were no overdue

amounts in respect of investments and no impairments have been recorded (201 % £nil),

Fair values

Fair value Wmerarchy

The Group analyses financial inszruments in the following ways:
*  Level |: uses unadjusted quoted prices in active markets.

*  Level 2: uses inputs that are derived directly or indirectly from observable prices {other than quoted prices).

*  Level 3: uses inputs that are not based on observable market data.
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4.3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Faie wotlue versas cairy g amounts

The far values of financial assets and liabilities are presented in the table below, together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of financial position.
Short term recawvables, payables and cash and cash equivalents have been excluded from the following disclosures on the basis that their carrying amount is a
reasonable approximation to fair value,

2020 2019
Fair value Caryng Carrying o
hierarchy amount Fair value amount Fair value
£m im £m £m
Heid at amortised cost
$400 millien fixed rate notes due 2024 | pvet | (199 (309 {310} {106)
Other loans Level 3 (22) (22) - -
Lease labilities Level 3 (1,203) (1,375) {1,158) (1.332)
Parent company loans Level 3 (1.311) (1297} {758) (758}
Preference shares treated as liabilities Level 3 (2,132 (2,043} {2,120} 2,120y
Held at fair value
Derivative financial nstruments Level 2 3 3 - -
Investments Level 3 19 19 83 63
{4,945) (5,024) (4.283) (4.483)

The fair values shown above for the bank facilities and fixed rate notes have been calculated using market values. The fair value of leases are determined by reference
to simifar lease agreements, Thera is no difference between the carrying value and the fair value of investments that are estimated by reference to EBITDA muluples

or discounted cash flows. There have been no transfers between levels in 2020 or 2019

4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS

Accounting policy

Where a contract provides the right to control the use of an asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration, the contract is accounted for as a lease. In

order for lease accounting to apply, an assessment is made at the inception of the contract that considers whether;

* the Group has the use of an identified asset, which enttles it to the right o obtain substantially all of the economic benefits that arise from the use of the
asset, and;

* the right to direct the use of the asser, either through the right to operate the asset or by predetermining how the asset s used.

Mogsu ement & lease nception

At the fease commencement date the Group, as the lessee, will recognise;

*  alease fiability representing 1ts obligation to make lease payments, and:

*  an asset representing 1ts right to use the underlying leased asset (ROU asser).

The lease liability is initially measured as the present value of future lease payments, discounted using the interest rate impheit in the lease, or if not available an
incremental borrowing rate. Future fease payments will include fixed payments, variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate (initially measured at the
rate at the commencement date) and amounts expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees.

The ROU asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the amount initially recognised as the lease liability, lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred, and the estimated costs to be incurred at the end of the lease to restore the
site to the required condition stipulated in the lease. On inception of a lease for a new site, where required, the estimated cost of decommissianing any additons
is included within ROU assets and depreciated over the lease term. A corresponding provision is set up as disclosed in note 3.5,

Depreciation (and any subsequent impairment) on the ROU asser, interest on the lease liability and any variable lease payments are all recognised in the
income statement.
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4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED,

Ongomg measurament
The lease liability 1s adjusted tor interest on the liability, adjustments to the lease payments and any reassessment of the lease as a result of a contract modification.

After the commencement date the Group measures the ROU asset using a cost model, reducing the cost through depreciation and any impairment losses.
Adjustments will be made to the ROU asset to reflect the changes in the lease liability as a result of changes to lease payments ¢r modifications to the lease.

Short term and low-vahie leases
The Group has taken the recognition exemptions for short term leases and leases of low-value items. Leases which fall within the Group's defined parameters for
these exemptions are excluded from the IFRS 16 lease accounting requirements and are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Rent reductions and deferrals

In response to the COVID- 19 pandemic, the international Accounting Standards Board issued amendments to IFRS 16 Leases to allow lessees not to account for
rent concessions as lease modifications if they are a direct consequence of COVID-19 and meet certain conditions. As a lessee we have applied the pracrical
expedient and are not required to assess whether eligible rent concessions are lease modifications. Accordingly, where the Group has agreed concessions in the
farm of a one-off reduction in rent, they have been accounted for as a variable lease payment and have been recognised in profit or loss.

Lease arrangements

The Group's most significant lease arrangements relate to a sale and leaseback transaction undertaken during 2007, involving the PPE of certain attractions within the
Midway Actractions and Resart Theme Parks Cyperating Groups. Historically the leases were accounted for as finance or operating leases depending on the specific
circumstances of each lease and the nature of the attraction. For certain of the sites an individual lease agreement was split for accounting purposes as a combination
of finance and cperating leases, reflecting the varied nature of assets at the attraction. This led to differing treatments on the adoption of IFRS 16, Fach of these sale
and leaseback agreements runs for a period of 35 years from inception and aliows for annual rent increases based on the inflationary index in the United Kingdom
and fixed increases in Continental Europe. The Group has the option, but is not contractually required, to extend each of the lease agreements indwidually for two
further terms of 35 years. subject to an adjustment to market rates at that time.

LEGOLAND Japan was opened during 2017. The park was developed under the Group's ‘operated and leased’ model whereby the Group’s locat operating company
leases the site and parlc infrastructure from a development partner. The development partners are refated parves, being KIRKBI Invest A/S and LL| Investco KK, a
subsidiary of KIRKBI Invest A/S (note 5.3). KIRKBI Invest A/S 15 a shareholder of Motion [Veo Limited, the ultimate parent company. The lease is for a period of 50
years and previously was accounted for partly a5 a finance lease and par Uy as an operating lease depending on the nature of the underlying assets concerned. Land
and longer life assets, for example core elements of the park’s infrastructure, were accounted for as operating leases. Finance lease assets were those elements that
will be substantially or entirely consumed over the lease term, This accounting judgement was underpinned by a review of the cost of construction by asset type
together with estimates of the lives of the assets concerned.

The Group also enters into leases for sites within the Midway Artractions Operating Group and cenral areas. These are typically of a duration between 10 and 60
years, with rent increases determined based on local markez practice. In addition to a fixed rental element, rents within the Midway Attractions Operating Group can
also contain a performance related element, typically based on turnover at the site concerned. Options to renew leases exist at these sites in line with local market
practice in the territories concerned.

The key contractual terms in relation to each lzase are considered when calculating the rental charge over the lease term. The potential impact on rent charges of
future performance or increases based on inflabonary indices are each excluded from these calculations.

There are no significant operating restrictions placed on the Group as a result of its fease arrangements.

ludgements and estimiies

Discount rates used to calcufate the lease liability are calcufated on a lease by lease basis. For the property leases that make up substantially all of the Group's fease
portfolio this results in two approaches. For the majority of leases the rate used is based on estimates of incremental borrowing costs. These will depend on the
territory of the relevant lease and hence the currency used; the date of iease inception; and the lease term. As a result, reflecting the breadth of the Group’s lease
portfolio; the transition approach adopted which has required estimation of historic discount rates; and estimations as ta lease lives, there are a farge number of
discount rates used within a wide range. For a smalt volume of high value leases, the rate implicit in the lease can be calculated and s therefore adopted.

IFRS 16 defines the lease term as the non-cancellable period of a lease together with the options to extend or terminate a lease, if the lessee were reascnably certain
to exercise that opnon. Where a lease includes the option for the Group to extend the lease term, the Group makes a judgement as to whether it is reasonably
certain that the option will be taken. This will take into account the length of time remaining before the cption is exercisable; current trading: future trading forecascs
as to the ongeing profitability of the attraction; and the level and type of planned future capital investment, A small number of large leases heid by the Group came
into effect as part of a sale and leaseback transaction that occurred in 2007. These leases have an initiaf lease period of 35 years, with an option to extend for two
further periods of 35 years, subject to an adjustment to market rates at that time. At this point itis not reasonably certain that these leases will be renewed, taking
into account the factors noted above. This judgement is reassessed at each reporting period. A reassessment of the remaining life of the lease could resultin a
recalcutation of the lease liability and a material adjustment to the associated balances.
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4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assers

ANMIAL REPQRT AND ACCOJNTE 2020

Land and Plant and
buildings equipment Toral
£m £m fm

Cost
At 30 Decemnber 2018 1.338 81 1419
Disposal of subsdiary undertakings 8 - {8)
Additions 47 2 49
Movements In asset retirement provisions 8 9 17
Disposals (2} (3) (5)
Effect of movemnents in foreign exchange (22) - (22}
Balance at 28 December 2019 1,361 89 1,450
Additions 43 2 45
Movements in asset retirement provisions {note 3.5) 2 - 2
Disposals (3} {2) {5)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange 9 | 10
Balance at 26 December 2020 o 1412 50 1,502
Depreciaticn
At 30 December 2018 392 34 426
Disposal of subsidiary underrakings (2 . {2}
Depreciation for the year 5i 5 56
Impairment 3 - 3
Dispasals (2) (3) {5}
Effect of mavements in foreign exchange 8) | {7)
Balance at 28 December 2019 437 37 474
Depreciation for the year 56 5 61
Impairment 16 - 16
Disposals ey (2) 3
Effect of movements in foresgn exchange 3 1 4
Balance at 26 December 2020 511 41 552
Carrying amounts )
At 29 December 2018 946 47 993
At 28 December2019 924 52 976
At 26 December 2020 [ 901 49 950

During the year the Group reviews useful economic lives and tests ROU assets for impairment in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, as referred to in
note 3.3. Impairment charges have been made in the year of £16 million (201 9: £6 million), primarily in respect of certain of the Group's Midway attractions, arising

from a review of market and economic conditions at those locations.
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4.4 LEASE OBLIGATIONS ([CONTINUED)

Lease liabilities

ANitlUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

2020 2019
£m £m
Current 69 39
Non-current 1.134 1,119
1,203 1,158
The maturity analysis of lease liabilines 1s disclosed within note 4.3. The cash outflow for leases is disclosed within note 4.1.
Amounts recognised in the income statement
2026 2019
£m £m
Expense relating to variable lease payments 6 22
Depreciation expanse of right-of-use assets 6 56
Interest expense on lease liabilicies at &1
128 139

4.5 EQUITY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Capital management

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt and equity. The Group's objective when managing capital is to maintain a strong capital base so as to ensure

shareholder and creditor confidence and to sustain future development of the business; to provide returns for shareholders: and to optimise the capital structure

reduce the cost of capital. There are no externally )/mposed capital requirements on the Group.

To enable the Group to meet its objective, the Directors moritor returns on capital through constant review of earnings generated from the Group's capital

investment programme and through regular budgeting and planning processes, manage capital in a manner s¢ as to ensure that sufficient funds for capital investment

and working capital are available, and ensure that the requirements of the Group's debt covenants are met.

The Group does not routinely make additional issues of capital, other than for the purpose of raising finance to fund significant acquisitions or developments intended

to increase the overall value of the Group.

Share plans were created to allow employees of the Group to particpate in the ownership of the Group's equity instruments, when the Company was listed on the
London Stock Exchange, in order to ensure employees’ focus on growing the value of the Group to achieve the aims of alf the shareholders. The Group's equity-
settled share plans were settled eicher by the issue of shares by Merlin Entertainments plc or by the purchase of shares in the market. These share plans all vested at

the time of the acquisition of the Company in November 2019 when the Group de-listed from the London Stock Exchange.

Share capital and reserves
Share capital

2020 2020 2019
Number im Number
Crdinary shares of £0.01 each
On issue and fully paid at beginning of year 1,036594,358 10 1022072449
{ssued in the year - - 14,521,909
"On issue and fully paid at end of year 1036594.358 o 1036594358

2019

£m
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4.5 EQUITY AND CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

Ordinary shares
The hotders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from tme to time and are entitled 1o one vote per share at general meetings of

the Company.

Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company ranks equally in all respects and no shareholder holds shares carrying special rights relating to the control of
the Company.

The nominai vzlue of shares in issue is shewn in share capital, with any additonal consideration for those shares shown in share premium.

Preterence shares

The preference shares earn interest in the form of dividends and will be redeemed as follows;

* A preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the €370,000.000 senior notes due 15 November 2027 issued by Motion Bondco DAC
and any other Senior Parent Liabilities denonunated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which afl or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the A preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the notes are repaid
early {in full or in part);

* B preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the $410,000,000 senior notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Motion Bondco DAC
and any other Senior Parent Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the B preference shares or the Company may notify to the cther in the event that the notes are repaid
early {in full or in part);

+  C preference shares - ac the rate of default interest payable pursuanc to the Euro Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities deneminated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the Euro Senior Debt becomes repayable, or
any earlier date as the holder of the C preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the Euro Senior Debe is repard early {in full
or in part); and

* D preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the USD Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amounc of the USD Senior Debt
becomes repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the I preference shares or the Company may notfy to the other in the event that the USD Senior Debt
is repaid early {in full or in part),

The preference shares rank ahead of the ordinary shares for all purpeses and no dividend. distribution, return of capital and/or reduction of capital shall be paid on
the ordinary shares whilst there are any unpaid amounts of preference dividends which constitute a debt from and payable by the Company. The preference shares
carry no voting rights,

Oividends
Dividends are recognised through equity on the earlier of their approval by the Company's shareholders or their payment.

2020 2019

{m im

Firal drnvidend for the 52 weels ended 29 December 2018 of 5.5 pence per share - 54
Total dividends paid - 56

The Directors of the Company have declared their intention not to pay a dividend for the year ended 26 December 2020 (2019: £nil).

Translation reserve

The translation reserve of £(78) million (2019 £73) miflion) comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the wranslaton of the financial statements of
foreign operations, primarily relating to the statement of position at reporting dates. The reporting dare foreign exchange rates by major currency are provided in
note 4.3.

Hadging rescrve

The hedging reserve of £nil {2019 £nif) comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change m interest rate swaps related o hedged transactions that have
not yet occurred.
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4.6 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Accounting policy

The fair value of the share plans is recognised as an expense over the expected vesting period with a corresponding entry to retained earnings, net of deferred tax.
The fair value of the share plans is determined at the date of grant. Non-market based vesting conditions (l.e. earnings per share and return on capital empioyed
targets) are taken into account in estimating the number of awards likely to vest. which is reviewed at each accounning date up to the vesting date, at which point the
estimate is adjusted to reflect the actual awards issued. No adjustment is made after the vesting date even if the awards are forfeited or are not exercised.

The Group operated cash-settled versions of the employee incentive plans for employees in certain territories. The issues and resulting charges of these plans were
not material to the financial statements.

Equity-settled plans

Until the acquisition of the Company in November 2019 and its subsequent de-listing from the Lendon Stock Exchange, the Group aperated four employee share
incentive plans: the Performance Share Plan (PSP}, the Deferred Bonus Plan {DBP), the Company Share Option Plan (CSOP) and the All Employee Sharesave Plan
(AESP). as set out in the tables below. Awards under the PSP vested three years after grant date, upon satisfaction of earnings per share and return on caprtal
employed performanes conditiane, and continuod employment. Awvaeds under the CSOMN, Ure DBF aird the AESP vested three years atter grant date subject to
continued employment. All awards under the PSP and DBP were granted for nil consideration, These share plans all vested at the time of the acquisition of the
Company in November 2019 when the Group de-listed from the London Stock Exchange.

Arnalysis of share-based payment charge

2020 2019
£m £m
PSP - 18
CSOP - 3
AESP - 2
Aralysis of awards
Average
remaining Number Number
Exercise Period when contractual of shares of shares
Date of grant price (£) exercisable life (years) 2020 2019
AESP April 2017 - Aprii 2019 283-396 2020 -2022 - - 49,603
Total - 49.603
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4.6 SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED]

The weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) over the year were as follows:

ANNUAL REPQRT AND ACCOUNTS 2620

CSOP AESP
psp " P © WAEP WAEP
Numbear Number Number () Numbear {£)
AL 30 December 2018 8,152,506 34296 5,808,839 4.00 6615393 310
Granted during the year 4,037,436 51,781 2,038,750 343 293907t 288
Forfeited during the year (488.632) (804) (790427) 391 {1,275.406) e
Exercised during the year {6.554,271) (B5.273) (5.110.475) 353 (3,918,024) 310
l.apsed during the year {5, 147,U39) - (1512587 4.68 (4,232,027} 209
Expired during the year - . {33,920) 461 (78,502) 385
At 28 December 2019 - - - - 49,603 338
Exercised durng the year - - - - (14,783} 283
Lapsed during the year - . - - (32.820) 366
W:\t 26 December 2020 - - - - - -
Exercisable at end of year
Ar 28 December 2019 - - - - 49,603 338
At 16 December 2020 - - - - - -
Mitcost options
The fair value per award granted and the assumptions used in the calculations for the significant grants in 2019 were as follows:
Share price Fair
Exercise at grant value per Expected
price date award dividend Expected Award Ffe Risk free
Scheme Date of grant (£} {£) {£) yield volatifity (years) rate
PSP 9 Aprd 2019 - 341 3.41 nfa nfa 30 nfa
CSOP 9 Apr 2019 343 341 066 13% 24% 4.4 08%
AESP 9 Aprd 2019 288 341 071 23% 24% 32 08%
AESP 2 Aprii 2019 307 341 .59 2.3% 26% 21 0.7%

The key assumptions used in caltulating the share-based payments were as follows:
*  The binomial valuation methodology is used for the PSP, CSCP and DBP. The Black-Scholes model 15 used to value the AESP.
*  The expected volatility is based on the historical volzatility of the Company's shares.
*  The risk free rate is equal to the prevailing UK Gilts rate at grant date, which is commensurate with the expected term.

*  Expected forfeiture rates are based on recent experience of staff turnover levels.

*  Behavioural expectztions have been taken into account in estimating the award life of the CSOP.

*  Thecharge is spread over the vesting period on a suraight-line basis.
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52 weels ended 26 December 2020 (20149: 52 veeks ended 28 Decernber 2015}

5.1 INVESTMENTS

Accounting policy
The Group holds investments in two forms. Minority equity investments are accounted for as ‘fair value through other comprehensive income’ (FVOCH), having taken

the election available under IFRS 9, This applies to the investments in IDR Resorts Sdn. Bhd., LL Developments and Big Bus Tours Group Haoldings Limited.

Associates and joint ventures are those entities over whose activities the Group has joint control or significant influence, established by contractual agreement. The
consolidared financial statements include the Group's share of the total recogrised income and expenses on an equity accounted basis, from the darte thar joint
control or influence commences until the date thar it ceases.

LL Big Bus LL

IDR Resorts  Developments Tours Dubai Hosel Total
£m £m im £m fm

Ralanre ar 79 Decemher 2019 8 3 40 12 63
Net change in fair value - included in OC1 (3) - (39) - (42)
Share of reserves in joint ventures - - - (1) {1}
Effects of movement in foreign exchange - - (n . (1
At 26 December 2020 o 5 3 - i 19

Minority equity investments
IDR Resarts
The Group has a minarity equity investment in IDR Resorts Sdn. Bhd. {IDR). IDR and its subsidiaries are deemed to be related parties as together they cwn

LEGOLAND Malaysia (see note 5.3),

LL Developments
The Greup has a minerity equity investment in LL Developments, the local company providing funding and infrastructure support to the development of

LEGOLAND Korea (see note 5.3),

Big Bus Tours

The Group has an investment in Big Bus Tours Group Holdings Limited (BIG BUS), the leading global owner-operator of Hop On Hop Off City Tours, held
substantially all in the form of loan notes. The investment is valued adopting a market-based approach (based oo EBITDA multiples). The BIG BUS business is heavily
reliant on incernational tourists visiting city centre loeations, and therefore has been severely impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result. BIG BUS raised
further funding and completed a capital restructuring exercise during the period whereby the priority of Merlin's investment reduced compared to other investors.
Accordingly a negative adjustment of £39 mullion ro the fair value has been reflected in the year {201 9: increase of £3 miffion). Should the business prove successful in

its planned recovery, positive value adjustments could occur in the future,
Merhn also heolds a minority equity investment valued at £nil {201{9: £nil).

fnvestments in associates and joint ventures
LL Dubai Howel
The Group holds a 40% equity interest in LL Dubai Hotel LLC, which is the company developing the hotel at LEGOLAND Dubai. The negative share of reserves

reflects pre-opening costs for the hotel.

5.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Accounting policies

Dafined corrbunion pensior schsmes

In the case of defined contribution schemes, the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate fund on behalf of the employee and has no further obligations to
them. The risks and rewards associated with this type of scheme are assumed by the members rather than the employer. QObligations for contributions to defined

contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Detined benefit pension schemes

A defined benefit scheme is a post-employment benefit scheme other than a defined contribution scheme, The Group's net obhigation is calculated for each scheme
by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service in the current and pricr periods. That benefit is discounted to
determine its present value and offset by the fair value of any scheme assets. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit
mechod. All actuarial gains and losses are recognised in the period they occur directly in equity through other comprehensive income,
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5.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (CONTINUED)

Defined coneribution pension schemes
The Group operates a number of defined conuribution pension schemes and the total expense refating to those schemes in the current year was £11 million
(2019: £13 million;.

Befined benefit pension schemes

The principal scheme that the Group operates s a closed scheme for certain former UK employees of The Tussauds Group, which was acquired in 2007. The
scheme entitles retired employees to receive an annual payment based on a percentage of final salary for each year of service that the employee provided. The
pension schemes have not directly invested in any of the Group's own financial instruments or in properties or other assets used by the Group.

The most recent full actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out as at 31 December 2018, As a result, the Group agreed to pay annual deficit reduction
contributions of £497,800, increasing at 3% per annum, payable monthly for a period of 4 years and 8 months from | January 2020 to 31 August 2024,

The Group expects £ miflion in ongoing contributions to be paid to its defined benefit schemes in 2021, The weighted average duration of the defined benefit
obligation at 26 December 2020 was |7 years (2019 17 years).

The assets and liabilities of the schemes are:

2020 019
£m £
Equities 17 20
Corporate bonds and cash I3 10
Pooled investment funds {property) 5 5
Fair value of scheme assets 35 35
Present value of defined benefit obligations {46) (42)

Net pension lability {1 (7)

Movement in the net pension habiity

Present
Present value of
value of defined Net
scheme benefic pension
asseqs obligations liabilicy
£m £m im
At 30 December 2018 32 (38) (6)
Nert interest I (1 -
Contributions by employer I -
Benefits paid () | .
Remeasurement loss 3 (5) 3]
Assets distributed on settlement 3 - {1
Liabilities extinguished on settlement - 1 |
‘At 28 December 2019 o 35 (42) 7)
Net interest | {hH -
Benefits paid (N | -
Remeasurement loss - {4) 4)
At 26 December 2020 B o o S - "3;— (46) S “(”)
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5.2 EMPLOYEE BENEFITS ;coNTINUED:

The amount recognised in the income statement was £nil {2019 £nilj. The amount recognised in the statement of other comprehensive income was a loss of
£4 million {20! 9: ioss of £2 million).

During 2017 cerrain members were given the opticn to transfer their benefits cut of the scheme by way of either a Flexibility at Retirement exercise or an Enhanced
Transfer Value exercise. The settlement loss arising from this was £nil (201 9: £nil}.

Actuarial assumpuons
Principal actuarial assumptions {expressed as werghted averages) at the year end were:

2020 2019
Discount rate 1.5% 2.0%
Rate of price inflation N 29%

The scheme closed to future accrual for active members on 31 May 2018, therefore the link to future salary increases has been severed,

Assumptions regarding future moreality are based on published statisaics and mortality tables. For the Tussauds Group scheme the actuarial table used is S2PxA, The
mortality assumption adopted predices that a current 65 year old male would have a life expectancy to age 87 and a female would have 2 life expectancy te age 89.

5.3 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

ldentity of related parties

The Group has related party relationships with its parent company: its ultimate parent company; the investor consortium {and connected partes) that together
control the ultimate parent company; key management persennel: joint ventures; and other co-investors.

The defined benefit pension scheme for certain former UK employees of The Tussauds Group is also a related party (see note 5.2).

All dealings with related parties are conducted on an arm's length basis,

Transactions with parent company
Details of interest paid on loans fram the parent company and the period end loan balances are gven in nctes 2.3 and 4.2 respectively.

Transactions with shareholders

Transactions entered into with the consortium and connected parues, including the purchase and sale of goods, payment of fees, royalties and rent, and trading
balances outstanding at 26 December 2020 and 28 December 2019, were as follows:

Goods and services

Amount Purchases, Amount
owed by reyalties owed to
Sales  related party and rent  related party
£m fm £m £m
2020
KIRKB! Invest A/S | N 6 2
LEGO Group - | 40 3
LY Investco KK - N 6 2
e e e e s | : 5 - 7
2019
KIRKBI Invest A/S | - 14 2
LEGC Group | | Y 4
LLJ Investco K K. - | 9 R
B 2 2 89 6
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5.3 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Included in interest-bearing loans and borrowings are loans of £15 million relating to funding from KIRKBI Invest A/S for the deferral of certain payments which are
being repaid during 2021.

Included in deferred income is £10 miltion received from a KIRKBI Group company {LEGO Juris A/S) to support certain development activities being undertaken in
future periods.

The Group {eases land and buildings from KIRKBI Invest A/S (a shareholder in the Group’s ultimate parent company). The term of this lease is 25 years, with

19 years remaining at the reporting date. The Group’s obligations come in the form of fixed rental payments of less than £1 mitlien per year in addivion to turnover
rent, service charges and ongoing repair obligations. The amount in the table above includes the renzal payment incurred during the period. The total commitment
relating to fixed rental payments is £5 million over the remaining lease term (2019 £5 miflion).

As set out in note 4.4 the Group has entered intc a 50 year lease with LLJ Investco K.K (a subsidiary of KIRKBI Invest A/S). There are 46 years remaining at the
reporting date. The Group's obligations come in the form of fixed rental payments of £6 miflion per year in addition to turnover rent and ongoing repair obligations
under the terms of the lease. The amount in the table above represents the rental payment incurred during the period. The total commitment relating to fixed rental
payments is £203 mulion over the remaining lease term (201 9: £202 milfion).

The Group leases land and buildings frem Koldingvej 2 Billund AJS (which has a 25% shareholding in the LEGO Group). The term of this lease is 29 years. with
21 years remaining at the reporting date. The total commitment is £5 million over the remaining lease term (201 9: £5 million).

The Group has alsc entered into lease agreements with parties that are related parties of the Blackstone Investment Funds that are shareholders in the ultimate
parent company. The parties are Multi Corporation B.V, in relation to SEA LIFE and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre istanbul, Network Rail Infrastructure Limited for
an area associated with the London Eye site, Shopcore in relation to LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Chicago and NEC Group Ltd, relating w0 The Bear Grylls
Adventure and LEGOLAND Discovery Centre attractions in Brrmingham. In aggregate the rotal rent paid in 2020 was £1 mulion (2019 £nil for the period following the
acquisition of the Group). Total commitments in respect of these leases are £20 million over the remaining lease term (2019 £/ 6 million).

The Group also has lease agreements with CPPIB, who purchased the Trafford Centre in Manchester in December 2020, with whom we have |eases relating to SEA
LIFE and LEGCLAND Discovery Centre Manchester. In aggregate. the total rent paid in 2020 following this acquisition was £nil. Total commitments in respect of
these leases are £6 million over the remaining lease terms,

Transactions with key management personnel
Key management of the Group, being the Directors of the Board, the members of the Executive Committee and their immediate relatives control nit% (2019, ni%) of
the voting shares of the Company. The remuneration of key management is disclosed in note 2.1.

Transactions with other related parties

LEGOLAND Malaysia

As part of the agreement for the development and operatien of LEGOLAND Malaysia, the Group subscribed for share capital in IDR Resorts Sdn. Bhd. {IDR) which
together with its subsidiaries owns the park (see note 5.1). On this basis, IDR and its subsidiaries are deemed o be related parties.

Transactions entered into, including the purchase and sale of goods, payment of fees and trading balances cutstanding at 26 December 2020 and 28 December 2019,
are as follows:

2020 2019

£m £m

Sales to relaced party 2 4
Amounts owed by related party 2 4

LEGOLAND Kaorea

The Group has a minority equity investment in and has entered into transactions with LL Developments, a Korean company which acts under the direction of the
Gangwon Province and is providing funding and infrastructure support of KRW 80 billion to the development of LEGOLAND Korea, which the Group has
committed to spend on costs associated with the project. All of these funds had been received by 26 December 2020 and are recorded within deferred income.
Upon the cpening of the park, the funding and infrastructure support will be accounted for as a capital grant and offset against the total project costs within property,
plant and equipment. The conditions of the funding require that Merlin completes the park’s construction and operates the park for a period of time post-opening.
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5.4 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

In April 2019 the European Commission (EC) announced its final decision that certain elements of the UK's Controlled Foreign Company rules partially represent
State Aid. The UK Government has made an annuiment application against this decision. Separately, Merfin has made its own application. If the applications are
ultimately unsuccessful then this could result 1 an increase in the Group's future effective tax rate, The Group considers the maximum potential liabilicy, not
separately provided for and excluding interest, to be up to £36 million, depending on the basis of calculation. In February 2021, the Group received charging notices
from HMRC for £28 millian.

55 NEVY STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Amendments to IFRS 16 ‘COVID- |9 - related rent concessions’ was implemented in the year, the impact of which is covered in note 4.4,

The following amendments to standards and interpretations have been implemented in the year with no significant impact to the Group:
*  Amendments to "References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards’

*  Amendments to IFRS 3 ‘Definition of a business’

*  Amendments to tAS | and I1AS 8 *Definition of material’

*  Amendments to IFRS 9, 1AS 39 and IFRS 7 ‘Interest rate benchmark reform’

The IASB has also issued the following amendments to standards that will be effective for the Group as from | January 2021. The Group does not expect any
significant impact on its consolidated financial statements from these amendments.

+  Amendments to IFRS $. IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 14 ‘interest rate benchmark reform — Phase 2'

5.6 ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY INFORMATION

The ultimate parent company is Motion |Vco Limited, a company incorporated in the United Kingdem. This company prepares group financial statements. The parent
company is Motion Acquisition Lirted.

The consclidated financial statements of Motion |Veo Limited and its subsidiaries are avaable to the public and may be obtained from Link House, 25 VWest Street,
Paole, Dorset BHIS ILD.
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS

The Group has the following investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures:

Country of
Subsidiary undertaking incorporation
AAE Unit Trusg Australia "
AQDEV Pty Limited Australig *"
Mawarra Tree Topps Pty Lud Australia '"
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Melbourne Pry Ltd Austratia "
Living and Leisyre Australia Limited Austratia "
Living and Leisure Australia Management Limited Austraha "
Living and Leisure Australia Trust Australia !
Living and Leisure Finance Trust Auvstralia '
LLA Aguariums Pry Limited Australia '
Melbourne Underwater World Py Ltd Auseralia "
Melbourne Underwater World Trust Australia "
ME LoanCo (Australia) Py Limited Australia "
Merlin Entertainments {Austratia} Pty Ld Australia ™
MUW Holdings Pey Ltd Australa "'
Northbank Development Trust Australia "
Northbank Place (Vic) Pry Ltd Australia
Oceanis Austraia Pry Ltd Australig ‘"
Oceanis Australia Unit Trust Australia "
Oceanis Developments Pty Ltd Australia "
Oceanis Foundation Pty Ltd Australia ‘!
Oceanis Holdings Limited Awustralia *"
Oceanis Korea Unit Trust Australia !
Oceanis NB Pty Ltd Australia *"
Oceanis Northbank Trust Australia '
OCceanis Unit Trust Australia *"
Sydney Attractions Group Pty Ld Australia '
Sydney Tower Observatory Pty Limited Australia "'
Sydney Wildlfe World Pty Limited Australa "
The Cruway Fly Pty Ltd Australia "
The Otway Fly Unit Trust Australia "'
The Sydney Aquarium Cempany Pty Limited Australia !
Underwater World Sunshine Coast Pty Ltd Australia "'
US Fly Trust Australia "
Madame Tussauds Austria GmbH Austria
MT Austria Holdings GmbH Auwstria ¥
SEA LIFE Centre Belgium NV, Belgium
Christchurch Investment Company Limited British Virgin islands '
Merlin Entertainments (Canada) Inc Canada '*
Madame Tussauds Exhbition {Betjing) Company Limited China '™
Madame Tussauds Exhibition (Shanghai) Company Limited China *®
Madame Tussauds Exiubition (Wuhan) Company Limited Ching ™

ANMUAG REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Class of
share held

Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordmary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Qrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
10G.0%
100.0%
1UUU%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

50.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.6%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.6%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
2019

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1WJU%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

50.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1G0.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments Hong Kong Limited

Merlin Entertainments (Shanghai) Company Limited

Merlin Exhibition {Chongging) Company Limited

Meriin Exhibition {Shanyang) Company Limited

Meriin Indoor Children's Playground (Shanghai) Company Limited
Shanghai Chang Feng QOceanworld Co. Ltd

LEGOLAND Ap5

Merlin Entertainments Group Denmark Holdings ApS

SEA LIFE Helsinks Oy

SEA LIFE France SARL

Dungeon Deutschland GmbH

Heide-Park Soltau GmbH

LEGOLAND Deutschland Freizeitpark GmbH
LEGOLAND Deutschland GmbH

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Deutschland GmbH
LEGCOLAND Holidays Deutschland GmbH
LLD Share Beteiligungs GmbH

LLE Share GmbH & To. KG

Madame Tussauds Deutschland GmbH
Merlin Entertainments Group Deutschland GmbH
SEA LIFE Deutschlangd GmbH

SEA UFE Konstanz GmbH

Tusszuds Deutschland GmbH

Tussauds Heide Metropole GmbH

Merlin Entertainments India Private Limited
Merlin Entertainments Irefand | Limited
Merlin Entertainments lrefand 2 Limited
SEA LIFE Centre Bray Lirmited

Gardaland S.r.l.

Gardaland Holidays S.r.|.

Merlin Attractions ltaly S.r.l.

Mertin Entertainments Group ltaly S.r.l.
Mertin Water Parks Sr.[.

Ranchi del Garda S.p.A.

Ranchi S.p.A.

LEGOLAND Japan Limited

Merlin Entertainments (Japan) Limted
Merlin Entertainments Group Luxembourg 3 S.arl. ™
Merlin Lux Finco | S rl,

Merlin Lux Finco 2 5.4 rd,

LEGOLAND Malaysia Hotel Sdn. Bhd

Merlin Entertainments Group {Malaysia) Sdn. 8hd

Merlin Entertzinments Studios (Malaysia) Sdn. Bhd

Country of
incorporation

China ''®
China ''"
China 2
China ''*
Ching "%
China '

Denmark ''®

Denmark ''®'

Finland !'7

France ''®

Germany ''*'

Germany ¥

Germany "

Germany 2"

Germany

Germany ‘2"

Germany 2"

Germany ‘2"

Germany *'®

Germany ‘%

Germany ™

Germany '?

Germany "

Germany
an

India

Ireland 2%

Ireland 23
Ireland 2"

Jeaty 2

Icaly 2
jcaly 4
faly
fraly
Italy "
Italy
Japan 27
Japan
Luxembourg

1281
2%

Luxembourg

Luxembourg ¥

Malaysia "

13h

Malaysia

132

Malaysia

ARMUAL REPOR™ AND ACCOUNTS 2020

Class of
share held

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordmary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.6%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
180.0%
99.9%
99.9%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
" 49.4%
90.4%
10G.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
19

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
160.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
93.9%
99.9%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
" 49.4%
30.4%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Subsidiary undertaking

Amsterdam Dungeon B.Y,

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre Scheveningen B.V.
Madame Tussauds Amsterdam B.Y.

Merlin Entertainments Holdings Nederland B.V,
SEA LIFE Centre Scheveningen B.V.

Auckland Aquarium Limited

Merlin Entertainments (New Zealand) Limited

Merlin Entertainments (SEA LIFE PORTC) Unipessoal Lda

Merlin Entertainments Singapore Pre. Ltd
Busan Aquaria Twenty Cne Co. Ltd
LEGCLAND Korea LLC

Merhin Entertainments Korea Company Limited
SLCS SEA LIFE Centre Spain S.A.

Merkn Entertarnments {Thailand) Limited

Siam Ocean World Bangkok Co Ltd

Istanbul Sualti Dunyasi Turizm Ticaret AS
Madame Tussauds Museum LLC

Merkn Holdings Limited

Alton Towers Limited

Alton Towers Resort Operations Limited
Charcoal CLG | Limited fcompany fimited by guarantee)
Charcoal CLG 2 Limited {company fimited by guarantee)
Charceal Holdco Limited

Charcoal Midco | Limited

Charcoal Newco | Limited

Charceal Newco !a Limited

Chessingten Hotel Limiced

Chessington World of Adventures Limiced
Chessington World of Adventures Operations Limited
Chessington Zoo Limited

CWA PropCo Limited

LEGOLAND US Holdings Limited
LEGOLAND Windser Park Limited

London Aquarium {South Bank) Limited
London Dungeon Limited

London Eye Holdings Limited

Londen Eye Management Services Limited
Madame Tussaud's Limited

Madame Tussauds Touring Exhibition Limited
Merlin Attractiens Operations Limited

Merlin Magic Making Limited

Merlin Entertainments (Asia Pacific) Limied

Merlin Enterzinments (Blackpool) Limited

Country of
incorporation

Netherlands
Netherlands #*
Netherlands *
MNetherlands '**
Netherlands '**
New Zealand *"
New Zealand ¥
Portugal '*%
Singapore '

South Korea %

Sauth Korea #"
South Korea "
Spain "
Thailand *#
Thailand "**
Turkey 1%
UAE 1461
UAE 7
UK 5
UK 8
UK 148
UK e
LK 198
UK 8
UK 125|
UK 4B
UK &
UK 1481
UK e
UK 148
UK 8
(V[
UK
UK
UK 1481
UK
UK
UK 148,
Ui
UK
UK 4B
UK It
Ui 8

ANMUAL REPORT AND ACCOJNTE 2020

Class of
share heid
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordirary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Qvrdinary
Ordinary
QOrdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
60.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
¥ 48.0%
“].0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
209

{00.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
60.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
< 48.0%
= 1.0%
100.0%
106.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.6%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS iconTINUED,

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments {Dungeons) Limited
Marlin Entertainments (NBD) Limited

Merhn Entertainments {SEA LIFE) Limited

Merhin Entertainments Crown (LK) Limited
Merlin Encertainments Developments Limited
Merlin Entertainments Group Employee Benefit Trustees Limited
Merlin Entertainments Group Holdings Limited
Merhn Entertamments Group Limited

Merlin Entertainments Group Cperations Limited
Merlin's Magic ¥Wand Trustees Limited

Merlin UK Finance 1A Limited

Merlin UK Finance 2A Limited

Merlin UK Finco t Limited

Merlin UK Finco 2 Limited

Merlin US Holdings Limited

SEA LIFE Centre {Blackpoc!) Limited

SEA LIFE Centres Limited

SEA LIFE Trustees Limited

The Londen Planetarium Company Limited

The Millennium ¥Yheel Company Limited

The Seal Sanctuary Limited

The Tussauds Group Limited

Thorpe Park Cperations Limited

Tussauds Artractions Limiced

Tussauds Group (UK) Pension Plan Trustee Limited
Tussauds Limited

Warwick Castte Limited

Lake George Fly LLC

LEGOLAND California LLC

LEGOLAND Discovery Center Arizona LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Bosten LLC
LEGOLAND Duscovery Center Columbus LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre (Dallas) LLC
LEGOLAND Duscovery Centre (Meadowlands) LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Michigan LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center Philadelphia LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center San Antonio LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Center San Jose LLC
LEGOLAND Discovery Centre US LLC
LEGOLAND New York LLC

Madame Tussauds Hollywood LLC

Madame Tussaud Las Vegas LLC

Country of
incorporation

UK 8
UK 48]
UK e
UK &
UK, 52
UK =@
UK =8
UK, '
Ui 8
UK. 1431
UK
UK &
UK 48
UK 45
UK 4B,
UK =&
UK e
UK 48
UK
UK,
UK &
UK
UK e
UK e
UK s
UK 48
Ul 8
USA
USA 52
USA 5o
USA 5
USA
LISA 50
LSA 5
LISA 0
USA =
USA =
USA
USA =0
UsSA =
USA =
UsA 0

AMBUAL RFFORT AND ACCOUMNTS 2020

Class of
share heatd

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Urdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Crdinary
Crdinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ownership
2020

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
HIO.U%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
10C.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%

Ownership
2019

100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
1G0.0%
1UL.U%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.02%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
100.0%
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SECTION 5
OTHER NOTES comue

52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2019 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019;

5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Country of Class of Qwnership Ownership
Subsidiary undertaking incorporation share held 2020 2019
Mzadame Tussauds Nashville LLC LISA, B0 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussaud's New York LLC USA 0 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussavds Crlando LLC USA =0 - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds San Francisco LLC USA o - 100.0% 100.0%
Madame Tussauds Washington LLC USA »o - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Chicago LLC USA 5o - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Crown {US) Inc USA ™ Ordinary 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Eaterainments Group Florida LLC USA 0 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Group US Holdings Inc USA =0 Ordinary 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Group US LLC USA - 100.0% 100.0%
Meriin Entertainments Group Wheel LLC USA 5 - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments North America LLC LSA = - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments Short Breaks LLC USA o - 100.0% 100.0%
Merlin Entertainments US NewCo LLC usA o - 100.0% 100.0%
San Francisco Dungeon LLC USA 5 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Center San Antonio LLC USA =9 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Charlotte LLC USA S0 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Meadowlands LLC USA = - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Michigan LLC USA =0 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Minnesota LLC LSA, B9 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE Oriande LLC USA 59 - 100.0% 100.0%
SEA LIFE US LLC USA B9 - 100.0% 100.0%
The Tussauds Group LLC Usa o - 100.0% 100.0%

Country of Class of Ownership Ownership
Jeint venture undertaking incorporation share held 2020 2049
LL Dubai Hotel LLC UAE ! Ordinary 40.0% 40.0%

Meriin Enmtertainments Limited has contral over this entity via control of the immediate parent entty and the control that the immedrate parent entity has over the subsidiory entity
= Meviin Entertainments Group Luxembourg 3 S a ri is held by the Compony All other subsidianes are held by intermediate subsidarses
o Merlin Entertainments Limaed has {00% of the benefioal ownership of these enties

’ Merfin Entertanments Developments Limited is in the process of being hquidated.
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52 weeks ended 16 December 2020 (2018 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019)

5.7

SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

Registered offices

[ELH

vl

Level 16, 201 Elizabeth Street. Sydney, NSW 2160, Australa

Urig 501, 370 St Kilda Road, Melbourne, Victoria, Australia

Riesenradplaz 5-6, 1020 Wien, Vienna, Austria

Koning Albert | Laan |16, 8370, Blankenberge, Belgium

P.CQ. Box 3340, Road Town, Tortola, Briush Virgin fstands

Suite 5300 Commerce Coure West, |99 Bay Streer, Toronte, OM, MaL 1B9, Canada

MNo. 4, 6,8, 10. 12 14, 18, |18 Qianmen Avenue, Dongcheng Districe Beijing, China

13/F New World Bullding, No 2-68 Nanjng Xi Road, Shanghal 200003, China

21, Han Street, Wuchang Distriet, (Shops 40/41/42) Building 5, Lot J2, Wuhan, China

Shops BI31, BI32 & B33 of Level BI, Ki | MUSEA, Victaria Docks:de, 12 Salisbury Road, Tsim Sha Tsuwi, Kowloon. Hong Kang
Room No.3F-01b3&32&K 1. L3 Floor, Zihuixuhui Plaza, No.1-2 of 2389 Alley, Zhangyang Read, Shanghai Pilot Free Trade Zane, China
4«11, Fu %, No. 133, Nanpin Road, Nan'an Districe, Chongging, China

Na. 2 fia-1, Balan Road. Heping Oistricy, Shenyang, China

L2-25, 2F, 3F Parkside Plaza. Putuo Digtrice, Shanghai, China

189. Daduhe Road, Pu Tuo District, Shanghai, 200062, China

Aastve] 10, 7190 Biltund, Danmark

Tivohoe 10, Helsinki 00510, Finland

Cenwre Commercial Val d'Europe, Espace 502, 14 cours du Danube, Serris, 7711 Marne-La-Vallée, France
Kehrwieder 5. 20457 Hamburg, Germany

Heidenhof 1, 29614 Soltu. Germany

Legoland Allee, 89312, Gunzburg, Germany

No, 46, Aradhana, R. K. Puram. Sector .| 3, New Delhi- | {0066, India

& Floor, 2 Grand Canal Square, Dublbn 2, Ireland

Via Derma 4, Casteinuovo del Garda, 3701 4, verona, laly

Via Vivaldi n.7, Castelnuovo del Garda Verona, 37014, Verona, fraly

Loc Ronchi, Castel del Garda Verona, 37014, Verona, ltaly

2-2-1, Kimoufutou Minato-ku, Nagoya-shi, fapan

Island Mall. Decks Tokyo Beach, 1-6-1 Daiha, Mmaro-ku, Takyo, Japan

20, Rue Eugéne Ruppert, L-2453, Luxembourg

Suite 19-1 Level 19, Tower Block, Mengra Milemuim, Jalan Damanlela, Pusat Bandar Damansara, Kuala Lumpur, 50490, Malaysia
Nea. 7, jalan LEGOLAND, Bandar Medini Iskandar Malaysia, 79250 Iskandar Puteri, Johor, Malaysia

Suite 2-4. Level 2, Tower Black, Menera Mifeniurm, Jafan Damanlels, Pusat Bandar Damansara, 50490 Kuala Eumpur, Malaysia
Rokin 78, 1012 KW Amsterdam, Netherlands

Gevers Deynootweg 370, 2586 BW Den Haag, Netherlands

Dam 20 GEBOUW P&, 1012 NP Amgrerdam, Netherlands

Swrandweg | 3. 2586 JK Den Haag. Netheriands

Level L1, 4t Sherdand Streer, Auckland 1010, New Zealand

Na. | Rua Parucular do Castelo de Queijo, 4100-379, Porto. Portugal

19, Chang Business Park Cenrral 2, #0501, HansaPont@CBP, 486030, Singapore

266 Haeundaehaebyun-ro, Haenudee-Gu, Busan, Repubhic of Karea

Yaoseon-dong, 8F Mocrim Building, 16 joongang-ro, Chunchean-si, Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea
Puerto Marina, Benalmadena-Costa. 29630 Benalmadena, Malaga, Spain

989 Siam Discovery, #4010 4 Fir., #501 5 Fir, %601 6 Fir, 2701 7 Flr, Rama | Road, Pathumwan, Bangkak 10330, Thadand
B1-B2 Floor Sizm Paragon, 921 Rama | Road, Khweng Patumwan, Bangkok 10320, Thailand

Kocatepe Mah, Pasa Cad, Forum lsmanbul AVM No. 5/5, Bayrampasa, Turkey

Office 1601, 4B Burj Gate, Burj Khalifa, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Emaar Square. Building 3. Level 5, P.O. Bax 37172, Dubai, United Arab Enwrates

Link House, 25 West Street, Poole, Dorset, BHI5 [LD, United Kingdom

80 State Street, Albany, New York 12207-2543. United States

1209 Orange Streer, Wilmingran, New Castle County, Drelaware, 19801, United States

201-01 Emaar Square, PO Box 123311, Dubai, United Arab Emirates

30 Finsbury Sguare, Lendon, EC2A 1AG, United Kingdom
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MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS _|MITED

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS

SECTION 5

OTHER NOTES comum

52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (201 9: 57 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2019)

ANMNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUINTS 2020

5.7 SUBSIDIARY AND JOINT VENTURE UNDERTAKINGS (CONTINUED)

UK registered subsidiaries exeriipt from audit

The following subsidiaries are taking advantage of an exemption from audit under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006. Merlin Entertainments Limited is
providing a statutary guarantee for any outstanding Yiabilines of these subsidiaries, All subsidiary undertakings have been included in the consolidated financial
statements of Merlin Enterrainments Limited as at 26 December 2020,

Subsidiary undertaking

Alton Towers Resort Operations Limited
Charcoal CLG | Limited

Charceal Midco | Limited

Charcoal Newce | Limited

Charcoal Newco la Limited

Chessington Hotel Limited

Chessington World of Adventures Operations Limited
LEGOLAND US Holdings Limited
LEGOLAND Windsor Park Limited
London Aguarium (South Bank) Linvted
London Eye Holdings Limited

London Eye Management Services Limited

Merlin Entertainments (Asia Pacific) Limited

Company
number

06127441

06128422
06125930
06128686
06130062
(05686193
06128521

06273037
02721728
06553877
05686179
02894849
03767102

Subsidiary undertaking

Merlin Entertainments (Blackpool) Limited
Merlin Entertainments (NBD) Linuted
Merlin Entertainments Crown (UK) Limited
Merlin Entertainments Group Limited
Merlin Entertainments Group Operatiens Limited
Merhn UK Finance {A Limited

Merlin UK Finance 2A Limited

Merlin UK Finco | Limited

Merlin UK Finco 2 Limited

Mertin US Holdings Limited

SEA LIFE Centre (Blackpool) Limited
Thorpe Park Operations Limited

Company

number
02429776
05010879
09679586
05022287
03671093
11094850
11094542
08753258
08753263
06273035
02407713
06127478
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MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS LIMITED

COMPANY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Corrpzny statement of financial nosition at 26 Decernber 2020 (2019: 28 Lerarnizr 2019)

FPENTIPTAINMENTS LY

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

2020 2019
Note £m £m
Nan-current assets
Investments iii 3,160 3,160
Ameunts owed by Group undertakings v 3866 3843
Deferred tax assets 5 -
703 7003
Current assets
Amounts owed by Group undertakings v RS 46
Total assets 7,145 7,049
Current liabilities
Interesc-bearing ioans and borrowings vi 3 2
Amounts owed to parent company vi 46 I5
Amounts owed to Group undertakings v 154 &
Accruals | |
204 24
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings vi 293 303
Parent company leans vi 636 604
Preference shares treated as liabilicies vi 2,132 2,i20
Amounts owed to Group undertakings v 2,902 2,881
5943 5,908
Total liabiliies 6167 5932
Net assets 978 N I7 7
Issued capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Company vii 978 L1117
Total equity 978 1117 '

The notes on pages 94 ta 98 form part of these finarrcial statements.

The parent Company financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 15 April 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Nici Yarney
Chief Executive Officer

Alisrzfe Windyhani
Chief Financial Gfficer
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MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS LIMITED

COMPANY

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Company statement of changss in equity at 26 December 2620 (20/9: 28 Decernber 201 9)

ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOLMNTS 2020

Share Share Retained Total

capital premium earnings equity

Nate £m £ £ £irt
Az 30 December 2018 10 l& 3217 3243
Loss for the year - - . (6) {6)
Toral comprehensive income for the year - - (6) (6)
Shares issued - 30 - 30
Bonus issue - - (2,1i7) {2,117
Equity dividends vii - - (56) (56}

Share incentive schemes:

« movement in reserves for employee share schemes [ - - 23 23
At 28 December 2019 10 46 1,061 1,1i7
Loss for the year - ; . (139) (139)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (139) (139)

At 26 December 2020 i 10 46 922 978
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MERLEN ENTERTAINMENTS UM TED AMMUAL REFORT AND ACCOUNTS 2020

NOTES TO MERLIN ENTERTAINMENTS LIMITED

COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

57 weeks ended 26 December 2020 1201 9- 52 weeks ended 28 December 201 9)

i ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framewori’ (FRS 101},

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requiremenits of international accounting standards in
conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, but makes amendmants where necessary in order to comply with Companies Act 2006 and has set
out below where advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken,

The consohdated financial statements of Merlin Entertaimments Limited are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reperting Standards and are avalable
to the public and may be obtamed frem Link House, 25 West Street, Poole, Dorset, BH15 ILD. Company financial statements have been prepared and approved by
the Directors in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions avaifable under FRS 101 in respect of the following disclosures:
*  Cash fiow statement and related notes:

*  Disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;

* Disclosures in respect of capital management;

*  The effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs;

¢ Disclosures in respect of the compensation of key management personnel.

As the consclidated financial statements of Merlin Entertainments Limited include the equivalent disclosures. the Company has also taken the exemptions under
FRS 101 available in respect of the following disclosures:

* |FRS 2 'Share-based payment' in respect of Group settled share-based payments:
*  Cermain disclosures required by IFRS |13 ‘Fair value measurement’ and the disclosures required by IFRS 7 ‘Financial instrument disclosures’.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all perieds presented in these financial statements.
These financial statements have been prepared for the 52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 {2019 52 weeks ended 28 December 2019).

The Directors have taken advantage of the exemption available under s408 of the Companies Act 2006 and have not presented a profit and loss account of
the Company.

A summary of the Cempany's significant accounting policies is set out below,

Investrments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost, less provision for impairment. The carrying amount of the Company’s investments in subsidiaries s reviewed annually to
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, the investment's recoverable amount is estimated. If the carrying value of the
investrent exceeds the recoverable amount, the investment is considered to be impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount. The impairment loss is
recognised In the income staternent.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilives denominzted in
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement unless it relates to items recognised directly in
equity. when it is recognised directly in equity. or when it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income, when it is recognised through the starement
of comprehensive income.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, 2nd any
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous periods.

Deferred tax is provided on certain temporary differences between the carrying amaounts of assets and liabiides for financal reporting purposes and taxation purposes
respectively, The foliowing temporary differences are not provided for: the iniual recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither
accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures to the extent that they wifl
probably not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of assers and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period.

After considering forecast future profits, deferred tax assets are recognised where it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which those assets
can be unlised.
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COMPANY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS comue

52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2019: 52 weeks ended 28 Decernber 2019}

i ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CoNTINUED)

Share-based payments

The fair value of equity-settled share-based payments is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured at
equity pay 2 ployes exp ponding quity

grant date and charged as the employees become unconditionally entitled to the rights.

The Group’s equity-settied share plans were settled either by the issue of shares by Merlin Entertainments plc or by the purchase of shares in the market. These
share plans all vested ar the time of the acquisition of the Company in November 2019 when the Group de-listed from the London Stock Exchange.

The fair value of the share plans 15 recognised as an expense over the expected vesting period net of deferred tax with a corresponding entry to retained earnings.
The fair value of the share plans is determined at the date of grant. Non-market based vesting conditions (i.e, earnings per share and return on capital employed
targets} are taken into account in estimating the number of awards likely to vest. The estimate of the number of awards likely ta vest is reviewed at each accounting
date up to the vesting date, at which point the estimate is adjusted to reflect the actual awards issued. No adjustment is made after the vesting date even if the
awards are forfeited or are not exercised.

The Group operated cash-settled versions of the employee incentive schemes for employees in certain territories, The issues and resulung charges of these schemes
were not material to the financial statemencs.

Loans o Group undartakdngs
Loans to Greup undertakings are recognised initiafly at fair value and subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision
for impairment.

Ciassification of financial instruments issued by the Company
Financial instruments are recognised on the statement of financial position when the Company becomes party to the centractual provisions of the instrument. The
accounting pelicy for each type of financial instrument is included within the relevant note.

Financial assets are initially measured at fair value, unfess otherwise noted, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other comprehensive
income or fair value through profit or loss. A financial asset is derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire or the Company
transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, plus, in the case of other financial liabilities, directly ateributable transaction costs. Other financial liabilities,
primarify the Company’s interest-bearing loans and borrowings, are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities are measured at fair value through profit or foss
and are held on the statement of financial position at fair value. A financial liability is derecognised when the Company's obligations are discharged, expire or are
cancelled. Finance payments associated with financial liabilities are dealt with as part of finance costs.

An equity mstrument is any contract that has a residual interest in the assets of the Company after deducting all of its liabilities. Finance payments associated with
financial instruments that are classified in equity are dividends and are recorded directly in equity.

Where financial instruments consist of a combination of debt and equity, the Company will assess the substance of the arrangement in place and decide how to
attribute values to each taking into considerartion the poiicy definitions above.

Interest-hearing loans and borrowings
These are mitially recognised at the principal value of the loan concerned, less any related fees. These fees are then amortised through the income statement on an
effective interest rate basis over the expected life of the loan (or over the contractual term where there is no clear indicanion that a shorter life is appropriate}.

If the Company's estimate of the expected life based on repayment subsequently changes, the resulting adjustment to the effective interest rate calculation is
recognised as a gain or loss on re-measurement and presented separately in the mcome statement.

Dividends
Dividends are recognised through equity on the earlier of their approvat by the Company's shareholders or their payment.

if OPERATING EXPENSES

Staff numbers and costs

The average number of persons employed by the Company during the year was nine (2019 nine). All employees were Directors of the Company. The employment
costs of the Directors of the Company have been borne by Motion Acquisition Limited and Merlin Entertainments Group Limited for their services to the Group as
a whole (2019: Merlin Entertainments Group Limited). One Director accrued benefits under defined contribution schemes during the year (201 9: one).

Auditar's remuneration

Fees paid to KPMG for audit and other services to the Company are not disclosed in its individual accounts as the Group accounts are required to disclose such fees
on a consolidated basis (note 2.1 of the consolidated financial statements).
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52 weeks ended 26 December 2020 (2019 5.2 weeks ended 28 Decemnber 2019)

iii INVYESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARY UNDERTAKING
Shares in
subsidiary
undertaking
£m
Cost and carrying value
At 30 December 2018 3137
Capiral contributions to subsidiaries 23
AC28 December 2019 “ 1160
Capital contributions to subsidiaries -
‘At 26 December 2020 3160

Where subsidiary undertakings incur charges for share-based payments in respect of share options and awards granted by the Company, 2 capital contribution of the
same amount is recognised as an investment in subsidiary undertakings with a correspending credit to shareholders’ equity.

The subsidiary undertaking at the year end is as follows;

Country of Description of
Company Activity incorporation Shareholding shares held
Merln Entertainments Group Luxembourg 3 5.2 ri. Heolding company Luxembourg 100.0% Ordinary

A full list of Group companies is included in note 5.7 of the cansalidated financial statements on pages 85 to 91.

iv AMOCUNTS OWED BY GROUP UNDERTAKINGS

Current assets Non-current assets
2020 2019 2020 2049
£m £m £m £m
L4 44 3866 3.843

Ameunts owed by Group undercakings

Amgounts owed by Group undertakings comprise funds loaned by the Company to feliow Group undertakings. The non-current loans carry mterest rates that are
based on the costs of servicing equivalent external bank facilities and loan notes. Most of these loans have maturities of 2026 and 2027,

v AMOUNTS OWED TO GROUP UNDERTAKINGS
Cuirrent liabilities MNon-current liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019
fm fm £m im
154 [ 2,902 2881

Amounts owed to Group undertakings

Amounts owed to Group undertakings comprise funds loaned to the Company by fellow Group undertakings. The non-current loans carry interest rates that are
based on the costs of servicing equivalent external bank facilities and loan notes. Most of these loans have maturities of 2026 and 2027,
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57 weels ended 26 December 2020 (2019 52 weeks ended 28 Decermnber 1019}

vi INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS
Current liabilities Non-current Bahilities Total

WMMWWZ#{J?MAﬁZOIQ 2020 2019 2020 2019
£m £m £m fm fm £m

%400 million fixed rate notes due 2026 - - 293 303 293 103
Interest payable 3 2 - - 3 2
3 2 293 303 T 29 305

Parent company loans - 636 604 436 604
Preference shares treated as labilicies - 2,132 2,120 2,132 2,120
Interast payable to parent company 46 I5 - - 46 15
““““ 46 Is 2768 2724 2814 2739
49 17 3,061 1027 3410 3,044

The Group's facilities are:
* A bond in the form of $400 million eight year notes with 2 coupon rate of 5.75% to mature in June 2026,
*  Access to a £400 million revolving credit facility to mature in May 2026.

Loans from the Company's parent company, being Motion Acquisition Limited.

*  Preference shares issued to the Company's parent company, being Moton Acquisition Limited.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings are initially recogrmsed at far value, net of transaction costs and are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference
between the praceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is amortised through the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fixed rate borrowings, which have been hedged 1o floating rates, are measured at amortised cost adjusted for changes in the value
attributable to the hedged risk arising from the changes in underlying market interest rates.

The $400 millicn notes are unsecured but guaranteed by the Company and certain of its subsidiaries. The Group is required to comply with certain non-financial
covenants in these notes. All covenant requirements were satisfied throughout the year.

vii EQUITY

Share capital

2020 2020 2019 2019
Number £m Number £m
Ordinary shares of £0.01 each
At beginning of the year 036,594,358 10 1.022,072.449 10
Shares issued - - 14,521,509 -
At end of the year 1.036,594.358 10 1.038,554.358 10
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57 weels ended 26 December 2020 (201 9: 52 weeks ended 28 Decemnber 2019}

vii EQUITY coNTINUED)

O-dinary ¢hares
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entided to one vote per share at general meetings of
the Company.

Each ordinary share in the capital of the Company ranks equally in all respects and no sharehalder holds shares carrying special rights refating to the control of
the Company.

The nominal value of shares in issue is shown in share capital, with any additicnal consideration for those shares shown in share premium.

Preference shares

The preference shares earn interest in the form of dividends and will be redeemed as follows:;

* A preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the €370,000,000 senicr notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Motion Bondeo DAC
and any other Serior Parent Liabihities denominated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the notes
hecome repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the A preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the notes are repaid
early (in full or in part):

* B preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the $410.000,000 senior notes due |5 November 2027 issued by Motion Bondco DAC
and any other Senior Parent Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which ail or part of the principal amount of the notes
become repayable, or any earlier date as the halder of the B preference shares or the Company may notfy to the other in the event that the notes are repad
early (in full or in pare):

*  C preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the Eurc Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Facilities Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities denominated in Euros. They will be redeemed on any dace on which all or part of the Eure Senior Debt becomes repayable, or
any earlier date as the holder of the C preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event thac the Euro Senior Debt is repaid early (in full
or in part); and

* D preference shares - at the rate of default interest payable pursuant to the USD Senior Debt under and as defined in the Senior Faciliues Agreement and any
other Senior Secured Liabilities denominated in USD. They will be redeemed on any date on which all or part of the principal amount of the USD Senior Debt
becomes repayable, or any earlier date as the holder of the D preference shares or the Company may notify to the other in the event that the USD Senior Debe
is repaid early {in full or in part}.

The preference shares rank ahead of the ordinary shares for ail purposes and no dividend, distribution, return of capital andfor reduction of capital shall be paid on
the ordinary shares whilst there are any unpaid amounts of preference dividends which constitute a debt from and payable by the Company. The preference shares
carry no voting rights.

Retained earnings
The loss after tax for the year in the accounts of Merlin Entertainments Limited is £13% million (2019: loss after tax of £6 million). All of the Company's retained
earnings are distributable (with the exception of those movements in reserves for employee share schemes).

Dividends
2020 2019
£m £m
Final dividend for the 52 weeks ended 29 December 2018 of 5.5 pence per share - 56
Total dividends paid - 56

When maling dividend proposals the Directors consider the resources available to the Company and its subsidiaries. Specificaliy they take account of the Company’s
significant distributable profits. as noted above, as well as the pesition and liquidity of the Group disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Directors of the Company have declared their intention not to pay a drvidend for the year ended 26 December 2020 (281 9: £niy.

viii RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with subsidiary undertakings, which principally relate to the provision of funding within the Group, are carried out on an arm's lengeh basis. Outstanding
baiances are placed on intercompany accounts {notes iv. v and vi).

For full details of transactions and arrangements with the Company’s ultimate shareholders, see note 5.3 of the consolidated financial statements.
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GLOSSARY

Capex
Cluster

CWE

Dream¥¥orks Tours — Shrek’s
Adventure!

EBITDA

Exceptional items

Existing estate (EE)
GDPR

1P

PO

KP{

LBC

LCA

LDC
Like for like (LFL)

Listing
LLP
Meriin Magic Making (MMM)

Merlin’s Magic Wand (MMW)

Midway or Midway attractions

MT

‘Net Promoter’ score

New Business Development (NBD)

Nan-core

Capital expenditure.
A group of attractions located in a city close to one another.

Counservation, Welfare and Engagement. | he SEA LITE team that focuses on delivering world class animal welfare
throughout our animal care network and developing new guest experiences.

This attraction 1s part of the Midway Attractions Qperating Group.

Profit before finance income and costs, taxation, depreciation, amartisation and impairment and after taking account
of attributable profit after tax of joint ventures.

Due to their nature, certain one-off and non-urading items can be classified as exceptional in order to draw them to
the attention of the reader and to show the underlying business performance more accurately.

EE comprises all attractions other than new openings.

General Data Protection Regulation.

Intellectual Property.

Initial Pubtic Offering,

Key Performance Indicator.

Little BIG Cizy attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.

Licence and Co-operation agreement. This agreement sets cut the rights granted to the Group to use the LEGO
and LEGOLAND brands.

LEGOLAND Discovery Centre attractions. These are part of the Midway Attracticns Operating Group.

2020 LFL growth refers to the growth between 2019 and 2020 on a constant currency basis using 2019 exchange
rates and includes all businesses owned and operated before the start of 2019,

Listing on the London Stock Exchange.
LEGOLAND PFarks Operating Group.

MMM is the unique resource that sits at the heart of everything Merlin does. It 1s our specialist in-house site-search
and business development; creative design: production; and project management team. MMM also pursues
acquisition and investment opportunities.

MMWV forms a key element of Merlin's Corporate Secial Responsibility commitment. Qur partner children’s charity
delivers magical experiences around the world to children who are facing chailenges of serious iliness, disability
or adversity.

The Midway Attractions Operating Group and/or the Midway attractions within it. Midway attractions are typically
smaller, indoor attractions located in ity centres, resorts or shopping malls.

Madarne Tussauds attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Operating Group.
How we measure the propensity of our customers to recommend our attractions.

NBD relates to atrractions that are newly opened or under development for future opening, together with the
addition of new accommodation at existing sites. New openings can include both Midway attractions and new theme
parks. NBD combines with the existing estate to give the full estate of attractions.

Attractions which Merlin has ceased the operation of during the period.
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GLOSSARY

Operating free cash flow
Rooms

RPC

RTP

Second gate

SLC

The Code

The Merlin Way
Top Box

Underlying

Visitors

Wizard Wants to Know (WWTK)

Terms used

Underlying EBITDA less existing estate capex.

A single accommodation unit at one of our theme parks, for example a hotel room, lodge or glamping tent.
Revenue per capita, defined as visitor revenue divided by number of visitors.

Resort Theme Parks Operating Group.

A visitor atzraction at an existing resort with a separate encrance and for which additional admission fees are
charged.

SEA LIFE Centre aguarium attractions. These are part of the Midway Attractions Cperating Group.
UK Corporate Governance Code.

The culture of the Group which encompasses our vision and values.

The highest level of customer satisfaction that we record in our customer surveys.

Underlying information presented excludes exceptional items that are classified separately within the
financial statements.

Represents all individual visits to Merlin owned or operated attractions.

WWTK is our annual online employee survey.

Unless otherwise stated, the terms "Merlin', ‘Marfin Entertainments’, ‘the Group', "¥e' and 'Us’ refer to the Company (Merhn Entertainments Limited) and, as applicable,
1ts subsidiaries and/or interests in joint ventures,

Percentages are calculated based on figures before rounding and are then rounded to one decimal place.
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The Group’s ncome statement is exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates principally on the ranslation of our non Sterling earnings. The tables below
show the impact on 2020 revenues and ERITDA of re-translating them at 2019 foreign exchange {FX) rates. The weighted average exchange rates are calculated by
reference to the foreign currency revenue and EBITDA for the period as a whole, compared to the Sterling balance that results following their translation each month
within the Group consclidation. The calculated EBITDA FX rates may therefore be affected where foreign currency earnings move between months from being positive

or negative.
2019 2020 S%age Revenue
average average movement impact
Currency FX rates FX rates in FX rates £m
usb 1.28 129 1.3% \
EUR 113 11 (1.3)% -
AUD 183 1.87 1.8% I
Other -
Increase in 2020 revenues at 2019 FX rates 2
2019 2020 %age EBITDA
average average maovement Impact
Currency FX rates FX rates in FX rates fm
usD 1.28 1.26 (1.77% [
EUR 12 091 {189)%
AUD | 84 1.83 {0.3)%
Other |
2

increase in 2020 EBITDA at 2019 FX rates
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